
0011EN
. M

iltton/Libris, H
elsinki, Finland. M

arch 2007.

Outokumpu is an international stainless steel company. Our vision is to be the 

undisputed number one in stainless, with success based on operational excellence.

Customers in a wide range of industries use our stainless steel and services world-

wide. We are dedicated to helping our customers gain competitive advantage.

www.outokumpu.com
Annual Report 2006

CONTENTS

OUTOKUMPU 2006

1 Outokumpu in brief

2 Vision and strategic direction

4 CEO’s review

6 Highlights of the year

8 Market review

12 Management discussion on strategy 

 and financial performance

BUSINESS OPERATIONS

18 The Group’s business and business units

26 Commercial operations

29 Production operations

33 Discontinued operations

34 Human resources

36 Environment, health and safety

38 Risk management

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

40 Shares and shareholders

46 Corporate governance

52 Board of Directors

54 Group Executive Committee

56 Stock exchange releases

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

57 Contents of the financial statements

58 Review by the Board of Directors

64 Auditor’s report

65 Consolidated financial statements

102 Key financial figures

106 Parent company financial statements

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS

110 Investor information

111 Analysts covering Outokumpu

   NOW WE FOCUS...

O
U

TO
K

U
M

P
U

 A
N

N
U

A
L R

EP
O

R
T 2006



0011EN
. M

iltton/Libris, H
elsinki, Finland. M

arch 2007.

Outokumpu is an international stainless steel company. Our vision is to be the 

undisputed number one in stainless, with success based on operational excellence.

Customers in a wide range of industries use our stainless steel and services world-

wide. We are dedicated to helping our customers gain competitive advantage.

www.outokumpu.com
Annual Report 2006

CONTENTS

OUTOKUMPU 2006

1 Outokumpu in brief

2 Vision and strategic direction

4 CEO’s review

6 Highlights of the year

8 Market review

12 Management discussion on strategy 

 and financial performance

BUSINESS OPERATIONS

18 The Group’s business and business units

26 Commercial operations

29 Production operations

33 Discontinued operations

34 Human resources

36 Environment, health and safety

38 Risk management

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

40 Shares and shareholders

46 Corporate governance

52 Board of Directors

54 Group Executive Committee

56 Stock exchange releases

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

57 Contents of the financial statements

58 Review by the Board of Directors

64 Auditor’s report

65 Consolidated financial statements

102 Key financial figures

106 Parent company financial statements

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS

110 Investor information

111 Analysts covering Outokumpu

   NOW WE FOCUS...

O
U

TO
K

U
M

P
U

 A
N

N
U

A
L R

EP
O

R
T 2006



OUTOKUMPU IS an international stain-

less steel company. Our vision is to be 

the undisputed number one in stainless, 

with success based on operational ex-

cellence. Customers in a wide range 

of industries – from the process indus-

try and industrial machinery to building, 

construction and transportation, elec-

tronics and information technology, as 

well as catering and households – use 

our stainless steel and services world-

wide. We are dedicated to helping our 

customers gain competitive advantage. 

OUTOKUMPU OPERATES in some 30 

countries and employs more than 8 000 

people. In 2006, the Group´s sales were 

6.2 billion euro, of which some 95 per-

cent was generated outside Finland. The 

Group’s headquarters is located in Es-

poo, Finland. Outokumpu Oyj has been 

listed on the Helsinki Stock Exchange 

since 1988. 

www.outokumpu.com.

OUTOKUMPU IN BRIEF

GROUP KEY FIGURES

 

      2006 2005

Sales    € million 6 154  5 016

Operating profi t    € million  824   57

Non-recurring items in operating profi t   € million  1  (129)

Profi t before taxes    € million  784  (8)

Net profi t/(loss) for the period from
continuing operations    € million  606  (24)

Net profi t/(loss) for the period from
discontinued operations    € million  357  (339)

Net profi t/(loss) for the period    € million  963  (363)

Capital employed on Dec. 31    € million  4 371  3 599

Return on capital employed    % 20.7  1.3

 

Net cash generated from operating activities   € million  (35)  459

Capital expenditure    € million 187  164

Net interest-bearing debt on Dec. 31   € million  1 300  1 537

Equity-to-assets ratio    %  47.9  38.2

Debt-to-equity ratio    %  42.3  74.5

Earnings per share    €  5.31  (2.01)

Earnings per share from continuing operations  €  3.34  (0.14)

Earnings per share from discontinued operations  € 1.97  (1.87)

Equity per share    €  16.87  11.31

Dividend per share    €  1.101) 0.45

Share price on Dec. 31    €  29.66  12.55

Market capitalization on Dec. 31    € million  5 369  2 272

 

Stainless steel deliveries     1 000 tons  1 815  1 647

Stainless steel base price 2)     €/ton  1 470  1 174

Personnel on Dec. 31, continuing operations    8 159  8 963

1)  The Board of Directors’ proposal to the Annual General Meeting
2)  Stainless steel: CRU – German base price (2 mm cold rolled 304 sheet) 

SOLID EXPERIENCE IN METALS

Cover page: Engineers for a natural gas project in China are introduced to welded duplex 
stainless steel pipes at Outokumpu’s tube mill in Storfors, Sweden. Photo: Helena Dahlgren.

• Build-up of fabricated copper products

 operations through acquisitions

• Build-up of the Technology business 

• Exit from metals chemicals and nickel

• Start of exiting mining

• Establishing base for a focused 

 European stainless player 

Outokumpu’s decision to focus on stainless steel 

is based on two fundamental reasons. Firstly, the 

global consumption of stainless steel is growing 

faster than that of other metals, offering the best 

earnings potential for the company. Secondly, the 

state-of-the-art integrated stainless production 

 facility for volume products in Tornio, together with 

special grades producing facilities, form a solid 

base to take advantage of the market potential.

• Formation of AvestaPolarit

• Start of Tornio expansion

• Acquisition of full ownership in 

 AvestaPolarit 

• Acquisitions to strengthen Technology

• Formation of new Boliden

• New strategy based on leadership

 in stainless steel

•  Divestiture of the fabricated copper 

 products business

•  Expansion of Tornio Works completed

•  Performance improvement initiatives started

•  Sale of shares and listing of Outokumpu 

 Technology

Outokumpu’s path to stainless
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Th e consumption of stainless steel is grow-

ing more rapidly than any other metal in 

the world. Outokumpu is one of the largest 

producers of stainless steel and is widely rec-

ognized as a world leader in technical sup-

port, research and development.

Main products and customers

Outokumpu’s main products are cold and 

hot rolled stainless steel coil, sheet and plate. 

Other products include precision strip, hot 

rolled plate, long products as well as tubes 

and fi ttings.

Th e products are mainly used in the proc-

ess industries such as pulp and paper, oil and 

gas, chemicals, the automotive industry as 

well as building and construction and also 

catering and households. Outokumpu also 

produces specialty stainless products e.g. for 

the electronics and IT industries.

Outokumpu’s market position

Th e global market totals 28 million tons or 

some EUR 75 billion. During the last twenty 

years, consumption has grown at a rate of 

5–7% per annum. In Europe, the Group’s 

main market area, the market totals 4.7 mil-

lion tons and consumption has grown by 3% 

annually. In recent years, the largest growth 

has occurred in China with a growth rate of 

some 20% annually.

Outokumpu is one of the world’s largest 

producers of stainless steel with main pro-

OUTOKUMPU’S MARKET POSITION 
IN STAINLESS STEEL

...ON THE CORE OF STAINLESS...

duction facilities located in Finland, Sweden, 

Britain and the US. Melting capacity totals 

2.55 million tons and the capacity for cold 

rolled material and white hot strip is 1.6 

million tons. Outokumpu also produces 0.3 

million tons of long products and plate annu-

ally. In global terms, Tornio Works is one of 

the world’s most cost-effi  cient and the most 

integrated single-site stainless steel produc-

tion facility. In addition to Outokumpu’s 

main product, austenitic stainless steel, Ou-

tokumpu has started production of ferritic 

stainless (60 000 tons annual capacity) at 

Tornio Works in 2007.

Outokumpu has a 24% share of the 

stainless steel coil market in Europe and 

an 8% share worldwide. Main markets are 

Europe (76% of sales in 2006), Asia (11%) 

and North and South America (10%).

Raw materials and energy

Recycled stainless and carbon steel as well 

as ferrochrome and nickel are the main raw 

materials used in producing stainless steel. 

Outokumpu operates its own chromite mine 

at Kemi and a ferrochrome smelter at Tornio, 

both in Finland. Recycled stainless and carbon 

steel as well as nickel and some of the ferro-

chrome are purchased on the open market. 

Nickel accounted for 69 percent of all raw 

material costs in Outokumpu’s production 

of stainless steel in 2006.

Electrical energy accounts for some 5% 

of total costs. Th e largest consumers of elec-

trical energy in the Group are the Tornio 

ferrochrome smelter and the stainless steel 

melt shops in Tornio, Avesta in Sweden and 

Sheffi  eld in Britain. 

Catering and

END-USES OF STAINLESS STEEL

MAJOR PRODUCERS

 

Estimated slab capacity
million tons 2006 2008

ThyssenKrupp, Germany 2.84 3.14

Arcelor Mittal, 
The Netherlands 2.82 3.22

Acerinox, Spain 2.73 3.08

Outokumpu, Finland 2.55 2.55

POSCO, South Korea 2.10 2.60

TISCO, China 1.50 3.00

Baosteel, China 1.44 1.44

Source: CRU and Outokumpu

households 34%

Industrial equipment 25%

Transport 16%

Building and
construction 15%

Welded tubes 5%

Others 5%

Source: CRU. Global consumption of cold rolled fl at products 2006.
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VISION AND STRATEGIC DIRECTION

Our vision is to be the 

undisputed number 

one in stainless steel, 

with success based 

on operational ex-

cellence. Being the 

undisputed number 

one in stainless means:

Best fi nancial performance in the 

industry

Industry benchmark in customer 

relationship management

Most effi  cient production operations

Most attractive employer

Strategic objectives

We have defined two key strategic objec-

tives:

Value creation through building superior 

production and distribution capabilities 

in all the world’s major markets

Value realization through commercial 

and production excellence

•

•

•

•

•

•

Outokumpu’s future success will be 

achieved by building and reinforcing opera-

tional excellence in both the commercial and 

production sectors. Th is operational excellence 

will be leveraged fi rst in Europe and later on 

outside Europe to achieve global leadership: 

becoming the undisputed number one in 

stainless steel over ten years. 

In the light of Outokumpu’s target of 

continuing to grow faster than the market, 

the operational excellence eff orts will be 

supported by further development of the 

Group’s current asset base, value chain and 

product off ering.

Financial objectives

Outokumpu’s overall fi nancial objective is 

to generate maximum sustainable econom-

ic value added. Th e specifi c group-level fi -

nancial objectives in line with the vision in 

terms of growth, profi tability and fi nancial 

strength are:

To continue growing faster than 

the market

A return on capital employed of over 13% 

and always the best among peers

Gearing below 75%

•

•

•

VISION AND STRATEGIC DIRECTION

Dividend policy

Th e dividend policy established by the Board 

of Directors states that the dividend payout 

ratio over a business cycle should be at least 

one-third of the company’s net profi t for that 

period. In its annual dividend proposal, the 

Board will, in addition to fi nancial results, 

take into consideration the Group’s invest-

ment and development needs.

Ethical principles

Outokumpu honors human dignity and 

diversity, and condemns discrimination 

and intolerance of all kinds.

Outokumpu strives to achieve sustainable 

human, economic, social and ecological 

development in all its operations.

Outokumpu observes the laws and oth-

er regulations of the countries it operates 

in, and complies with agreements and 

commitments it has made. Furthermore, 

Outokumpu condemns corruption and 

bribery and complies strictly with com-

petition legislation.

A healthy and positive workplace is a 

source of strength for all employees and 

benefi ts families, friends and colleagues 

as well.

Leadership principles

Outokumpu has during 2006 defi ned lead-

ership principles, which cover the whole or-

ganization. Th e main principles are: 

Making sound decisions

Achieving ambitious targets

Creating a winning team

Inspiring to perform

Building trust and respect

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

 
We aim to be 

the undisputed 
number one in 
stainless steel

uu
Being the undisputed number 

one in stainless means:

• Best financial performance in 

 the industry

• Industry benchmark in customer 

 relationship management

• Most efficient production 

 operations

• Most attractive employer



uu
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... ON STRONG CUSTOMER PROMISE ...

Outokumpu’s key strengths:

• Stainless steel is the fastest growing 

 segment in the metals market

• World’s most cost-efficient produc-

 tion site in Tornio

• A strong position in specialty 

 products

• Strong commitment to customer-

 related performance and 

 orientation

• Strong R&D in product and process 

 development



4 OUTOKUMPU ANNUAL REPORT 2006

I am very pleased 

to report that 2006 

was an excellent year 

for Outokumpu in 

many respects.

Financially we re-

corded the best year 

ever in the company’s history. The return 

on capital employed of 20.7% clearly ex-

ceeds our target of a minimum of 13%. The 

great results achieved are partly due to the 

very strong stainless markets experienced 

in 2006. Coming from a weak situation 

in 2005, last year showed strong growth 

in both the European and global stainless 

steel markets driven by strong end-user de-

mand. Especially sectors related to proc-

ess industries and energy showed healthy 

growth.

Our good fi nancial performance was not 

only market-related. Also the various im-

provement initiatives started in the Group 

in 2005 contributed to our improved per-

formance.

Operationally, last year was successful as 

well. Both sales and production performed 

well and our benchmark Tornio facility ran 

at full load, demonstrating the potential of 

its increased capacity.

Short-term cost-related improvement 

programs progressed according to plan. Th e 

closure of the Sheffi  eld coil products unit 

was completed during the spring of 2006 

resulting in EUR 50 million annual im-

provement of profi tability. Th e separate fi xed- 

cost reduction program targeting at EUR 100 

million cost reduction was completed during 

the latter part of the reporting year.

Our long-term Excellence programs also 

accelerated last year. Both the Commercial 

and Production Excellence initiatives are pro-

gressing very well and will signifi cantly im-

prove both our operations and our fi nancial 

results in the coming years.

From a strategic perspective, our main 

achievement in 2006 was the successful list-

ing of Outokumpu Technology. Th is allows 

both the parent company Outokumpu as well 

as Outokumpu Technology to fully focus 

on their respective markets and industries 

to strengthen their positions. Th e listing 

also resulted in a signifi cant strengthening 

of our balance sheet – and at year-end with 

the gearing of 42.3% we are well below our 

target level (75%).

Key priorities going forward

Based on the progress so far, I believe we 

are well on our way towards our vision of 

becoming the “Undisputed Number 1 in 

Stainless”. Our key priorities for this year 

are: increased customer focus, strengthen-

ing the competitiveness of our operations, 

and growth. 

In line with our vision, we have stated that 

we want to become the industry’s benchmark 

in managing customer relationships. Th e 

ongoing Commercial Excellence program, 

known within the Group as K2, is work-

ing towards that end. Within the program, 

we are currently improving our pricing dis-

cipline as well as introducing a key account 

management approach to serve our most 

important customers. Overall, we want to 

act more as “one company” when serving our 

customers. Improving delivery reliability and 

the joint development of new products are 

examples of items high on our agenda. In 

order to better serve the customers, we will 

strengthen our service center capabilities in 

the key markets.

We have an excellent starting point for 

securing the competitiveness of our opera-

tions. Our main production facility, Tornio, 

is regarded as the benchmark in stainless in-

dustry in terms of both cost and effi  ciency. 

Th e role of Tornio is to focus on standard 

grades. We will put increased eff ort on de-

veloping the specialty features of our Swed-

ish, British and US production operations.

Th e reduction of fi xed costs will signifi -

cantly improve the competitiveness of our 

operations, especially in possible weak market 

scenarios. Also the Production Excellence 

program (OK–1) will strengthen the com-

petitiveness by improving material yield and 

equipment effi  ciency. Both of the Excellence 

initiatives require new ways of working, where 

people’s involvement is a key factor. To support 

this, leadership skills will have an increased 

focus. We are rolling out in the organization 

Outokumpu’s leadership principles, which 

are a set of behaviours that we expect our 

leaders at all levels to practice. 

Th e development agenda launched in 

early 2005 characterized the most immedi-

ate years to be those with internal develop-

ment as fi rst priority. I believe that towards 

the end of 2007 we start to be fi nancially and 

managerially ready to begin targeting growth 

in the years thereafter. During 2007, we are 

mapping the various growth alternatives both 

structural and organic as well as diverse in 

geographic scope and product focus. How-

ever, when driving for growth, we will have 

our fi nancial targets as guidelines, and we 

will not compromise on them.

Finally, I would like to thank all our stake-

holders for their continued support. A spe-

cial word of thanks I would like to extend 

to Outokumpu personnel for their great ef-

forts in making 2006 the best year ever in 

the company’s history.

Juha Rantanen

CEO

CEO’S REVIEW

CEO’S REVIEW
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...TO BECOME THE 
   UNDISPUTED NUMBER ONE.

Our key priorities 
for this year 

are: increased 
customer focus, 

strengthening the 
competitiveness 

of our operations, 
and growth
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HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR
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10

Q1

Solid upturn in the stainless steel markets, 

a strong increase in end-user demand, and 

increased deliveries improved the Group’s 

operating profit to EUR 67 million. Base 

prices were at 1 180 EUR/ton at the end of 

Q1. Outokumpu’s fixed-cost reduction and 

Operational Excellence programs proceeded 

well. Order backlog was firm and all mills 

ran at full load.

January 2006

Stainless steel markets started to recover 

after a difficult year 2005. Heavy de-stocking 

phase was over and CRU quoted base 

prices started to increase from the lowest 

ever level of 1 030 EUR/ton. The price of nick-

el, the main alloying material of stainless, 

was high at around 15 000 USD/ton. Market 

sentiment was cautiously optimistic.

Q2
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€

Q2
Q2

Operating profit for Q2 improved substan-

tially to EUR 149 million due to strong de-

mand and higher base prices (end of Q2: 

1 435 EUR/ton). Several production records 

were achieved. Nickel markets continued to 

be tight and volatile. Nickel price exceeded 

29 000 USD/ton in July. The closure of Coil 

Products Sheffield was completed. Order 

backlog was record high.Q1



Q4
January 2007

Global economic growth is expected 

to remain solid in 2007. Confidence 

in the European manufacturing sec-

tor is at a high level indicating good 

demand for stainless steel.

Q3 Q4

Q4

The base prices reached 1 980 EUR/ton and 

transaction prices 4 136 EUR/ton at the end of 

2006. Outokumpu’s mills ran at full load and 

order backlog was strong. The Group’s cost-

cutting initiatives and Excellence programs 

started to contribute to profits. Outokumpu 

made its best-ever quarterly operating prof-

it of EUR 378 million.

Outokumpu Technology IPO

Outokumpu carried out the sale of shares 

of Outokumpu Technology through an 

IPO and Outokumpu Technology Oyj was 

listed on the Helsinki Stock Exchange 

on October 10. After the sale of shares, 

Outokumpu holds a 12% stake in 

Outokumpu Technology.

OUTOKUMPU ANNUAL REPORT 2006 7

Outokumpu share price 2006

Q3
Q3

Demand for stainless continued very strong. Stainless steel 

base prices reached 1 640 EUR/ton at the end of Q3. Outokumpu 

gave a positive profit warning due to the soaring base pric-

es and nickel-related inventory gains. The Group reported 

a strong operating profit of EUR 231 million for Q3 in spite 

of lower deliveries due to the annual maintenance breaks. 

Nickel price rose to a level of 34 000 USD/ton resulting in 

extraordinary high alloy surcharges and transaction prices 

of stainless steel. The nickel price had a negative impact on 

the Group’s working capital and cash flow.



8 OUTOKUMPU ANNUAL REPORT 2006

Good economic 

development 

supported 

stainless steel 

demand and 

prices

Following growth 

of 3.3% in 2005, global GDP increased at 

the faster pace of 3.8% in 2006. Economic 

growth on an annual level in the US was good 

at 3.3%. In Japan, the recovery continued 

and the economy grew by 2.4%. Chinese 

GDP again expanded aggressively, growing 

at a rate of 10.7%. After several years of 

rather sluggish economic development, the 

economies of the European Union registered 

markedly better growth during 2006. GDP 

in the European Union rose by 2.8%, a clear 

improvement over 1.7% in 2005. Both cor-

porate investment and household consump-

tion developed positively.

In the main markets for stainless steel 

in Europe, especially in Germany and Italy, 

GDP and industrial production grew at their 

fastest pace for many years, creating a posi-

tive environment for stainless steel demand. 

In Germany, GDP grew by 2.5% while in-

dustrial production accelerated by 5.4%. In 

Italy, GDP increased by 1.8% and industrial 

production, following fi ve consecutive years 

of decline, grew by 1.9%.

Global economic growth is expected to slow 

down somewhat but to remain solid in 2007 

following the good pace of development in 

2006. Economic activity in the US has been 

slowing through the course of 2006 and this 

downward trend is expected to continue into 

2007, due to the ongoing correction in the 

housing market and current weakness in the 

goods producing sector. In Europe, leading 

indicators and business confi dence suggest 

that the currently buoyant economic envi-

ronment will spill over into 2007 and keep 

growth rates at relatively good levels, albeit 

below those experienced in 2006.  

Strong year for stainless demand

2006 was an excellent year in stainless mar-

kets, underpinned by strong demand from 

MARKET REVIEW

MARKET REVIEW

end-use industries and a signifi cant recovery 

in demand from the stainless distribution 

sector. In many ways, 2006 was the com-

plete opposite of 2005. Oversupply and a 

sustained period of de-stocking by the stain-

less distribution sector in 2005 caused appar-

ent consumption of stainless steel fl at prod-

ucts to decline in both Europe and the US. 

Th ese market conditions caused signifi cant 

temporary and permanent production cut-

backs to be implemented throughout the 

industry. According to CRU (Commodities 

Research Unit), European stainless cold rolled 

304 base prices declined throughout 2005, 

from a level of 1 400 EUR/ton at the start 

of the year to 1 030 EUR/ton in Decem-

ber. However, 2005 proved to be the lowest 

point of the cyclical downturn and stainless 

demand mounted a strong recovery in 2006. 

At the start of 2006, stocks of stainless steel 

throughout the supply chain had declined to 

very low levels. With stainless steel transaction 

prices at their lowest for two years and with 

clear signs of an improving economic and 

industrial environment, stainless steel end-

users returned to the market. Th is prompted 

stainless steel distributors, fabricators and 

other actors in the supply chain to begin 

ordering new material. Stainless producers, 

after enforcing production cutbacks during 

2005, struggled for many months to adapt 

to the sudden increase in demand. During 

the fi rst half of 2006, in particular, stain-

less steel demand exceeded supply and mill 

leadtimes lengthened, despite the fact that 

producers in Europe were operating at full 

capacity. As a result, stainless steel base prices 

rose throughout the year. According to CRU, 

cold rolled 304 base prices in Germany rose 

from a level of 1 070 EUR/ton in January, 

to 1 980 EUR/ton in December. Th e aver-

age cold rolled 304 base price in Germany 

increased to 1 470 EUR/ton in 2006, up 

from 1 174 EUR/ton in 2005.

Worldwide demand for stainless steel fl at 

products increased by 15% in 2006. Th ere 

were, however, signifi cant regional variances 

from the overall global level. After several years 

of slower growth, overshadowed by rapid 

increase in demand in developing countries 

in Asia, demand in Western Europe and the 

US increased strongly. Apparent consump-

tion of stainless steel fl at products in Western 

Europe increased by 17% in 2006 and by 

14% in the US. Demand also continued to 

grow strongly in China and the rest of Asia, 

increasing by 9% and 16% respectively.

2006 was 
an excellent year 

in the stainless 
markets, under-
pinned by strong 
demand from the 

end-use industries 
and a significant 

recovery of demand 
from the stainless 
distribution sector

Demand from all the main end-use sec-

tors was strong. According to CRU, annual 

growth in demand for cold rolled stainless 

steel was particularly strong in the catering 

and household (+21%), industrial equipment 

(+13%), transport (+12%) and construction 

(+11%) sectors. 

Th e strong economic environment dur-

ing 2006 ensured positive development in 

demand from key end-use sectors involved in 

the production of oil and gas, liquid natural 

gas (LNG), bio-fuels, pulp and paper, chemi-

cal tankers and water desalination plants. Th e 

ever-increasing global need for both energy 

and water will ensure that demand from these 



OUTOKUMPU ANNUAL REPORT 2006 9

MARKET REVIEW

segments remains healthy. Also, the low life-

cycle costs of stainless steel in construction 

applications is attracting increasing use of 

stainless steel in the architecture, building 

and construction related segments.

Demand and prices for all forms of stain-

less steel products developed positively in 

2006. Demand for plate products benefi ted 

from investments in industrial equipment and 

energy related sectors and prices increased 

during the year. Demand for tubular prod-

ucts increased markedly. Tubular demand 

benefi ted from re-stocking by the distribution 

sector and continued investments in oil and 

gas production. Tubular prices improved sig-

nifi cantly in 2006. Demand for stainless steel 

long products also improved. While prices 

developed positively, the scale of increases did 

not match those for fl at products, because of 

the more fragmented nature of production 

in the long products industry. 

Nickel prices surpass all expectations

Th e price of stainless steel consists of two el-

ements: the base price, which is determined 

on an individual basis by stainless steel pro-

ducers, and the alloy surcharge, which is di-

rectly related to the cost of the alloying ele-

ments contained in the particular stainless 

steel grade. Th e main raw material compo-

nents of the alloy surcharge are nickel, fer-

rochrome, molybdenum, and recycled steel 

(iron). In 2006, the cost of all alloying ele-

ments either increased further or remained 

at high levels, by historical standards.

During the year, the price of nickel rose 

to set a succession of new all-time highs. 

From a level of 14 500 USD/ton in Janu-

ary, LME nickel prices had reached around 

35 000 USD/ton at the year-end. Th e average 

yearly price increased to 24 254 USD/ton in 

2006, up from 14 744 USD/ton in 2005. Th e 

strong recovery in stainless steel markets also 

resulted in an upturn in demand for nickel. 

Th e supply of nickel was also aff ected by a 

number of issues that reduced production, 

from mechanical failures to industrial action 

and protests by local residents at some mines. 

CRU estimate that approximately 40 000 tons 
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of planned nickel 

production was lost 

in 2006 as a result of 

problems that aff ected 

production. In the 

context of world-

wide annual nick-

el production of 1.3 million tons, the 

loss to supply was significant. These 

production losses, when combined with 

strong demand from the stainless sector, the 

main user of nickel, led to a signifi cant re-

duction in nickel stocks and a tight physical 

market. Nickel prices began a strong upward 

rally in early 2006 and reached 34 000 USD/

ton in August. Nickel prices then remained 

in the 30 000–36 000 USD/ton range dur-

ing the rest of the year. While both good 

demand and supply issues undoubtedly add-

MARKET REVIEW

ANNUAL AVERAGE METAL MARKET PRICES
 

         Change %
    2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2006/2005

Stainless steel

 Base price EUR/t 1 403 1 397 1 424 1 174 1 470 25.2

 Alloy surcharge EUR/t 312 396 828 942 1 341 42.4

 Transaction price EUR/t 1 715 1 793 2 252 2 116 2 811 32.8

 

Nickel USD/t 6 772 9 641 13 852 14 744 24 254 64.5

   EUR/t 7 561 10 196 12 245 11 851 19 317 63.0

 

Ferrochrome (Cr-content) USD/lb 0.31 0.43 0.69 0.74 0.72 (2.7)

   EUR/kg 0.73 0.84 1.22 1.32 1.26 (4.5)

 

Molybdenum USD/lb 3.94 5.40 16.39 32.51 25.10 (22.8)

   EUR/kg 9.18 10.52 29.05 57.61 44.08 (23.5)

 

Recycled steel USD/t 102 147 219 204 230 12.7

   EUR/t 107 130 176 164 183 11.6

Sources:
Stainless steel: CRU – German base price, alloy surcharge and transaction price (2 mm cold rolled 304 sheet), 
estimates for deliveries during the period
Nickel: London Metal Exchange (LME) cash quotation
Ferrochrome: Metal Bulletin – Ferrochrome lumpy chrome charge, basis 52% chrome
Molybdenum: Metal Bulletin – Molybdenum oxide, Europe
Recycled steel: Metal Bulletin – Steel scrap HMS 1&2 fob Rotterdam

ed to the upward momentum of the nickel 

price, which is determined by open trading 

on the London Metal Exchange, many argue 

that the surge in nickel prices can be largely 

attributed to increased speculative activity of 

investment funds. Th e scale of investment by 

the funds and their increasing role in deter-

mining nickel prices, makes the forecasting 

of nickel price developments extremely dif-

fi cult. Nickel prices are expected to remain 

high and volatile in 2007.

Ferrochrome prices climbed to a yearly 

average of 0.74 USD/Ib in 2005, the highest 

level since 1989. By the beginning of 2006, 

however, ferrochrome prices had slipped to 

a two-year low of 0.63 USD/Ib because of 

reduced demand from the stainless industry 

caused by cuts in production. As demand 

for stainless steel increased through 2006, 

so did demand for ferrochrome and prices 

rose accordingly. By the end of 2006, ferro-

chrome prices had appreciated to 0.78 USD/

Ib with an annual average of 0.72 USD/Ib 

being recorded.

Molybdenum prices were at very high 

levels during the course of 2005 and de-

spite moderating in 2006 remained high 

by historical standards. Th e average price 

of molybdenum oxide delivered in Europe 

in 2006 was 25.10 USD/Ib, down from 

32.51 USD/Ib in 2005, but still signifi cantly 

higher than the average of 14.50 USD/Ib 

during 2002–2005.

Th e price of recycled steel (iron) appre-

ciated during the fi rst half of 2006 but fell 

back somewhat during the second half of the 

year. Despite this the annual average price 

increased from 204 USD/ton in 2005 to 

230 USD/ton in 2006.

Prices for recycled stainless steel rose dur-

ing 2006. When demand for both stainless 

steel and nickel is strong, prices for recycled 

stainless steel increase as availability tightens. 

According to CRU, the annual average Eu-

ropean recycled stainless steel price increased 

by 50% from 1 478 USD/ton in 2005 to 

2 221 USD/ton in 2006.

Th e dramatic appreciation of nickel 

prices, in particular during the last two 

years, has led to concern that the demand 

for 300-series austenitic stainless steels will be 

negatively infl uenced. Despite higher nickel 

prices, demand for 300-series stainless steels 

increased in 2006. According to CRU, the 

share of total world stainless steel produc-

tion for 300-series stainless steels increased 

to 66%, up from 65% in 2005. However, 

during the next couple of years, increasing 

production of ferritic (400-series) and chrome 

manganese (200-series) stainless steels is ex-

pected to bring the 300-series production ratio 

down into the 64–65% range. Worldwide 

consumption of special grades continues to 

grow and during 2006 there was excellent 

demand for Outokumpu’s extensive range of 

special grades (e.g. Duplex and Lean Duplex 

stainless steels). Demand prospects for these 

special grades remain excellent.
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Good outlook for underlying demand  

Following an extremely strong year for stain-

less steel demand in 2006, slower growth can 

be expected in 2007. Demand from key end-

use industries will continue to be fi rm, but 

on the supply side the impact of increasing 

stainless steel production in China will con-

tinue to aff ect global supply patterns. Both 

capacity and domestic production are ex-

pected to increase further in China in 2007. 

During the second half of 2006, Asian ex-

ports of stainless steel to Europe increased as 

a result of higher prices and strong demand 

in the European market. Th ese imports led 

to increased availability of stainless steel and 

eased the supply/demand situation. 2007 has 

begun with high stainless prices and greater 

availability of stainless steel. Underlying de-

mand from key end-use industries is expected 

to continue fi rm. With nickel prices climb-

ing to new record highs in January, the dis-

tributor sector seems more cautious.

Generally, growth in demand for stain-

less steel in Western Europe is expected to 

slow to trend, but the strong expansion of 

demand in China, other developing econo-

mies in Asia, in Eastern Europe and South 

America will continue.
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Underlying demand 
from key end-use 

industries is 
expected to 

continue firm
 in 2007
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Outokumpu’s financial objective is to 

generate maximum sustainable eco-

nomic value added on the capital that 

the shareholders have invested in the 

company. The Group’s financial ob-

jectives aligned with the vision of 

becoming number one in stainless 

in terms of growth, profitability and 

financial strength are:

• Continue to grow faster than 

 the market

• Return on capital employed of more 

 than 13% and always the best

  amongst peers

• Gearing below 75%
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General Stainless 63%

Specialty Stainless 35%

Others 2%

OPERATING CAPITAL, 4 553 € MILLION

General Stainless 43%

Specialty Stainless 51%

Others 6%

PERSONNEL AT YEAR-END, 8 159

General Stainless 61%

Specialty Stainless 35%

Others 4%

SALES, 6 154 € MILLION

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION ON 
STRATEGY AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Major steps and excellent 

financial performance on

the path towards the vision 

In 2006, Outokumpu delivered record profi ts 

and took a major step in the transformation 

from a multi-metals group to a pure stainless 

steel player with the sale of shares and list-

ing of Outokumpu Technology. Th e foun-

dation for pursuing the undisputed number 

one position in stainless steel has now been 

established from both fi nancial fl exibility and 

management focus point of view. In opera-

tional terms, the Group focused on imple-

menting the Operational Excellence programs 

in both production and commercial activi-

ties during 2006.

Focus on stainless steel

In Tornio, Outokumpu has one of the world’s 

most cost-effi  cient and most integrated pro-

duction site producing standard grade stain-

less steel. Furthermore, the Group’s innova-

tive approach and thorough knowledge of 

stainless steel technology means that it also 

has a strong position in specialized stainless 

products. By being a signifi cant player in 

the rapidly growing stainless steel market, 

Outokumpu is well positioned to meet its 

fi nancial objective of generating the maxi-

mum sustainable economic value added on 

the capital that the shareholders have invested 

in the company.

Outokumpu’s current priorities on the path 

towards the vision of becoming the undisputed 

number one in stainless steel are ensuring the 

competitiveness of the Group’s European asset 

base, increased focus on managing the customer 

interface, readiness and steps towards growth 

and global consolidation, and improving stabil-

ity over the business cycle. Th ese priorities are 

being implemented consistently throughout 

the Group via a strong one-company man-

agement approach and mindset.

In 2005, Outokumpu launched sever-

al measures to ensure the competitiveness 

of its operations. Th e fi xed-cost reduction 

program targeting annual savings of EUR 

100 million and the closure of Coil Prod-

ucts Sheffi  eld, improving annual operating 
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profi t by EUR 50 million, were both com-

pleted in 2006. Combined benefi ts from the 

longer-term Commercial and Production 

Excellence programs are expected to total 

EUR 40 million in 2007, EUR 80 million 

in 2008 and EUR 160 million on an an-

nual basis thereafter. Excellence is also the 

aspiration in safety performance and lead-

ership, both of which are core elements in 

competitiveness.

Outokumpu’s aim is to become the in-

dustry benchmark in managing customer 

relationships and in satisfying customer needs 

with the products and services provided. Cur-

rently, Outokumpu is building a key account 

management concept and harmonizing pric-

ing policies and practices. Customers are 

being segmented on the basis of their needs 

and sales models. In order to satisfy cus-

tomer expectations, there will be a strong 

emphasis on delivery reliability which was 

not satisfactory in 2006.

As preparation for taking steps in global 

growth and consolidation, the Group’s capital 

structure is also under strong focus. Tight 

management of working capital continued 

in 2006. However, working capital increased 

signifi cantly by EUR 975 million to EUR 

1 990 million mainly as a result of the nickel 

price more than doubling during the year. 

Th e Group’s short-term profi tability improve-

ment program also included tight capital 

expenditure discipline with an annual maxi-

mum on operational going-concern capital 

expenditure of EUR 175 million in both 

2006 and 2007. In 2006, however, capital 

expenditure was, as expected, slightly higher 

at EUR 187 million due to delayed phasing 

and rollovers from 2005, but it was still be-

low the depreciation level of EUR 221 mil-

lion. Capital expenditure for possible growth 

opportunities will be considered separate-

ly. Outokumpu continuously monitors the 

Group’s business portfolio and maps a variety 

of structural and organic growth alterna-

tives, which are diverse in their geographic 

scope and product focus. In the drive for 

growth, Outokumpu will, however, ensure 

that the businesses fi t the Group’s strategy 

and meet defi ned profi tability and perform-

ance targets.

To improve stability through business cy-

cles, Outokumpu is focusing on steel grades 

and products for which demand and prices 

are less volatile. Th e Group will continue 

to develop its successful duplex grades and 

explore the rapidly growing market oppor-

tunities. While duplex grades include smaller 

amounts of nickel and are thus less aff ected 

by changes in the price of this alloying el-

ement, ferritic grades do not include any 

nickel. Th e EUR 13 million investment in 

ferritic stainless steel production at Tornio 

coming on stream in early 2007 will therefore 

reduce cyclicality even further. Traditionally, 

especially in standard grades, stockists in-

OUTOKUMPU’S STRATEGIC DIRECTION

Ensuring the competitiveness of European asset base

STARTED IN 2005

UP TO 5 YEARS

UP TO 10 YEARS

Delivering promises and 

setting new ambitions

Building and strengthening
operational excellence

Ensuring number one 

stainless position in Europe

Achieving global 

leadership in stainless

CURRENT PRIORITIES FOR OUTOKUMPU

Multiplying 
operational excellence

Increased focus on managing customer interface

Readiness and steps towards growth and consolidation

Developing stability over business cycles
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ance between supply and demand. Increasing 

stainless steel production capacity in China 

will continue to aff ect global supply in the 

coming years. 

A key factor that directly aff ects Outo-

kumpu’s profi tability is the development of 

the base price of stainless steel. Th is price 

level is linked to the economic cycle, and es-

pecially to the level of industrial investment in 

the main customer segments. Changes in the 

base price are also attributable to the strong 

fl uctuations in demand during de-stocking 

and re-stocking phases of the cycle.

Th e prices of alloying materials for stainless 

steel – nickel, chrome, molybdenum, iron and 

titanium – do not have a major impact on 

Outokumpu’s fi nancial results. Nonetheless, 

they do feed through into the amount of capital 

tied up in operations as working capital. Th e 

transaction price of stainless steel is the base 

price plus an alloy surcharge. Applied in Eu-

rope and North America, the alloy surcharge 

includes the cost of alloying materials when 

the price of these exceeds pre-defi ned trigger 

levels. While this alloy surcharge mechanism 

in longer term hedges Outokumpu’s profi t-

ability from changes in the price of alloying 

metals, price changes may, however, have a 

short-term impact on profi tability because 

of timing diff erence. Outokumpu’s average 

throughput time is longer than the time 

period applied in the alloy surcharge mech-

anism. In this respect, Specialty Stainless is 

more aff ected as its production chain is longer 

and thus more value added, as illustrated in 

the picture below. 

Stainless steel is fully recyclable. In most 

cases, alloying materials can be purchased at 

TIMING DIFFERENCE EFFECT
– inventory gains and losses 

OUTOKUMPU SUPPLY CHAIN

TORNIO’S INTEGRATED PRODUCTION ROUTE

FeCr + Meltshop        Hot Rolling        Cold Rolling

• Low costs

• High volume

• Standard grades

• Special grades

• Tailored offering

• Tubular

Avesta
Nyby
Kloster, SSS, OSTP

Long Products
Britain, Sweden, US

Hot Rolled Plate
Sweden, US

Alloy surcharge based on average prices 

2–3 months before stainless delivery

Time of stainless steel delivery

AVESTA’S INTEGRATED 
PRODUCTION ROUTE
Meltshop     Hot Rolling

Receipt of raw material

Raw material 
pricing (FIFO)

Raw material 
pricing (FIFO)

Timing difference

Sheffield meltshop

Time

crease demand volatility between stainless steel 

producers and end-users. Focus on customer 

relationships and expansion of the Group’s 

own distribution network are key tools in 

Outokumpu’s target of selling more to the 

end-users in the future.

Factors affecting Outokumpu’s 

profitability

Th e stainless steel business is cyclical. In ad-

dition to the company’s own actions, Outo-

kumpu’s profi tability depends on the economic 

cycle in the world economy and especially 

on the level of industrial investment. Over 

the long term, demand for stainless steel has 

been growing at an annual rate of 5–7%. 

Changes in regional or global capacity can 

sometimes have an adverse eff ect on stainless 

markets if they result in a temporary imbal-
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a discount when sourced in recycled stain-

less and Outokumpu therefore constantly 

maximizes usage of recycled stainless in its 

production processes.

Outokumpu’s operating profi t is aff ected 

not only by changes in base prices but also 

by unit costs, delivery volumes and product 

mix. In stainless steel production, the capac-

ity utilization rate has a major impact on 

operating profi t. Production volumes de-

pend on demand, and products are mainly 

manufactured to fulfi ll orders. Th e product 

mix also aff ects profi tability because mar-

gins for products vary with the value-added 

component. 

As a rule, currencies used for pricing 

stainless steel products are determined by 

market area: euros in Europe and US dollars 

in the US and Asia. Price levels in Europe, 

the US and Asia may vary. Outokumpu’s 

exposure to foreign exchange rate fl uctu-

ations is reduced because most of Outo-

kumpu’s stainless steel is sold in Europe. 

Outokumpu’s production costs are incurred 

for the most part in euros, Swedish crowns 

and British pounds. Prices of raw materi-

als are determined primarily in US dollars, 

but the alloy surcharge mechanism trans-

fers changes in the exchange rate to a euro 

price in Europe.

Th e table below shows an estimation 

for the sensitivity of Outokumpu’s operat-

ing profi t in 2007 to changes in stainless 

steel base prices, ferrochrome prices and 

exchange rates between the main curren-

cies and the euro. 

EFFECT OF SUSTAINED CHANGE ON 
ANNUAL OPERATING PROFIT

 

€ million

Stainless steel base price, 
+100 EUR/ton  200

Ferrochrome price, +5 USc/lb  10

USD/EUR, +10%  40

SEK/EUR, +10%  (60)

GBP/EUR, +10%  (20)

The fi gures are estimates and they do not take into account the 
impact of hedging. They have been calculated on the basis of 
the average exchange rates in 2006 and projected 2007 produc-
tion volumes. 

FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENT

 

€ million     2006 2005

Sales

General Stainless     4 770 4 073

Specialty Stainless     2 723 2 739

Other operations     361 272

Intra-group sales     (1 700) (2 068)

The Group     6 154 5 016

 

1 000 tons

Stainless steel deliveries

Cold rolled     936 867

White hot strip     390 391

Other     490 390

Total deliveries     1 815 1 647

  

€ million

Operating profit

General Stainless     536 (62)

Specialty Stainless     338 110

Other operations     (35) 8

Intra-group items     (15) 1

The Group     824 57

 

€ million

Major non-recurring items in operating profit

General Stainless

 Gain on the sale of real estate in Britain    9 -

 Closure of Coil Products Sheffi eld     - (127)

 Costs related to fi xed-cost reduction program   - (11)

Specialty Stainless

 Closure of OSTP Fagersta     (8) -

 Costs related to fi xed-cost reduction program   - (21)

Other operations

 Gain on the sale of Boliden shares    - 35

 Costs related to fi xed-cost reduction program   - (3)

 Closure of Coil Products Sheffi eld     - (3)

Total non-recurring items     1 (129)
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Excellent financial 

performance in 2006

2006 was a very good year in the stainless 

steel market with high base prices. Alloy 

surcharges reached new highs. Demand in-

creased in all regions. According to CRU es-

timates, apparent consumption of fl at prod-

ucts rose by 17% in Europe, 14% in the US 

and 9% in China. 

Base prices started at a low level but in-

creased throughout the year. Th e German 

base price for CR 304 sheet rose from 1 030 

EUR/ton in December 2005 to 1 980 EUR/

ton at the end of 2006. Th e average price 

was EUR 1 470/ton. Demand for special 

grades and project-related products was 

also strong.

Outokumpu’s stainless steel deliveries in-

creased by 10% to 1 815 000 tons in 2006. 

While the Tornio Works’ integrated site has 

been expanded heavily, aggressive rationali-

zation has reduced output elsewhere in the 

Group. 

Th e operating profi t was all-time high at 

EUR 824 million. High base prices and in-

creased deliveries were the main contributors 

to the signifi cant profi t improvement. Price 

changes of General Stainless’ more standard 

products are more rapid than those of the 

more specialized products supplied by Spe-

cialty Stainless. Nickel-related inventory gains 

resulting from timing diff erences between 

the alloy surcharge and inventory turnover 

boosted profi tability further in 2006.

Savings from the fixed-cost reduction 

program total some EUR 100 million on 

an annual basis and the reduced fi xed-cost 

running rate has been in place in full since 

the end of 2006. Th e closure of Coil Prod-

ucts Sheffi  eld and adjustment of capacity at 

the Sheffi  eld melt shop and the Avesta hot 

rolling mill accordingly have resulted in an 

annual profi t improvement of some EUR 50 

million starting from the second half of 2006. 

Th e Commercial and Production Excellence 

programs were expected to yield net benefi ts 

from 2007 onwards, but positive fi nancial 

impact was already visible in 2006.

Following the sale of shares and listing of 

Outokumpu Technology, its operations were 

classifi ed as discontinued operations and are 

reported separately from the Group’s continuing 
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negative economic value added. The higher the capital turnover ratio, the smaller change in operating profit margin will impact ROOC. The size of 

the circle reflects the amount of operating capital tied up into a division.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

operations. After the listing, Outokumpu’s 

holding in Outokumpu Technology is 12% 

and this stake is included in available-for-

sale fi nancial assets. Th e total consideration 

received from the sale of shares was EUR 

449 million. Th e EUR 357 million net profi t 

from discontinued operations in the 2006 

income statement primarily consists of the 

EUR 328 million capital gain from the sale 

of shares in Outokumpu Technology.

Excellent result from stainless steel 

operations and proceeds from the sale 

of Outokumpu Technology shares contrib-

uted to achievement of the Group’s fi nan-

cial targets. Return on capital employed 

rose to 20.7% and the target of over 13% 

for return on capital employed was clearly 

exceeded. Gearing at 42.3% is better than 

the target level of below 75%, off ering a 

solid basis for taking major steps along the 

path towards the vision. Net cash gener-

ated from operating activities was EUR 

35 million negative. During the year, 

EUR 975 million was tied up in working 

capital mainly as a result of high nickel 

prices. Currently, more than EUR 1 bil-

lion extra is tied up in working capital be-

cause of the exceptionally high nickel price 

(34 000 USD/ton compared to the longer-

term average of 10 000 USD/ton). Capital ex-

penditure totaled EUR 187 million. At 

the end of the year, the Group’s net interest-

bearing debt stood at EUR 1 300 million.

Towards the end of 2006 the tight sup-

ply situation of stainless steel, especially in 

Europe, began to normalize. However, year 

2007 started at very healthy base price lev-

els. In the short-term, Outokumpu’s prof-

itability will be good.

Strong increase in 

total shareholder return

Earnings per share totaled EUR 5.31, con-

sisting of EUR 3.34 from continuing op-

erations and EUR 1.97 from discontinued 

operations. Total shareholder return (TSR) 

skyrocketed to 139.9% in 2006 (2005: 

negative 0.8%, 2004: 19.5%). TSR is cal-

culated as the annual change in share price 

02 03 04 05 06
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Including January 2007.
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9.5
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8.5
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plus dividend, divided by the starting share 

price for each year.

During 2006, Outokumpu’s market capi-

talization more than doubled to EUR 5 369 

million (Dec. 31, 2005: EUR 2 272 million). 

In 2006, the year-high share price of EUR 

30.39 was reached on December 28. Outo-

kumpu paid dividends of EUR 81 million 

(EUR 0.45 per share) in 2006.

According to the dividend policy estab-

lished by the Board of Directors, the dividend 

payout ratio over a business cycle should be at 

least one third of the company’s net profi t for 

the period. Th e dividend proposed for 2006 

is EUR 1.10 per share. Th e dividend yield 

is thus 3.7% (2005: 3.6%). Outokumpu’s 

average dividend payout ratio over the past 

fi ve years has been 36.7%.

Economic value added 

improved markedly

Outokumpu’s overall fi nancial objective is 

to generate the maximum sustainable eco-

nomic value added for capital invested by 

shareholders. Outokumpu uses the weighted 

average cost of capital (WACC) when defi ning 

the capital charge for economic value added, 

and applies this when estimating the profi t-

ability of investment projects and defi ning 

the economic and commercial value of its 

business operations. In 2006, Outokumpu’s 

WACC after taxes was approximately 6%. 

Th is fi gure was obtained using a target capital 

structure in which the weight of equity was 

60% and the weight of debt 40%. Th e cost 

of equity was 7.5% and the after-tax cost of 

debt was 3.5%. In 2006, Outokumpu’s eco-

nomic value added from the continuing op-

erations was EUR 366 million (2005: EUR 

255 million negative).

Outokumpu and the stainless steel 

market going forward

Global demand for stainless steel is expect-

ed to remain healthy and long-term annual 

growth in consumption is forecast to con-

tinue at a rate of 5–7%. New stainless steel 

production capacity being built in China 

is expected to primarily meet the local de-

mand. On the other hand, there may be 

periods of imbalance when this supply ex-

ceeds demand in China and has an impact 

on the global market situation, including 

Europe. As a result of the decisive actions 

taken over the last few years and excellent 

profi tability in 2006, Outokumpu is now 

well positioned to face competition profi t-

ably, to pursue for growth and fulfi ll its vi-

sion. Operational improvements are creat-

ing an excellent platform for multiplication 

and the rapidly strengthening balance sheet 

is providing the fi nancial strength to take 

the steps required to become the undisputed 

number one in stainless steel.

SHARE-RELATED KEY FIGURES

 

€   2006  2005

Earnings per share  5.31  (2.01)

– from continuing operations 3.34  (0.14)

– from discontinued
 operations  1.97  (1.87)

Equity per share  16.87  11.31

Dividend per share  1.101)  0.45

Share price on Dec. 31 29.66  12.55

Market capitalization on 
Dec. 31, € million  5 369  2 272

1) Board’s proposal to the Annual General Meeting



OUTOKUMPU’S PRODUCTION STRUCTURE 

– capacity for finished products ~ 1.9 million tons

Sheffield meltshop

FLAT PRODUCTS

LONG PRODUCTS & PLATE

2.2 million tons 2.2 million tons 1.6 million tons

TORNIO’S INTEGRATED PRODUCTION ROUTE
FeCr smelter
Stainless meltshop Hot Rolling Cold Rolling

• Low costs

• High volume

• Standard grades

• Special grades

• Tailored offering

• Tubular

AVESTA’S INTEGRATED PRODUCTION ROUTE

Stainless meltshop Hot Rolling

0.4 million tons

Avesta
Nyby
Kloster, SSS, OSTP

0.3 million tons

Long Products
Britain, Sweden, US

Hot Rolled Plate
Sweden, US
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THE GROUP’S BUSINESS AND BUSINESS UNITS

Demand for stain-

less steel is growing 

more rapidly than 

demand for any oth-

er metal and its use 

is strongly tied to 

rising standard of 

living. Over the past twenty years, global 

demand has, on average, increased by 5.5% 

annually. In the last ten years, even higher 

annual growth of 7% has been experienced, 

peaking in 2006 at 15%. Since 2003, China 

has taken the leading position as the largest 

and clearly the fastest growing market for 

stainless steel. 

In recent years, production capacity has 

been growing strongly, especially in China. 

One result of this development is that Eu-

ropean stainless producers are losing their 

current position as exporters to China. In 

overall terms, the growth in global production 

capacity is fairly well balanced with demand 

growing as forecast.

Stainless steel is corrosion resistant, strong, 

hygienic and recyclable. Th ese properties make 

it an ideal choice for a variety of demanding 

industrial and consumer applications. Sev-

eral life-cycle studies indicate that in many 

applications the total cost of stainless steel 

is lower than that of competing materials. 

Consumption of stainless steel increases with 

economic growth as both its properties and 

its aesthetic image are highly competitive.

Th e stainless business covers both auste-

nitic (300-series) and ferritic (400-series) 

grades. Th e 300-series stainless steel accounts 

for some two thirds of the global stainless 

steel market. To date, Outokumpu has mainly 

focused on austenitic grades. Since late 2003, 

the fact that nickel prices have been at histori-

cal highs has somewhat slowed the growth of 

demand for nickel-bearing austenitic stainless 

steel. Current users have searched for substi-

tutes in alternative stainless steel grades, ferritic 

grades for example, and examined compet-

ing materials for some applications. Stainless 

steel’s unique properties, however, make it 

diffi  cult to fi nd substitutes and competing 

materials are also currently expensive.

Th ere has been a dramatic change in stain-

less steel market sentiment since the end of 

2005. Heavy de-stocking and falling base 

THE GROUP’S BUSINESS AND BUSINESS UNITS

prices characterized the latter part of 2005.  

At the end of the year, base prices had fallen 

to historically low levels and inventories were 

low. From the beginning of 2006, strong 

demand, especially from the end-use seg-

ments, resulted in increasing base prices and 

because of the record high nickel price, alloy 

surcharge also reached all-time highs and the 

highest-ever transaction prices were recorded 

at the end of 2006.

Outokumpu is one of the top players in 

the global stainless steel market. Outokumpu’s 

main product is stainless steel coil, in which 

it has a market share of about 24% in Europe 

OUTOKUMPU’S STAINLESS STEEL 
DELIVERIES

 

1 000 tons 2006  2005

Cold rolled 936 867

White hot strip 390 391

Other 490 390

Total 1 815 1 647
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and 8% worldwide. Th e Group’s product 

range covers standard as well as special grades 

and products. Outokumpu’s main production 

facilities are two effi  cient integrated stainless 

steel mills – Tornio in Finland and Avesta in 

Sweden – as well as a production route from 

the Sheffi  eld melt shop in Britain to the long 

products and plate units. Th e Group has a 

comprehensive network of sales companies, 

service centers and sales agents in more than 

60 countries.

Outokumpu’s businesses are organized 

into business units, which co-operate closely 

with Production and Commercial Opera-

tions. Th ese units form two divisions based 

on the type of product produced: General 

Stainless and Specialty Stainless. Th ese di-

visions are described in more detail in the 

following sections.  

THE GROUP’S BUSINESS AND BUSINESS UNITS

Consumption 
of stainless 

steel increases 
with economic 
growth as both 
its properties 
and aesthetic 

image are highly 
competitive  
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THE GROUP’S BUSINESS AND BUSINESS UNITS

Europe 81% (Finland 4%)

North and South 
America 5%

Asia 11%

Australia and Oceania 2%

Others 1%

GENERAL STAINLESS 
SALES BY MARKET AREA

GENERAL 
STAINLESS
General Stainless 

serves the markets 

for high-quality 

standard stainless 

steel in the form of 

coil and sheet. Th e main market is Europe. 

Cost effi  ciency, high quality and delivery re-

liability are the key competitive advantages 

required for success in this standard, high 

volume market segment. By exploiting the 

advantages off ered by the recently expanded 

Tornio facility, one of the world’s largest and 

the most integrated stainless steel plant, the 

Group’s operational excellence programs and 

reduced fi xed costs, General Stainless aims to 

maintain its solid market position.

Th e main product applications of General 

Stainless are currently in industrial segments 

such as pulp and paper, chemicals, construc-

1.6 million tons of hot rolling and 1.2 mil-

lion tons of fi nished products from the cold 

rolling mills. Tornio also delivers some black 

hot band material to both internal and ex-

ternal customers.

Sheffield Primary Products

Th e main production asset of Sheffi  eld Pri-

mary Products in Britain is the melt shop 

with an annual operational capacity of about 

400 000 tons at current manning levels. Th e 

melt shop produces both slabs for fl at stain-

less steel production and billets and blooms 

for the use of long products. Th e hot rolling 

mill in Degerfors in Sweden produces rolled 

billets and heavy bars from blooms cast in 

Sheffi  eld. Th e annual operational rolling ca-

pacity is some 50 000 tons.

Tornio Works’ expansion in full use

An extensive expansion project at Tornio 

Works, the Group’s biggest unit, was carried 

out in 2000–2005. Th e new capacity has been 

technically available since the second half of 

2005 and has been in full use in 2006. It is 

one of the world’s most cost-effi  cient stainless 

steel operations. Th e innovative new rolling, 

annealing and pickling line (RAP) enables 

additional fl exibility in production. Produc-

tion on the RAP line can be shifted between 

GENERAL STAINLESS KEY FIGURES

  

€ million 2006 2005

Sales 4 770 4 073

of which Tornio Works 3 316 2 299

 

Operating profit 536 (62)

of which Tornio Works 440 49

Non-recurring items in
operating profi t 9 (138)

Operating capital on Dec. 31 2 847 2 484

Return on operating 
capital, % 20.1 (2.3)

Capital expenditure 83 94

Depreciation 131 133

 

Personnel on Dec. 31 3 496 4 123

 

1 000 tons

Deliveries of main products

Cold rolled 805 734

White hot strip 305 284

Other 551 631

Total deliveries of
the division 1 661 1 649

Finland 65%

Britain 11% 

Netherlands 6%

Sweden 4%

Germany 3%

GENERAL STAINLESS 
PERSONNEL BY COUNTRY

Italy 3%

Others 8%

tion and energy-related industries as well as 

catering and households. Customers com-

prise both end-users and distributors which 

also stock and process stainless steel to serve 

end-customer needs.

Following the closure of the cold rolling 

unit in Sheffi  eld, Britain in 2006, General 

Stainless consists of Tornio Works and Shef-

fi eld Primary Products. Th e majority of the 

Group’s stock and processing units as well 

as the sales companies are reported under 

General Stainless. 

Tornio Works

Tornio Works in Finland is one of the world’s 

largest stainless steel mills and the most inte-

grated single-site operation in the world. Th e 

main products from Tornio are cold rolled 

and hot rolled austenitic stainless steel coils 

and sheets.

Tornio’s integrated production process 

starts at the neighboring Kemi chromite 

mine, continues in the Tornio ferrochrome 

smelter and processes through two stainless 

steel melt shops, a hot rolling mill and cold 

rolling lines. Th is high level of integration 

off ers signifi cant advantages, for example it 

allows the usage of molten ferrochrome in 

the steel melt shop. To provide customers in 

the Group’s main markets with even better 

service, a signifi cant proportion of fi nishing 

operations are carried out at Terneuzen in 

Th e Netherlands. Tornio’s annual production 

capacities are: 1.65 million tons of melting, 

General Stainless 
focuses on 

producing standard
high-volume 

stainless steel 
products
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Andritz and Outokumpu in a long-term 
business relationship

Andritz’s priorities when selecting a supplier are quality, competitive price and 

reliable deliveries. The company’s co-operation with Outokumpu goes back sev-

eral decades. ”Using stainless steel in products is an investment extending far 

into the future”, says Hannu Korjus, Andritz’s Director of Purchasing.

ANDRITZ GROUP is a global market leader 

in demanding and sophisticated production 

systems. Its operating sectors include pulp 

and paper technologies, rolling mills and strip 

processing lines technology, environment and 

process technology, feed and biofuel technol-

ogy and hydro power.

”We supply equipment, processes and 

maintenance services for the pulp and paper 

industry. We use lots of corrosion resistant 

materials, primarily austenitic steel and du-

plex steel”, says Mr Korjus.

”We are in a long-term business partner-

ship with Outokumpu. We expect our ma-

terials supplier to guarantee not only quality, 

competitive prices and reliable deliveries, but 

also fl exibility in deliveries in rapidly chang-

ing situations.”

”GLOBAL OPERATIONS dictate certain ma-

terial standards. We collaborate closely with 

Outokumpu to identify the most appropri-

ate materials for our customer processes. To-

gether, Andritz and Outokumpu have success-

fully developed procedures that adapt to And-

ritz’s customer projects and the corresponding 

supply needs”, says Mr Korjus.

hot rolled (white hot strip) and cold rolled 

products depending on market demand. As 

an integrated cold rolling line, the RAP line 

also has a clear cost advantage compared to 

traditional cold rolling processes in which an-

nealing and pickling is carried out on separate 

process lines. Integrating these two process 

steps into the RAP line yields in both lower 

costs and reduced working capital. Th e RAP 

line can also be used to produce RAP™2E, 

a new semi-cold rolled product. Th is prod-

uct has been well received especially by the 

stainless steel tube industry, where it can be 

used to replace cold rolled stainless steel in 

a variety of applications. 

To expand the Group’s product off ering, 

an investment to begin production of 400-

series ferritic stainless steel in Tornio is cur-

rently under construction. Ferritic stainless 

steel normally includes some 12–17% chro-

mium with the remainder being mainly iron. 

As it does not contain any nickel, prices for 

400-series products have traditionally been 

less volatile than those of Outokumpu’s main 

product, 300-series austenitic stainless steel. 

Tornio has a competitive cost advantage in 

the production of the 400-series as liquid 

ferrochrome can be utilized in the manu-

facturing process reducing melting costs. An 

investment of EUR 13 million is being made 

in batch annealing furnaces at Tornio, and 

the target for annual production of ferrit-

ics is 60 000 tons. Production has come on 

stream during the fi rst quarter and deliveries 

are scheduled to start in the second quarter 

of 2007. In February 2007, a decision was 

made to invest EUR 90 million in the re-

THE GROUP’S BUSINESS AND BUSINESS UNITS

KEMI MINE AND TORNIO FERROCHROME 
SMELTER

 

Production 2006 2005

Ore excavated, million tons 1.2 1.1

Chromite concentrates,
1 000 tons 549 572

Ferrochrome, 1 000 tons 243 235

 

Ore reserves and 
mineral resources  

  Million
Dec. 31, 2006 tons Grade

Ore reserves

 Proven 39 26%
   Cr2O3

Mineral resources

 Indicated 13 29%
   Cr2O3

 Inferred 72 29%
   Cr2O3

A mineral resource is a concentration or occurrence of mate-
rial of intrinsic economic interest in or on the Earth’s crust in 
such form, quality and quantity that there are reasonable pros-
pects for eventual economic extraction. An ore reserve is the 
economically mineable part of the measured and/or indicated 
mineral resource. Ore reserves are not included in the mineral 
resources. Cr2O3 = chromium oxide.
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Duplex, the stainless solution for Hong Kong

Stainless steels have been widely used in building and construction for many 

years, mainly for architectural rather than structural applications where use is 

made of the high corrosion resistance and wide range of available, stainless fin-

ishes. However, where structures are required to have very long design lives 

and lives to first maintenance, then stainless steels are increasingly being con-

sidered as an option.

ARUP, A GLOBAL FIRM of designers, engi-

neers, planners and business consultants, 

designed the Stonecutters Bridge in Hong 

Kong using duplex stainless steel on the 

outer, structural skin of the main pylons 

of this cable stayed bridge. Th e plates were 

supplied by Outokumpu. Th e 300m high 

pylons support the main span of the 1km 

long bridge and the duplex steel skins are 

used on the upper 120m section.  Arup 

are now also using duplex steels for two 

other bridge projects. Th e tonnage of du-

plex steels used in bridges is currently small, 

but it has the potential to grow to a sig-

nifi cant market. 

GRAHAM GEDGE, ARUP: “We (designers, 

materials specialists and producers) need 

to work together to better understand how 

to exploit the very obvious benefi ts of du-

plex stainless steels for bridge applications, 

benefi ting the infrastructure owners and 

users who would be provided with durable, 

minimum maintenance and cost eff ective 

structures on highway and railway networks. 

Attitudes still tend to be driven by initial 

investment cost and steel price per tonne 

rather than considering whole life costs or 

the total cost of the construction.”

THE GROUP’S BUSINESS AND BUSINESS UNITS

placement of the annealing and pickling line 

number 2 in Tornio. Th is will increase the 

cold rolling mill capacity by 75 000 tons by 

the end of 2009.

Th e chromite ore mined at Kemi and con-

verted into ferrochrome at Tornio is used 

in the stainless steel production. Owning a 

supply of ferrochrome, the alloy that gives 

stainless steel its corrosion resistance, is both 

a signifi cant cost competitive advantage and 

a risk mitigation factor for Outokumpu. Th e 

majority of global ferrochrome production 

takes place in South Africa and Kazakhstan. 

Open-pit mining in Kemi ceased at the end 

of 2005 and a more cost-efficient under-

ground mine now feeds the Group’s ferro-

chrome smelter.

Fixed-cost reduction and profitability 

improvement programs progressed well

Th e closure of Coil Products Sheffi  eld in Britain 

was completed in April. Th e positive eff ect on 

Outokumpu’s operating profi t is some EUR 

50 million annually from the second half of 

2006 onwards. Th e closure of the cold roll-

ing operations in Sheffi  eld required a reduc-

tion in the Sheffi  eld melt shop’s operational 

capacity. Most deliveries by the Sheffi  eld melt 

shop go to the plate and long products units 

in Specialty Stainless.

A 10% reduction in fi xed costs at the 

Tornio Works and Sheffi  eld Primary Products 

has been achieved and the new lower fi xed-cost 

running rate has been eff ective from the second 

half of 2006. To meet the long-term challeng-

es for profi tability and growth, Outokumpu 

initiated Group-wide Operational Excellence 

programs in 2005. Both the Tornio Works and 

Sheffi  eld Primary Products have participated 

in the Production and Commercial Excellence 

projects with encouraging results.

Clear turnaround in profitability and 

significant profit improvement

2006 was a very successful year for General Stain-

less. As demand picked up, base prices soared 

and continued to move upwards throughout 

the year. Stainless steel deliveries increased only 

marginally from previous year to 1 661 000 

tons. Sales, however, increased by 17% to EUR 

4 770 million as a result of higher transaction 

prices. Operating profi t (excluding non-recur-

ring items) was EUR 527 million compared 

to EUR 76 million in 2005.  Th e strong prof-

it improvement is attributable to higher base 

prices for stainless steel. In General Stainless, 

no major inventory gains were included in the 

operating profi t for 2006 because only minor 

timing diff erences exist between the alloy sur-

charge and inventory turnover that can result 

in inventory gains or losses.
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SPECIALTY 
STAINLESS 
Specialty Stainless 

is strong in tailored 

solutions and de-

manding custom-

er applications in 

fl at and long products, as well as in stainless 

tubular products. Specialty Stainless serves 

customers for example in the chemical in-

dustry, the oil and gas sector, nuclear power 

plants and the pulp and paper industry, which 

have very high requirements for stainless steel 

properties such as steel grade, shape, thick-

ness, surface fi nish or other specifi c proper-

ties. Project orders form an important part of 

the business, which is supported by a strong 

R&D function and long experience in de-

livering tailored solutions that match cus-

tomers’ needs.

Growth in these high-performance seg-

ments and applications is expected to con-

tinue buoyant. Strategy in Specialty Stainless 

is based on both diff erentiation and further 

specialization, off ering improved protection 

from continually increasing competition in the 

market for standard stainless steel grades.

Th e main products produced by Specialty 

Stainless are hot and cold rolled sheet, quar-

to plate, tubes and various fi ttings, preci-

sion strip, wire rod and bar. Stainless steel is 

supplied to Specialty Stainless units mainly 

from the division’s own melt shop in Avesta 

in Sweden and from Sheffi  eld melt shop in 

Britain. Th e fi nished products capacity of 

Specialty Stainless’ units is some 500 000 

tons of cold rolled and white hot strip and 

plate, 170 000 tons of quarto plate, 80 000 

tons of long products and 100 000 tons of 

tubular products. 

An increasing proportion of sales by Spe-

cialty Stainless consists of a variety of spe-

cial grades developed in response to specifi c 

customer requirements. Lean Duplex, LDX 

2101®, a low-nickel high-strength stainless 

steel with good corrosion resistance proper-

ties that correspond to those of austenitic 

grades is a good example of Outokumpu’s  

steel grade developments. Th e excellent prop-

erties and competitive pricing of both Lean 

Duplex and Duplex grades are resulting in 

increased market share compared to more 

traditional grades in applications such as 

chemical tanks, building and construction, 

and desalination plants.

Th e EUR 55 million investment in Th in 

Strip production at Kloster in Sweden has been 

completed and deliveries will start during the 

fi rst quarter of 2007. Th e mill’s total annual 

production capacity has been expanded from 

25 000 tons to 45 000 tons, and products 

that are both thinner (0.12mm) and wider 

(1 050mm) can now be produced. Th e in-

vestment includes a new cold rolling mill, a 

bright annealing line and a slitting line.

While the Group’s business units are pur-

suing further specialization and an increasing 

focus on value-adding solutions, which pro-

vide higher returns, a very important area of 

attention is maintaining a competitive cost 

structure. Fixed-cost reduction actions have 

been implemented and have been in full ef-

fect since the end of 2006. Th e Production 

and Commercial Excellence programs are 

being implemented in all units.

Research and development activity, es-

pecially work at the Avesta Research Center, 

focuses on identifying new applications and 

solutions for customers.

Outokumpu’s stainless tubular products’, 

OSTP, Fagersta unit in Sweden is scheduled 

for closure in mid 2007. Th e Nyby unit in 

THE GROUP’S BUSINESS AND BUSINESS UNITS

Specialty Stainless 
is well positioned 

for increased 
competition through 
specialization and 

differentiation

SPECIALTY STAINLESS KEY FIGURES

 

€ million 2006 2005

Sales 2 723 2 739

 

Operating profit 338 110

Non-recurring items
in operating profi t (8) (21)

Operating capital on Dec. 31 1 594 1 161

Return on operating capital, % 24.5 9.1

Capital expenditure 95 58

Depreciation 80 61

 

Personnel on Dec. 31 4 200 4 334

 

1 000 tons

Deliveries of main products

Cold rolled 196 188

White hot strip 166 160

Others 294 455

Total deliveries of 
the division 656 803

Europe 72% (Finland 5%)

North and South 
America 20%

Asia 7%

Others 1%

SPECIALTY STAINLESS 
SALES BY MARKET AREA

Sweden 66%

Britain 11% 

The US 9%

Finland 6%

Germany 2%

SPECIALTY STAINLESS 
PERSONNEL BY COUNTRY

Others 6%
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A winning solution for tank storage

Emypro S.A. and Outokumpu built liquid storage tanks for Relisa S.A. at the port 

of Barcelona in Spain using Outokumpu’s proprietary Lean Duplex (LDX 2101®) 

stainless steel. The grade brought significant savings in both material weight 

and investment costs by replacing the conventional tank material – austenitic 

stainless steel.

EMYPRO IS a stainless steel tank specialist 

with 25 years of experience and a reference 

list that represents more than three million 

cubic meters of storage space in Europe and 

the Americas. Emypro’s co-operation with 

Outokumpu goes back 15 years.

THE TANK MAKER took the pioneering 

decision for LDX 2101® with confi dence, 

based on both Outokumpu’s expertise in 

storage tank engineering and grade exper-

tise. Using LDX 2101®, Emypro needed 

200 tons less material compared with auste-

nitic stainless, because the higher strength 

of duplex allows for considerably thinner 

walls in the tanks.

MR ALBERTO MARTI, Managing Director 

of Emypro: “Even if there are some dif-

fi culties in introducing new materials in 

this sector, the experience of Outokumpu’s 

Lean Duplex grade has been very good. In 

addition to the good experience of Outo-

kumpu delivering the material, also the 

collaboration of the technical service has 

been good.“

THE GROUP’S BUSINESS AND BUSINESS UNITS

Sweden will invest in a second LAP line (Laser 

welding-Annealing-Pickling) with the total 

investment being some EUR 8 million, and 

production scheduled to start in the third 

quarter of 2008. Th e two heat-exchange tube 

production lines currently located in the Fag-

ersta unit will be transferred to Nyby during 

2007. Th e large-diameter tube production 

line at Nyby will be transferred to Storfors 

during 2008.

Research and 
development 
focuses on 
identifying 

new applications 
and solutions for 

customers

Th e following business units are part of 

the Specialty Stainless division:

Avesta Works

Avesta Works in Sweden is a world-class sup-

plier of 2 meter wide, thick cold rolled and 

white hot rolled products and continuously 

produced plate to the process industry. Th e 

integrated Avesta production facility cov-

ers the entire process chain from melt shop 

through hot rolling to cold rolling. Annual 

operational production capacities at Avesta 

total approximately 500 000 tons for melting 

with the current mix, 450 000 tons for hot 

rolling and 300 000 tons for fi nished prod-

ucts. Avesta supplies the Nyby and Kloster 

cold rolling mills with black hot band mate-

rial and hot rolled plate operations with slabs 

and steckel hot rolled plate.

Hot Rolled Plate

With a 50% share of the market, Outokumpu 

is the market leader in quarto plates used in 

demanding segments such as pulp and pa-

per, oil and gas, power plants and chemical 

tankers. Outokumpu produces quarto plate at 

Degerfors in Sweden and New Castle in the 

US. European plate service centers comple-

ment these facilities. Th e Group’s annual de-

livery capacity for hot rolled plate and quarto 

plate totals some 170 000 tons.
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Thin Strip

Outokumpu’s Th in 

Strip operations com-

prise the cold rolling 

mills at Nyby and 

Kloster in Sweden 

and Sheffi  eld in Brit-

ain. Th ese three mills have a current com-

bined annual delivery capacity of approxi-

mately 195 000 tons. Th in strip products are 

mainly used in plate heat exchangers, heat-

ing elements, fl exible tubes, head gaskets and 

telecom applications. Th e investment pro-

gram at Kloster is increasing annual produc-

tion capacity by 20 000 tons to 45 000 tons 

and allowing the production of thinner and 

wider products.

Based in Britain, Sheffi  eld Special Strip  

(SSS) focuses  on  precision strip  roll ing. Th e 

main products are stainless precision strip, 

stainless razor and scalpel strip as well as 

carbon spring steel strip, with the ability to 

produce material down to 0.035 mm gauge. 

Approximately 50% of production is des-

tined for the automotive market in the form 

of springs and deep drawn components, other 

end-uses include chimney liners, razor blades 

and fi ltration media.

OSTP (Outokumpu Stainless 

Tubular Products)

Outokumpu is one of Europe’s largest pro-

ducers of stainless steel tubes, with a 18%  

market share. OSTP manufactures and sells 

welded stainless steel tubes, pipes, fi ttings and 

fl anges. Tubular products are manufactured 

in Sweden, Finland, Estonia, Belgium, the 

US and Canada. Annual delivery capacity 

totals some 100 000 tons.

Long Products

Outokumpu’s Long Products operations con-

sist of wire rod production in Europe and 

bar and rod production in the US. Manu-

facturing units for long products are located 

in Sheffi  eld in Britain and in Richburg, S.C. 

in the US. Annual delivery capacity for long 

products totals some 80 000 tons. Th e Group 

is also involved in a long products company 

(50% ownership), Fagersta Stainless in Swe-

den, which manufactures and sells stainless 

steel wire rod and wire products.

Markedly improved profits 

despite lower deliveries

Specialty Stainless’ deliveries fell by 18% 

to 656 000 tons despite growing demand. 

Th e decrease is attributable to the scheduled 

downsizing of hot rolling capacity at Avesta 

after the closure of Coil Products Sheffi  eld 

in April 2006. Sales was almost unchanged 

at EUR 2 723 million. Operating profi t (ex-

cluding non-recurring items) almost tripled 

from the previous year to EUR 346 mil-

lion. Main contributors to the improved 

profi t were higher stainless steel prices and 

nickel-related inventory gains. As prices for 

project-related and special products are more 

stable than those for standard products, the 

improved profi ts that follow from increases 

in base prices materialize somewhat more 

slowly in Specialty Stainless than in Gener-

al Stainless. In Specialty Stainless, inventory 

turnover is also slower than in large volume 

standard products as the more specialized 

production has longer lead-times and further 

processing is often required. Consequently, 

Specialty Stainless’ units are more sensitive 

to inventory gains and losses than those for 

standard products.

OTHER OPERATIONS
Other operations consists of activities out-

side the Group’s primary businesses, indus-

trial holdings and available for sale fi nancial 

assets. Corporate Management and business 

development expenses as well as expenses as-

sociated with Group functions and services 

that are not allocated to the businesses are 

also reported under Other operations.

Outokumpu’s most signifi cant industri-

al holding is a 33% stake in Rapid Power, 

a company providing hydro power from 

Norway. Major available-for-sale fi nancial 

assets at the end of 2006 were a 12% stake 

in Outokumpu Technology Oyj, listed on 

the Helsinki Stock Exchange on October 

10, 2006, a 16% stake in the silicon wafers 

THE GROUP’S BUSINESS AND BUSINESS UNITS

OTHER OPERATIONS KEY FIGURES

  

€ million 2006 2005

Sales 361 272

  

Operating profit (35) 8

Non-recurring items 
in operating profi t - 29

Operating capital on Dec. 31 138 139

Capital expenditure 9 13

Depreciation 10 13

  

Personnel on Dec. 31 464 506

manufacturer Okmetic Oyj and a 15% stake 

in the Swedish steel distributor Tibnor AB. 

During 2006, Outokumpu reduced its hold-

ing in Okmetic from 32% to 16%. 

At the end of 2006, the market value 

of Outokumpu’s holdings in Outokumpu 

Technology and Okmetic, both listed in the 

Helsinki Stock Exchange, were EUR 114 mil-

lion and EUR 10 million respectively. 

Other operations’ negative operating 

profi t of EUR 35 million includes net mar-

ket price losses of EUR 7 million (2005: 

net market price gains EUR 26 million). 

In 2005, the Group’s operating profi t in-

cluded a EUR 35 million capital gain on the 

sale of Boliden shares and EUR 6 million of 

non-recurring costs related to the fi xed-cost 

reduction program.
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COMMERCIAL OPERATIONS

Th e key to achieving Outokumpu’s goal of 

becoming the undisputed number one in 

stainless is to become the industry bench-

mark in managing customer relations through 

total customer orientation at all levels of 

the organization. Achieving this ambitious 

goal requires that Outokumpu operates as 

one company, presenting one face to the 

customer. Outokumpu’s commercial op-

erations are steered by a comprehensive one-

company approach, with initiatives planned 

and executed to implement any necessary 

transformation in corporate culture.

Outokumpu’s commercial strategy has 

been formulated to support this approach. 

Th e strategy is based on customer needs and 

market information. It will be common to 

all the Group’s business units and will steer 

all our operations. 

Elements of the commercial strategy ad-

dress Outokumpu’s routes to market, price 

management, sales operations, product mix, 

customers and markets. Customer service 

will be improved via a strong network of 

service centers and a more focused sales or-

ganization. Outokumpu is seeking growth 

in special grades and through re-introducing 

ferritic grades into the product mix.

In line with this one-company approach, 

Outokumpu recognizes the importance of 

streamlining and simplifying each customer’s 

purchasing process and other dealings with 

Outokumpu as much as possible. To further 

improve Outokumpu’s response to varying 

customer needs, customers have been grouped 

into three categories and special strengths 

have been identifi ed within the Group that 

serve each category. Th e categories are: end-

user customers such as tank makers, catering, 

transportation, and the automotive industry; 

project customers in industrial sectors includ-

ing architecture, building and construction, 

desalination, oil and gas, and energy; and large 

transactional customers including distribu-

tors, re-rollers and tube makers.

Responding to customer 

needs is the key

Outokumpu’s commercial operations em-

brace Group-wide sales planning and co-or-

dination, as well as marketing development. 

Th ese operations are carried out by two func-

tions: Sales Operations and Group Market-

ing. Th ese functions are managed centrally, 

but activities are implemented by business 

units and sales companies in a co-ordinat-

ed manner according to the one-company 

approach.

A sharp focus on 
customer needs 

and market trends 
lays the basis 

for commercial 
strategy

COMMERCIAL OPERATIONS

Outokumpu’s sales force is in our busi-

ness units and sales companies in some 20 

countries. Service centers sell from stock and 

provide both local product services and lo-

gistic support. Accompanied by agents, the 

Group’s extensive sales network covers more 

than 60 countries throughout the world. Th is 

extensive network ensures our presence in 

all key markets. It also provides the prima-

ry point of contact for customers in those 

markets.

Th e Group’s customers are served from 

nearly 30 locations, most of which are in 

central Europe. Service centers process coil 

and plate products to meet customized needs, 

giving Outokumpu’s customers the option 

to either buy directly from our mills or from 
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uct mix is strengthened by the recent trend 

of internal substitution among stainless steel 

grades favoring low or zero-nickel products. 

Th is is one consequence of the surge in nickel 

prices.

Outokumpu initiated a number of activi-

ties in 2006 to strengthen its market pres-

ence. Important strategic steps to that end 

were the opening of new sales companies in 

India, Turkey and China, three markets of 

rapidly growing importance in the global 

stainless steel arena.

One-company approach as the 

common denominator 

Areas of responsibility for the Group Market-

ing function are the development of global 

marketing eff orts, marketing communications, 

COMMERCIAL OPERATIONS

our service centers when customer require-

ments fall outside standard dimensions and 

fi nishes. Th e service centers bring custom-

ers the benefi t of high levels of fl exibility 

in both terms of delivery and sizes and di-

mensions. Th ey ensure fast response, as well 

as the ability to make timely deliveries of 

small to medium-sized batches on a weekly 

or even daily basis. Coil service centers can 

cut products to any length from 400mm to 

13.4m and slit material to widths as narrow 

as 9mm. Th ey can also provide a wide vari-

ety of polished and brushed surface fi nishes. 

Plate service centers provide plasma cutting, 

laser and water-jet cutting, sawing, and press 

braking. Cutting equipment can process sec-

tions up to 16m in length, cut thicknesses 

from 2mm to 150mm, and produce com-

plicated geometries. 

Outokumpu’s key markets are in Europe, 

mainly in Germany, Italy, France and Spain, 

as well as the Group’s home markets in the 

Nordic countries and Britain. In Europe, 

the Group holds a combined market share 

of 24 percent in stainless steel coil. In special 

grades, Outokumpu enjoys a unique global 

position that is backed up by an exception-

ally wide product range. Outokumpu is the 

world’s leading producer of duplex stainless 

steels, and Outokumpu duplex products have 

made many breakthroughs in new applica-

tions, gaining market share. Th e low-nickel 

high-strength duplex grades have excellent 

corrosion resistance properties. Outokumpu’s 

position in both duplex grades and the fer-

ritic grades being introduced into our prod-

Europe 76% (Finland 6%)

North and South 
America 10%

Asia 11%

Australia and Oceania 2%

Others 1%

THE GROUP’S SALES  (EUR 6 154 MILL.) 
BY MARKET AREA 2006

K2 improves customer focus

TODAY’S MARKET REALITIES necessitate 

new commercial strategies that go a long 

way beyond traditional production-ori-

ented approaches to business. One of the 

main elements in Outokumpu’s commer-

cial strategy is key account management. 

Th is is a systematic approach to making 

a broader contribution to each custom-

er’s business in order to secure long-term 

business relations and signifi cantly im-

prove both the value Outokumpu off ers 

its customers and the Group’s own busi-

ness performance.

PETER MEUTER, from Outokumpu’s Ger-

man sales company works with two key 

accounts. He liaises within dedicated ac-

count teams of experts from several Ou-

tokumpu business units, including R&D, 

production and sales, focusing on fi nding 

new and better ways to serve Outokumpu’s 

most important customers. Th e goal of co-

ordinating actions by all the units serving 

a customer is to operate with “one face” 

towards that customer.

MR MEUTER AND HIS TEAMS focus on 

areas where the needs of large German 

stainless steel users and Outokumpu’s goals 

coincide. For example, Outokumpu can 

reserve production capacity on the basis 

of customers’ long-term purchasing sched-

ules, building in the fl exibility that secures 

them material with short lead times. Major 

customers can also be assisted in increasing 

their use of special grades, broadening the 

product range they off er. Ways of extend-

ing Outokumpu’s product range to better 

match customer needs can also be explored. 

In all these ways, Outokumpu helps key 

customers win project orders while secur-

ing business for the Group. 

The Commercial Excellence program – K2 – is 

spearheading the effort to transform Outokumpu 

increasingly towards better customer orientation. 

The initial focus is on key account management and 

consistency in pricing management.  
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Th is necessitates eff orts to the creation of a 

customer-oriented culture and this requires 

intensive training of our sales force. Sales staff  

should be able to recognize market changes, 

emerging trends, and opportunities in our 

customers’ businesses.

In 2006, a total of 167 members of the 

Outokumpu sales staff  took part in train-

ing and 786 training days were completed. 

Over the entire program run, approximately 

500 of our sales people will be involved in 

the program. 

Commercial Excellence activities focused 

on two initiatives in 2006: key account man-

agement and pricing. 

Key account management is a structured 

approach towards managing business with the 

Group’s most important customers. Th e pri-

mary criteria for defi ning a key account are a 

customer’s size and growth potential for Ou-

tokumpu, the strategic fi t with Outokumpu’s 

business and the number of Outokumpu units 

that serve that specifi c customer. In summary, 

key accounts are customers for whom Ou-

tokumpu has the best opportunities to add 

value. Some 50 of our customers have been 

identifi ed as Group-wide key accounts.

Th e pricing initiative is aimed at standard-

izing Group pricing policies and practices, 

including payment terms, freight charges and 

packaging fees. Th e benefi t to the customer 

is predictable service that makes dealing with 

Outokumpu increasingly straightforward.

In 2006, formulation of the Commercial 

Excellence program was backed up by an 

extensive customer survey, which involved 

approximately 160 accounts and one-on-one 

interviews with some 20 key customers. An 

additional customer survey on claim handling 

was carried out, and the information obtained 

was used to defi ne Outokumpu’s best prac-

tices in this area. Additional customer feed-

back is sought continuously on Outokumpu 

Internet site, and feedback received resulted 

in the launch of a new on-line Product Tool 

that makes it easier for customers to fi nd in-

formation about the Outokumpu product 

range and product properties.

Th e Commercial Excellence program is 

ahead of target, showing the projected fi -

nancial benefi ts. 

Understanding trends 

and customer needs 

A signifi cant part of the Group’s business is 

done with distributors, re-rollers and tube-

makers. While these segments continue to 

be important for the Group’s total business, 

Outokumpu is also looking for growth in 

value-adding segments such as construction, 

various industrial uses, and catering and ap-

pliances. As a supplier for project applica-

tions, market segments such as pulp and 

paper, desalination plants, and oil and gas 

are central to the Group’s commercial de-

velopment.

MAIN ROUTES TO MARKET

OUTOKUMPU’S
BUSINESS UNITS &

SALES NETWORK

OUTOKUMPU
STOCK &

PROCESSING

DISTRIBUTORS
FURTHER

PROCESSING

END-USERS
PROJECTS

harmonized sales-

 related business 

processes including 

order-handling sys-

tems, and IT sup-

port systems. 

A major under-

taking designed to implement the one-com-

pany approach is the Commercial Excellence 

program, known internally as K2. Launched 

in 2005, this program lays the basis for Outo-

kumpu’s leading position among the world’s 

stainless steel producers. 

The Commercial Excellence program 

seeks to achieve signifi cant improvements 

in the value that Outokumpu provides for its 

customers, as well as in the Group’s business 

performance. In essence, Commercial Excel-

lence is a process turning the Group around 

so that customers, rather than the products 

off ered, drive Outokumpu’s business. Th e 

program will run in successive waves across 

all the Group’s business units and sales com-

panies until the fi rst quarter of 2008.

Th e key to achieving the objectives of 

Commercial Excellence is a total focus on 

changes in the market and customer needs. 

2006 2011
0

COLD ROLLED STAINLESS STEEL DEMAND OUTLOOK
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of the Production Excellence program is that 

the proportion of recycled stainless steel was 

as high as 70% during the last months of 

2006. Recycled stainless steel is the most 

cost-eff ecient source of the alloying metals 

required for stainless steel production, i.e. 

nickel, chrome and molybdenum. Conse-

quently, the use of recycled stainless steel has 

clearly lowered the total costs of raw material 

per melt. As with primary raw materials, the 

sourcing of recycled steel is mainly ensured 

through long-term contracts, and is purchased 

from Europe, Russia and the US. Nickel is 

purchased mainly from Russia, Canada and 

Finland, ferrochrome required in addition to 

our own production is sourced from South 

Africa and Kazakhstan, and molybdenum 

is sourced from South America.

Category management is one part of har-

monizing procurement operating models 

within the Group. New purchasing teams 

utilize the best contracts and purchasing 

processes. Procurement pilot projects have 

succeeded as planned, yielding more than 

EUR 5 million of annual savings in protec-

tive fi lm cost and transport logistics, even 

though the cost of both plastic materials 

and transport rose in parallel with the rise 

in the price of oil.

Energy for Nordic plants 

procured centrally

Th e main task of the energy supply function 

is to procure the electrical energy supplied 

to Outokumpu’s Nordic sites at favorable 

and stable prices, and to hedge against fu-

ture price developments. Th e function also 

supports Group companies in their energy-

related activities.

Th e availability of electricity in the Nor-

dic power system has been very good. No 

faults at national grid level had an impact on 

Outokumpu’s sites. In the winter of 2005–

2006, there were some hours during which 

levels of power consumption were very high. 

During these few hours, industrial compa-

nies, including Outokumpu, reduced their 

power consumption and sold power back 

to the market at a profi t. 

PRODUCTION OPERATIONS

One of the main 

goals of Produc-

tion operations is 

to coordinate and 

optimize produc-

tion in the business 

units to achieve the 

best possible performance at Group level. 

Production operations consist of the fol-

lowing functions: raw materials sourcing 

and general procurement, energy procure-

ment, material fl ow optimization, research 

and development (R&D), Production Ex-

cellence, and environment, health and safe-

ty (EHS). EHS activities are described on 

pages 36–37.

Raw materials sourcing 

aims to maximize spread 

Th e goal of the raw materials sourcing is to 

achieve competitive advantage by maximiz-

ing the spread between the raw material pur-

chasing price and the slab price, to minimize 

supply risk, to optimize value in the use of 

raw materials and to ensure a cost-eff ective 

balance between primary and secondary sup-

plies. Furthermore, in general procurement, 

the focus is on the continuous reduction of 

total cost while operating as one company 

working closely with selected suppliers.

Outokumpu sources raw materials mainly 

through external suppliers, apart from ferro-

chrome from its own production. Th e cost of 

raw materials and consumables is optimized 

by minimizing transport and storage costs, 

and by ensuring the availability of critical 

raw materials through long-term contracts. 

Th e continuous development of procurement 

processes and reporting tools has enabled 

a particular focus on both warehouse turn-

around and lead-time optimization.

Th e share of nickel raw material as a pro-

duction cost has grown signifi cantly. Th e 

market price of nickel has risen strongly over 

the last years, and the share of nickel in raw 

material costs in 2006 was close to 70%. 

Due to this exceptional rise in the price of 

nickel, Outokumpu has striven to maximize 

the use of recycled stainless steel. One result 

PRODUCTION OPERATIONS
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Material flow optimization 

concentrates on the hot end 

of the stainless steel process

Th e aim is to optimize loading of the Group’s 

melting and hot rolling capabilities. Th is in-

cludes both the monitoring of ongoing per-

formance against expected capacity and also 

the capability to respond to changes in the 

balance between supply and demand. Th us, 

correct priorities are assigned during short-

ages and in times of melting surplus the most 

effi  cient production is utilized.

Th e main mechanism for allocating ca-

pacity is the “Steel Balance” method, im-

plemented in conjunction with the Tactical 

Planning Team (chaired by the Executive Vice 

President – Production Operations). Th e aim 

is to further accelerate the decision-making 

and execution processes, especially during 

times of transition and/or rapid change. 

During the year, further modeling of the 

internal hot-end fl ows within the Group has 

been carried out to increase the fl exibility of 

internal supply routes. Following the closure 

of the Sheffi  eld cold rolling unit there has 

PRODUCTION OPERATIONS

below illustrates the types of energy sources 

on a time scale. 

Due to the rising price trend and in order 

to secure the availability of electrical energy, 

Outokumpu is entering into long-term deals 

for electrical power and investing in some 

power production assets, i.e. a Norwegian 

hydropower lease (2005–), a share in the 

nuclear power plant that is currently under 

construction (start-up scheduled in 2010) 

and a share in the Tornio combined heat and 

power plant (expected to be in operation at 

the beginning of 2008).

In 2006, Outokumpu’s total electrical 

power consumption was some 3.3 TWh, 

of which the Group’s Nordic operations 

consumed some 3.0 TWh.

Short to medium-term agreements              Strategic long-term agreements

NORDIC DAILY SPOT PRICES

Outokumpu also has 

a long-term agree-

ment with Fingrid, 

the Finnish transmis-

sion sys tem operator, 

to re duce the Group’s 

power consumption 

when requested, usually during power sys-

tem disturbances (load shedding). No such 

requests were received in 2006.

During 2006, prices in the Nordic electric-

ity market increased and were very volatile. 

Th e long-term price trend has been on the 

rise. Outokumpu’s policy is to price hedge 

electrical power for at least three to fi ve years 

ahead so that at least 80% of expected con-

sumption is covered. Th e indicative graph 
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Ni Primary 3.3%

Ni Scrap 4.9%

Mo Primary 0.4%

Mo Scrap 0.3%

Cr Primary 8.3%

Cr Scrap 8.8%

Fe in alloys 9.7%

Fe in scrap 56.4%

Other primary 2.3%

Other scrap 5.7%

Ni Primary 28.7%

Ni Scrap 39.7%

Mo Primary 9.0%

Mo Scrap 4.9%

Cr Primary 4.5%

Cr Scrap 4.5%

Fe in alloys 0.9%

Fe in scrap 5.9%

Other primary 1.4%

Other scrap 0.7%

Source: Nord Pool

Own power production resources
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been put into the development of duplex 

grades, which off er a good combination of 

strength and corrosion resistance.  Demand 

for these has grown very strongly in response 

to the high price of nickel. Outokumpu has 

been able to increase the volumes of these 

products substantially, and customers have 

also shown growing interest in LDX 2101®, 

Outokumpu’s own development of Lean Du-

plex. Production  technology for this grade 

has been improved and new applications are 

continuously being developed.

Application development has tradition-

ally been focused on the process industries, 

where stainless steel plays a dominant role 

in the manufacturing of industrial equip-

ment used in the pulp and paper, oil and 

gas, desalination and chemical industries. 

Outokumpu’s R&D experts provide advice 

for both sales personnel and customers about 

product properties and material selection and 

receive valuable direct feedback concerning 

customer needs. Th is in turn serves as input 

for further product development activity.

R&D eff orts have continued in two new 

application segments – the transportation and 

automotive industries and the architecture, 

building and construction (AB&C) segment. 

Th e high strength and good formability of 

stainless steels has been the subject of fur-

ther study in these applications. Its lower 

weight and low life-cycle costs make stainless 

been signifi cant changes to the internal sup-

ply routes to enable the lowest cost supply 

routes to be utilized.

Also as part of this optimization, the im-

portance of reliable profi tability information 

has been recognized and work is being carried 

out to improve understanding and harmo-

nization of the calculation of raw material 

costs within the melt shops. For 2007, fur-

ther initiatives will be undertaken to increase 

the effi  ciency of processes within hot-end 

material fl ows.

Research and development – 

fine-tuning new processes, and 

development of special grades and 

applications

Outokumpu Group has two research cent-

ers, in Tornio and in Avesta. Tornio Research 

Center concentrates mainly on process devel-

opment and product quality improvement. 

At the Avesta Research Center, the focus is on 

product and application development. Some 

process and technology development work 

is also carried out in production units, and 

there are links between R&D operations and 

the Production Excellence program.

Research and development teams in Tornio 

have continued to work further on the fi ne tuning 

of new processes and equipment at the Tornio 

Works. Volume growth in the new steel melt 

shop, the unique Steckel-Tandem hot rolling 

mill and the RAP line progressed well in the 

prevailing very favorable market conditions. 

One example was an improvement in the avail-

ability of all critical process steps. Th e launch 

of the semi cold rolled RAP™2E product has 

been successful, and customers have given the 

product a favorable reception. 

Optimum process parameters and product 

properties for standard ferritic grades have been 

studied intensively at production scale. Th e 

Tornio Works has started production of fer-

ritics once new batch annealing furnaces were 

operational in the fi rst quarter of 2007. 

Special grades are one of key focus areas 

of Avesta Research Center including high-

alloyed corrosion-resistant austenitic, duplex 

and heat-resistant alloys. Much eff ort has 

PRODUCTION OPERATIONS

OK–1 progressing

The OK–1 Program consists of numerous, even 

small subprojects. The subject of the project dis-

cussed here is the way of improving shot blasting 

on the new RAP cold rolling line. 

SHOT BLASTING is a means of mechanically 

removing the layer of scale on the surface of 

black hot strip after annealing and before the 

pickling and cold rolling stages. Th e subject 

was chosen as a project because in the fi rst 

part of the year (Jan.–Oct. 2006), about 

1.3% of the hot strip products required 

corrective treatment due to scaling. Th is 

was attributable not only to shot blasting, 

but also to other process stages. However, 

we know from experience that shot blast-

ing is the largest single factor. In addition, 

when scaling occurs, the speed of the line 

often has to be reduced, too. 

WHEN THE PROJECT STARTED, the oc-

currence of defects was analyzed with dif-

ferent grades and dimensions in order to 

get a better grip on problem spots. Further-

more, present-state information was updated 

for defects and speed losses. Th ereafter, the 

project has centered on ascertaining criti-

cal problem areas and on restoring the ba-

sic conditions to the required norms. Th e 

equipment has already been adjusted stage 

by stage for achieving an improved shot-

blasting result. At present, the project is fo-

cusing on uncovering the underlying causes. 

Th e ultimate goal was to halve the amount 

of defects and speed losses by the beginning 

of February 2007, thereby stepping up the 

effi  ciency of the RAP line. When realized, 

the project is estimated to add up to EUR 

2–3 million on annual earnings.
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Outokumpu’s R&D costs totaled EUR 

17 million in 2006 and the R&D function 

employed nearly 200 professionals.

Production Excellence 

improves efficiency

Th e Production Excellence program, known 

internally as OK–1, is a practice-oriented ap-

proach in identifying and eliminating waste, 

losses, and ineffi  ciencies in production and 

other operations. Under the program, a new, 

systematic and well-documented operation-

al approach is being created for the entire 

Outokumpu production organization, and 

employees are being trained. Th e goal is to 

establish a set of operating procedures that 

ensure the maintenance and development 

of future competitiveness. Th e Production 

Excellence program concentrates in particu-

lar on occupational safety, production effi  -

ciency and quality, as well as on improving 

the reliability of production and making 

improvement work into an everyday rou-

tine in production operations.

With the support of the Production Ex-

cellence program, unnecessary costs are be-

ing eliminated, lead times shortened, and 

working capital reduced. Uniform operat-

ing procedures make it easier to identify 

best practices and transfer them between 

production units. Th e program includes a 

PRODUCTION OPERATIONS

EXAMPLES OF OK–1 PROJECTS

 

Site Project Benefi ts

Tornio cold rolling mill  Improve shot blasting in RAP line Reduced amount of defects and 
   improved speed, EUR 2–3 million annually

Sheffi eld melt shop Reduce excess usage of nickel and molybdenum Some EUR 3 million annually

Sheffi eld Special Strip 5S (orderlines) program in maintenance shop Improved working conditions,
   motivation, speed and quality of work

Avesta melt shop  Reduce start-up break-out   Reduced lost production 
  frequency at continuous caster  time and improved yield

Avesta cold rolling mill Reduce buffer stock level  Some EUR 0.8 million of employed capital
  after annealing and pickling line released, and elimination of line
   stoppages due to full buffer stock 

Degerfors Hot Rolled Plate Reduction of packaging material  Reduced packaging material,
  and optimatization of package weights overtime and transport costs.
   Some EUR 0.4 million annually 

“tool pack” in which the methods and tools 

required for continuous improvement can 

be found.

Implementation projects began in the melt 

shops at Tornio, Avesta and Sheffi  eld in 2005, 

and have since been rolled out in to rolling 

mills and fi nishing facilities throughout the 

Group. A total of 18 production sites are cur-

rently involved in the implementation. Each 

site is running several improvement projects of 

varying size. To date, some 220 improvement 

teams have either completed a project or have 

an on-going project, with a total of nearly 

1 000 people being involved. Furthermore, 

PECAT (Production Excellence Change Agent 

Training) is also continuing and members of 

the fi rst course graduated in December 2006. 

Th ree more courses were started in 2006, 

bringing the number of change agents that 

are in training or have graduated to 50. In 

the next three years, some three courses will 

be started annually.

While the implementation is gradually 

expanded to all of the Group’s production 

units, also the benefi ts are already starting to 

materialize. Th e benefi t follow-up procedures 

have now been established and the combined 

benefi ts from the Operational Excellence pro-

grams are expected to total EUR 40 million in 

2007, EUR 80 million in 2008 and EUR 160 

million on an annual basis thereafter.

steel an excellent substitute for many other 

materials. Activities within the automotive 

segment have continued in the Next Genera-

tion Vehicle project, a co-operative project 

between some European stainless steel pro-

ducers, car manufacturers and engineering 

companies. Components for passenger cars 

made of high-strength stainless steels have 

yielded very promising results in fi rst crash 

tests. Th is over EUR 5 million project will 

be fi nalized in 2008.

Outokumpu’s experts are actively en-

gaged in many international associations 

such as ISSF and EuroInox, as well as in 

EU co-operation projects. In Finland, Ou-

tokumpu is participating with other steel 

companies and universities, in the New-

Pro project, in which some sub-projects 

are handling new products and applications 

for stainless steel.

Th e main subject of environmental re-

search in 2006 was slag utilization (includ-

ing process development), studies of the 

properties of diff erent slag products and the 

development of applications. When treated 

in an optimal manner, slag from steel melt 

shops is a suitable material for roads and 

construction beds where it replaces virgin 

material. Development of the Hydrofl ux 

process to utilize processed pickling sludge 

in steel melt shops was continued.
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DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In accordance with IFRS principles, dis-

continued operations are reported separately 

from Outokumpu’s continuing operations. 

Th e Group’s discontinued operations include 

Outokumpu Technology (sold and listed in 

2006), the fabricated copper products busi-

nesses (sold in 2005) and Outokumpu Copper 

Tube and Brass (held-for-sale). In the consoli-

dated income statement, these discontinued 

operations are reported as a separate item be-

fore the net profi t for the fi nancial year.

October 9, and Outokumpu Technology Oyj 

was listed on the Helsinki Stock Exchange on 

October 10. In the off ering, Outokumpu Oyj 

sold 36 960 001 shares at EUR 12.50 per share, 

leaving Outokumpu with a 12% holding in 

Outokumpu Technology. 

Outokumpu Technology was classifi ed as 

a discontinued operation in the Group’s third 

quarter interim report. Net proceeds from the 

sale amounted to EUR 449 million. Until 

disposal, the remaining 12% stake in Outo-

kumpu Technology is, as an available-for-sale 

fi nancial asset, valued at fair value recognized 

directly in equity.

Outokumpu Copper Tube and Brass 

– restructuring program progressing

In 2005, Outokumpu divested the Group’s 

fabricated copper products business, exclud-

ing the copper tube and brass rod business 

in Europe. It is Outokumpu’s intention to 

restructure and divest this business.

Th e main products produced by Outo-

kumpu Copper Tube and Brass are installa-

tion and industrial copper tubes for plumb-

ing and industrial applications and brass rods 

for applications in the construction, electrical 

and automotive industries. Th e copper tube 

mills are located in Pori (Finland), Västerås 

(Sweden), Liège (Belgium), and Zaratamo 

(Spain), and the brass rod plant is located 

in Drunen in Th e Netherlands. Th e division 

also has a 50% stake in a brass rod company 

in Gusum (Sweden). 

In February 2006, Outokumpu sold Ou-

tokumpu Copper MKM Ltd, a brass rod mill 

located in Aldridge in Britain, to Th e Meade 

Corporation.

Market conditions for Copper Tube and 

Brass were challenging in 2006 as a result of 

continuously rising prices for copper and zinc. 

Delivery volumes fell below those achieved in 

2005, but conversion margins were higher. 

In 2006, sales totaled EUR 678 million and 

operating profi t totaled EUR 23 million, in-

cluding metal inventory gains and the gain 

from the sale of Outokumpu Copper MKM 

Ltd. Operating capital at the end of Decem-

ber totaled EUR 162 million.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Outokumpu 
Technology Oyj 
was listed on 

the Helsinki Stock 
Exchange in 

October

Th e EUR 357 million net profi t from 

discontinued operations in 2006 comprises 

Outokumpu Technology’s operational result 

for January–September, the operational result 

of Outokumpu Tube and Brass for the whole 

year, and the EUR 328 million gain on the 

sale of shares in Outokumpu Technology. In 

2005, the EUR 339 million loss comprised 

the operational result of the fabricated cop-

per products business in the fi rst quarter of 

2005, the operational result of Outokumpu 

Technology and Tube and Brass for the whole 

year, the EUR 252 million loss on the sale of 

the fabricated copper products business and 

the impairment loss of EUR 86 million rec-

ognized in the tube and brass business.

Outokumpu Technology 

listed in October

In September 2006, the Board of Directors of 

Outokumpu Oyj decided to list Outokumpu 

Technology through an IPO. Th e sale of shares 

commenced on September 26, and ended on 
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HUMAN RESOURCES

HUMAN RESOURCES

Th e core principle of Outokumpu’s Human 

Resources management is “Success is about 

people.” Th is principle was applied in 2006 by 

continuing the systematic implementation of 

HR strategy and Group-wide HR processes. 

Leadership principles renewed

In March 2006, Outokumpu published its 

new Leadership Principles. Concurrently, it 

launched a strategic leadership program in 

which 60 Outokumpu executives from dif-

ferent parts of the Group participated dur-

ing 2006. Th e objective of the program is to 

promote a unifi ed corporate culture in which 

being a good leader is a central element. While 

the development program was running, the 

participants were divided into nine working 

groups and prepared action and implementa-

tion plans for theme areas important for en-

suring Outokumpu’s success.

Th e process of mobilizing leadership behav-

ior in line with the new principles will move 

ahead in 2007, and it will be extended to cover 

the entire personnel. Acting in accordance 

with the core principles will be measured by 

means of feedback assessments among man-

agement in connection with the Performance 

and Development Dialogue process that cov-

ers the entire personnel and by means of the 

O’People personnel surveys.

Human Resources development 

underpins personnel policy

Outokumpu’s personnel policy revolves around 

the concept of continuous development of 

the personnel. Th e Group continuously off ers 

training and opportunities for developing skills 

and competence. Th e highest-profi le projects 

in 2006 were PECAT, Production Excellence 

Change Agent Training, and an extensive man-

agement training program.

Outokumpu has a Group-wide array of 

training programs for developing the person-

nel, and during 2006, training programs were 

arranged for managers at diff erent stages of 

their careers and for potential managers as well 

as for new recruits. In addition to classroom 
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KEY FIGURES

 

  2006 2005

Sales/person, € million 0.7 0.5

Incentives of total 
remuneration costs, % 4.2 4.6

Training costs of total 
remuneration costs, % 1.1 1.5

Training days/person 2.9 5.0

Days lost due to strikes 15 510

Personnel turnover, % 10.1 5.7

training, other methods, such as personal 

coaching, on-line teaching and challenging 

project assignments were also used. 

Apart from training programs across the 

entire Group, another priority for person-

nel training was local training that maintains 

professional skill. In addition, the various 

units arrange joint training sessions for their 

own personnel.

Training costs in 2006 totaled 1.1% of total 

wages and salaries. Each employee spent an 

average of 2.9 days in training in 2006.

Assessment of management resources 

now completed

Key factors for stewarding Outokumpu’s man-

agement resources are the long-term develop-

ment of management resources in line with 

business strategy, identifi cation of the right 

talent and slotting capable people into the 

right places. 

Th e process of mapping and assessing 

Group- wide management resources and man-

ag er potential culminated in the Group’s 

Executive Committee’s discussion of key 

man agement resources in April. By the Man-

age ment  Review Process and formulating de vel-

op ment plans, Outokumpu is building a corps 

of professionals to ensure the Group’s success 

in coming years.

Harmonized performance appraisal 

discussions and reward models

A harmonized way of conducting Performance 

and Development Dialogues, Outokumpu’s 

model, was developed further in 2006, and 

will be used at all Group units as of the be-

ginning of 2007. Th is will ensure that eve-

ryone knows their targets at the team and 

individual level, receives feedback on their 

performance and also has an opportunity to 

give feedback to their supervisors. Th e dia-

logue forms a natural basis for developing 

the employee’s competence and improving 

performance. 

Outokumpu introduced short and long-

term incentive systems in accordance with 

Sweden 38%

Finland 34 %

Britain 10%

The United States 5%

The Netherlands 3%

PERSONNEL BY COUNTRY AT YEAR-END

its principles of rewarding employees, with 

the aim of emphasizing the points of contact 

between performance and rewards. Bonuses 

paid out in 2006 amounted to 4.2% of total 

salaries and wages.

The personnel and management 

listen to each other

At Outokumpu, the body that is dedicated 

to co-operation between personnel and man-

agement and based on a European Union 

directive is called the Outokumpu Person-

nel Forum. It comprises a total of 33 repre-

sentatives of the personnel, who are chosen 

from diff erent company locations as well as 

from representatives of the company’s top 

management and HR management. In 2006, 

the scheduled meeting, which was already 

the 15th, was held in Terneuzen, the Neth-

erlands.

Th e Outokumpu Personnel Forum’s Group 

Working Committee is responsible for con-

tinuous cooperation between the personnel 

and management. Th e Committee met eight 

times during the year. 

A decrease in the Group’s headcount

Owing to structural changes that were car-

ried out during the year, the number of 

Outokumpu employees decreased by some 

2 220 people compared with the previous 

year. Th e largest of these changes was the 

listing of Outokumpu Technology on the 

Helsinki Stock Exchange in October.

In the fi rst half of 2006, the co-determina-

tion negotiations that were part of the fi xed 

cost reduction program launched in 2005 

were seen to completion, and the headcount 

reductions agreed was carried out. As a con-

sequence of these measures and the closure of 

Coil Products Sheffi  eld, completed in April, 

the Group’s net reduction in number of em-

ployees has been about 1 250 people. 

At the end of 2006, there were a total 

of 8 159 people employed in the Group’s 

continuing operations, and 915 people were 

employed in units held-for-sale. 

The core 
principle of 

Outokumpu’s 
Human Resources 

management is 
“Success is 

about people”

Germany 3%

Italy 2%

Others 5%
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ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH AND SAFETY

Continuing 

reduction of 

environmental 

impacts

Stainless steel is fully 

recyclable, corro-

sion-resistant and 

hygienic and the environmental impacts 

that result from its use are negligible. Al-

most all environmental impacts therefore 

arise during the production, manufactur-

ing and re-processing stages of the mate-

rial’s life cycle.

As a stainless steel producer, Outokumpu 

is committed to responsible production. In 

line with its corporate responsibility policy, 

ethical principles and environmental policy, 

Outokumpu aims to minimize the negative 

impact of its operations on the environment 

as much as economically and technically pos-

sible while achieving continual improvements 

in overall performance. Local guidelines and 

environmental management systems provide 

more detailed models for action.

Environmental issues are an essential part 

of the management systems employed in the 

Group’s plants and units, and the function-

ing of these systems is monitored by both 

internal and external audits. Th e relevant 

authorities also receive regular reports on 

Outokumpu’s operations. At Group level, 

operations are managed and best practices are 

applied through the environment network, 

whose working groups and Environment 

Committee meet once a quarter.

Emissions and 

discharges in compliance

All Outokumpu’s larger production sites have 

an environmental management system, and 

almost all of these systems are certifi ed to 

ISO 14001, the corresponding internation-

al standard for environmental management 

systems.

All Group sites have valid environmen-

tal permits or applications for such permits 

have been fi led. Many of Outokumpu’s sites 

have applied for new permits because of 

changes in their operations or as a result 

of the implementation of European Union 

environmental legislation.

In general terms, emissions and discharges 

during the year were in compliance with 

environmental permits. Th ere were how-

ever 30 minor breaches of environmental 

permits registered in 2006, 20 of them in 

plants located in Britain where permitted 

levels are very close to operational levels. 

Th is means that a minor deviation in op-

erational conditions or a technical problem 

in abatement equipment can lead to such 

a breach. All the breaches that occurred 

in 2006 were temporary, were discovered 

rapidly and resulted in only minimal en-

vironmental impacts.

In November, a radioactive Am241 com-

ponent was melted at Tornio Works. Th e 

contaminated slag and refractories were cor-

rectly isolated and sealed on site to await 

further processing. No harm was caused to 

either personnel or the environment.

Actual carbon dioxide emissions in 2005 

have been reported and appropriate allow-

ances have been submitted to local authorities. 

Lower production volumes and better-than-

estimated energy effi  ciency in 2005 resulted 

in the Group’s plants in Finland and Sweden 

having surplus allowances. During 2006, 

Outokumpu sold 415 000 tons of excess 

allowances for a total of EUR 7 million. 

Carbon dioxide allowances for 2006 were 

distributed in February 2006. Preparations 

to apply for allowances in the 2008–2012 

Kyoto Period are under way.

Outokumpu is not a party to any signifi -

cant juridical or administrative proceedings 

connected with environmental issues and is 

not aware of any environmental risks that 

would have a material impact on the Group’s 

fi nancial position.

Environmental protection 

expenditures and investments

Environmental investments by Outokumpu 

in 2006 totaled some EUR 8 million (2005: 

EUR 12 million). Operational costs totaled 

EUR 52 million (2005: EUR 48 million), 

with the treatment and disposal of waste 

amounting to EUR 7 million.

Tornio Works paid EUR 0.2 million as 

voluntary compensation to Finnish and Swed-

ish fi shermen for harm caused to them by 

the dredging operations in Tornio Harbor 

in 2004–2005.

Group provisions and guarantees related 

to environmental issues at the end of 2006 

totaled 29 million.
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Health and safety

Outokumpu is committed to providing its 

employees with a healthy and safe working 

environment. Th e Group is also responsible 

for the safety of personnel employed by its 

sub-contractors when they are working in 

Outokumpu facilities. Meetings of manage-

ment teams and similar occasions through-

out the Group always start by a health and 

safety issues review.

Outokumpu is striving to reduce the over-

all accident frequency rate to no more than 

fi ve lost-time accidents per million working 

hours by 2009. Th e target for 2006 was set 

at a maximum of 14 but this was not met as 

the actual lost-time accident frequency rate 

was 17 (2005: 18). Accident fi gures include 

personnel employed by both Outokumpu 

and its sub-contractors.

Reporting on corporate responsibility

Outokumpu’s corporate responsibility re-

port is based on the Global Reporting Ini-

tiative (GRI) and is published in connec-

tion with this annual report. Additional and 

further details concerning environmental is-

sues and health and safety can be found in 

the corporate responsibility report – Outo-

kumpu and the environment 2006 – and at 

www.outokumpu.com.

All Outokumpu’s 
larger production 

sites have 
an environmental 

management system, 
almost all are 

ISO 14001 certified

http://www.outokumpu.com
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Outokumpu oper-

ates in accordance 

with the Board-ap-

proved risk manage-

ment policy defi ning 

the objectives, ap-

proaches and areas 

of responsibility of risk management. Risk 

management supports the Group’s strategy 

and business targets. It also helps to defi ne 

a balanced risk profi le from the perspective 

of shareholders as well as other stakehold-

ers such as customers, suppliers, personnel 

and lenders. Outokumpu has defi ned risk 

to be anything that might have an adverse 

impact on activities that the company has 

undertaken to achieve its objectives. Risks 

can thus be threats, uncertainties or lost op-

portunities that relate to present or future 

operations.

Outokumpu’s appetite for risk and toler-

ance to it are defi ned in relation to Group’s 

capital structure, earnings and cash fl ow. Th e 

risk management process is part of the Group’s 

management system, and in practical terms 

is divided into four stages: the identifi cation 

of risks; risk assessment and measurement; 

control and mitigation; and reporting. Dur-

ing 2006, the review and monitoring of key 

risks for each business unit was further de-

veloped as the status of key risks and risk 

management actions is addressed regularly 

in performance management reviews. 

Th e Board of Directors is ultimately re-

sponsible for the Group’s risk management. 

Th e CEO and the Group Executive Commit-

tee are responsible for defi ning and imple-

menting risk management procedures, and 

for ensuring that risks are properly addressed 

and taken into account in strategic and busi-

ness planning. Business units are responsible 

for managing the risks involved in their own 

operations. Th e risk management function 

supports the implementation of risk manage-

ment policy and develops Group-wide ways 

of working. External and internal auditors 

monitor the risk management process.

Th e risk management function prepares a 

quarterly risk report for the Audit Commit-

RISK MANAGEMENT

tee, Corporate Management, internal audit 

and external auditors. Th e Group Executive 

Committee, Audit Committee and Board of 

Directors also review key risks and risk man-

agement actions on a regular basis.

Strategic and business risks

Strategic risks relate to Outokumpu’s busi-

ness portfolio, the market situation and ma-

jor investments. Business risks are related 

to the operational environment, custom-

er behavior and economic outlook. Outo-

kumpu’s key strategic and business risks are 

presented below.

The global stainless steel market
Th e market for stainless steel is divided into 

three main regions: Asia, Europe and the 

Americas. Signifi cant fl ows of trade between 

the regions take place despite some political 

barriers. Outokumpu’s key production facili-

ties are located in Europe and it has a global 

sales and distribution network.

Outokumpu’s main market area is Eu-

rope. Th e changes that take place in diff erent 

market areas as well as regional diff erences 

– such as the prevailing levels of supply and 

demand, price levels, or currency rates – can 

have an impact on Outokumpu’s competitive 

position and fi nancial performance. Because 

of the very good demand prospects for stain-

less steel in China, a lot of new production 

capacity is being built there. 

It is now forecast that in 2007 demand 

and supply of stainless steel in China will be 

close to balance. Th is may lead to continued 

tough competition in the sector, with prices 

falling over the longer term. Outokumpu 

has already taken action and, by maintain-

ing cost-effi  cient production, broadening its 

product off ering, improving its delivery reli-

ability and developing distribution channels, 

is making preparations for a possible con-

tinuation of overcapacity situation and the 

adverse eff ects of it. As set out in the Group’s 

strategy, Outokumpu will also study ways of 

strengthening its position outside Europe in 

the years ahead.

Cyclical nature of 
stainless steel demand
Demand for Outokumpu’s main product, 

austenitic stainless steel, is sensitive not only 

to fl uctuations in actual end-user demand, 

but also to changes in the price of nickel, 

the most valuable alloying element. Stock-

ists may speculate on changes in the nickel 

price by timing their purchases, which can 

complicate the forecasting of demand and 

aff ect Outokumpu’s sales volumes. Outo-

kumpu seeks to mitigate this risk in several 

ways, such as by increasing the number of 

direct end-use customers. 

Raw materials and energy
Apart from its own ferrochrome production, 

Outokumpu is dependent on external suppli-

ers for the raw materials used in production 

of stainless steel, and, as a rule, enters into 

long-term agreements with them. Th e avail-

ability and price of many raw materials and 

energy are subject to fl uctuation. Reduced 

availability of raw materials and energy or 

a signifi cant rise in their price may have an 

adverse eff ect on both Outokumpu’s opera-

tions and profi ts if the risk mitigation meas-

ures by Outokumpu prove insuffi  cient or if 

price increases cannot be passed on to cus-

tomers. Th e carbon dioxide emissions trad-

ing that started in the European Union in 

Risk management 
supports the 

Group’s strategy 
and business 

targets and helps to
define a balanced 

risk profile
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the beginning of 2005 aff ects Outokumpu 

mainly through possible increases in the price 

of electrical energy. Outokumpu has pre-

pared to meet higher electricity prices not 

only through hedging, but also by stepping 

up the effi  ciency of energy use in its plants, 

concluding long-term delivery agreements 

and acquiring stakes in power generation 

companies. 

Competition in the stainless industry
Competition in the stainless steel industry is 

fi erce, and factors such as increases in competi-

tors’ production capacity, a decrease in prices 

or the development of better or new products 

and services can weaken Outokumpu’s posi-

tion in relation to its competitors. Producers 

also compete with manufacturers of substi-

tute materials such as other metals, plastics 

and composites. On the other hand, stainless 

steel is being used in many new applications 

where other materials, such as carbon steel, 

have previously been used. One of the key 

advantages of stainless steel over competing 

materials is its low life-cycle cost.

Operational risks

Operational risks arise as a consequence of in-

adequate or failed internal processes, people’s 

actions, systems or external events. Risks of 

this kind are often connected with a plant’s 

operations, projects, information technol-

ogy or infrastructure, and if they material-

ize, can lead to personal injury, liability, loss 

of property, the suspension of operations or 

environmental impacts. Risk surveys are car-

ried out on an ongoing basis to assess such 

risks and keep them under control. Part of 

Outokumpu’s operational risks are covered 

by insurance. 

Property damage and 
business interruptions
Th e majority of Outokumpu’s production is 

located in large industrial areas and comprises 

a number of separate buildings and produc-

tion lines. Th e production of stainless steel 

also involves the integration of production 

and logistics between the Group’s facilities 

in Tornio, Avesta, Sheffi  eld and other smaller 

facilities. Production is capital intensive and 

a large part of the Group’s operating capital 

is tied up in the above-mentioned facilities. 

For example, a fi re or a serious machine fail-

ure can lead to major damage to property 

or loss of production, or have other indirect 

adverse eff ects on Outokumpu’s operations. 

Outokumpu endeavors to guard against such 

risks by continually evaluating its production 

facilities and processes from a risk manage-

ment perspective and by arranging reason-

able insurance coverage for a large part of 

these risks.

Financial risks

Financial risks comprise market, liquidity 

and credit risks. One of the main market 

risks is the price of nickel, which is used as 

an alloying material in stainless steel produc-

tion. A signifi cant portion of the risk result-

ing from fl uctuations in the nickel price is 

passed on to customers in the form of an 

alloy surcharge that is added to base prices. 

In the short-term, however, variations in the 

price of nickel can feed through into Ou-

tokumpu’s earnings. Price fl uctuations also 

have a major impact on the Group’s work-

ing capital. 

Financial risk management issues are dis-

cussed in further detail in note 19 to the 

consolidated fi nancial statements.

Status of key risks
 and risk manage-

ment actions is 
addressed regularly 

in performance 
management 

reviews
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Shares and 

share capital

On December 

31, 2006, Outo-

kumpu Oyj’s fully 

paid and registered 

share capital totaled 

EUR 308 125 943.50 and it consisted of 

181 250 555 shares. Each share entitles its 

holder to one vote at general meetings of 

shareholders. Th e Company’s shares have 

been entered in the Finnish book-entry se-

curities system. According to the Articles of 

Association, the share capital of Outokumpu 

Oyj is a minimum of EUR 150 000 000 

and a maximum of EUR 1 200 000 000. 

Th e issued share capital may be increased 

or decreased within these limits without 

amending the Articles of Association.

Listing of shares

Outokumpu Oyj’s shares are listed on the 

Helsinki Stock Exchange. Th e trading sym-

bol is OUT1V.

Treasury shares

At the end of 2006, the Company held 

218 603 treasury shares. Th e repurchases 

have been made between April 9 and No-

vember 27, 2001. Th e amount corresponds 

to 0.1% of the Company’s shares and vot-

ing rights.

State ownership

Th e Finnish State reduced its holding of the 

Company’s shares and voting rights from 

37.8% to 31.1% in November 2006, through 

sale of shares (by book building). According 

to a resolution passed by the Finnish Parlia-

ment in June 2001, the state’s shareholding in 

Outokumpu can be reduced down to 10%. 

Any reduction below this level would require 

a new parliamentary resolution.

Redemption obligation

According to the Articles of Association, a 

shareholder whose proportion of all the Com-

pany’s shares or aggregate voting rights reaches 

or exceeds 33 1/3% or 50% is obligated, upon 

request by the other shareholders, to redeem 

their shares at a price calculated in the manner 

specifi ed in the Articles of Association. 

Board’s authorization to 

increase share capital

On March 30, 2006 the Annual General 

Meeting authorized the Board of Directors 

to increase the Company’s share capital by 

issuing new shares and/or issuing convertible 

bonds. On the basis of this authorization, the 

Company’s share capital may be increased by 

a maximum of EUR 30 800 000 by issuing 

a maximum of 18 117 647 new shares for 

subscription. 

 
INCREASES IN SHARE CAPITAL 2002–2007

  

  Number of shares Share capital, €

Share capital on Jan. 1, 2002 124 700 050 211 990 085.00

Share subscription under the 1999 convertible bond

 Apr. 8–Nov. 29, 2002 +872 161 213 472 758.70

Rights offering Nov. 28–Dec. 17, 2002

 Primary subscriptions registered on Dec. 23, 2002 +46 944 402 293 278 242.10

 Secondary subscriptions registered on Jan. 3, 2003 +142 506 293 520 502.30

Share subscription under the 1999 convertible bond

 Apr. 8–Nov. 28, 2003 +255 417 293 954 711.20

Share subscription under the 1998 option warrants

 Sep. 10–Dec. 19, 2003 +659 629 295 076 080.80

Share issue to Boliden Mineral AB on Dec. 31, 2003 +5 000 000 303 756 080.50

Share subscription under the 1998 option warrants

 Dec. 20–31, 2003 +2 195 303 759 812.00

 Jan. 1–Mar. 31, 2004 +2 174 244 307 276 026.80

Share subscription under the 1999 convertible bond

 Jan. 2–Apr. 5, 2004 +499 951 308 125 943.50

Share capital on Dec. 31, 2006 181 250 555 308 125 943.50

Shares subscribed with 2003A options 
Oct. 14–Dec. 29, 2006, registered on Jan 11, 2007 +33 323 308 182 592.60

Share capital on Jan. 31, 2007 181 283 878 308 182 592.60 

Treasury shares on Dec. 31, 2006 218 603 371 625.10

Number of shares outstanding on Dec. 31, 2006 181 031 952 307 754 318.40
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Th e Board of Directors is authorized to 

decide who will have the right to subscribe for 

the new shares or convertible bonds. Th e Board 

of Directors may deviate from the sharehold-

ers’ pre-emptive subscription right, provided 

that such deviation is justifi ed by an impor-

tant fi nancial reason such as strengthening 

the Company’s capital structure, or fi nancing 

corporate acquisitions or restructurings. Th e 

Board of Directors may not deviate from the 

shareholders’ pre-emptive subscription rights 

in favour of persons that are closely connected 

to the Company in the meaning of Chap-

ter 1, Section 4, sub-section 1 of the Finn-

ish Companies Act. Th e Board of Directors 

decides the subscription price and the other 

terms and conditions connected with the issue 

of shares or convertible bonds. Th e Board of 

Directors may decide that the subscription 

price for new shares be paid by means of con-

tribution in kind, set-off  or otherwise subject 

to specifi c terms and conditions determined 

by the Board of Directors. 

Th e authorization to issue new shares is 

valid until the Annual General Meeting in 

2007, but no longer than 12 months from the 

decision of the General Meeting. Th e Board 

has not exercised the authorization.

Board’s authorization to repurchase 

the Company’s own shares

On March 30, 2006 the Annual General Meet-

ing authorized the Board of Directors to re-

purchase the Company’s own shares (treasury 

shares). A maximum of 18 000 000 shares 

can be repurchased, which currently equals 

9,93% of the company’s issued and outstand-

ing shares. According to the Finnish Compa-

nies Act the aggregate maximum number of 

own shares the Company has in its possession 

may never exceed 10% of the Company’s is-

sued and outstanding shares. Shares may be 

repurchased in accordance with a decision by 

the Board of Directors through purchases in 

public trading on the Helsinki Stock Exchange 

at the prevailing market price. Th e purchase 

price shall be paid to the sellers within the 

time limit provided in the rules of the Hel-

sinki Stock Exchange and the Finnish Central 

Securities Depository Ltd. Th e shares shall be 

repurchased with distributable funds and ac-

cordingly repurchasing will reduce distribut-

able equity of the Company. As the number 

of shares to be repurchased is limited as ex-

plained above and as the Company has only 

one class of shares, repurchases of own shares 

are not likely to have a signifi cant impact on 

the relative holdings or voting rights between 

shareholders of the Company. Since shares will 

be repurchased in public trading at the Hel-

sinki Stock Exchange without knowledge of 

the sellers’ identity, it is not possible to deter-

mine whether and to what extent the repur-

chase could aff ect the proportionate holdings 

of persons that are closely connected to the 

Company in the meaning of chapter 1, sec-

tion 4, subsection 1 of the Finnish Companies 

Act. Th e Board of Directors is authorized to 

decide on other matters and measures related 

to the repurchasing of own shares. 

Th e authorization to repurchase shares is 

valid until the Annual General Meeting in 

2007, but no longer than 12 months from the 

decision of the General Meeting. Th e Board 

has not exercised this authorization.

Board’s authorization to transfer 

the Company’s own shares

On March 30, 2006 the Annual General 

Meeting authorized the Board of Directors 

to transfer a maximum of 18 000 000 of the 

Company’s own shares on one or several oc-

For the financial year 
2006, a dividend of 
EUR 1.10 per share 

is proposed

Finnish State 31.1%

Finnish Social Insurance 
Institution 8.8%

International shareholders 40.3%

Private Finnish 
investors 6.8%

SHAREHOLDERS BY GROUP 
JANUARY 31, 2007

Other Finnish institutional 
investors 13.0%
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SHAREHOLDERS BY GROUP ON JANUARY 31, 2007
  

Shareholder group Number of shares %
Finnish corporations 2 435 906 1.3
Financial and insurance institutions 6 371 322 3.5
The public sector and public organizations 
 The Finnish State 56 440 597 31.1
 The Finnish Social Insurance Institution 16 010 838 8.8
 Other 11 075 415 6.1
Non-profi t organizations 3 601 684 2.0
Households/private persons 12 317 558 6.8
International shareholders 73 030 558 40.3
Shares not transferred to book-entry securities system 1 590 0.0
Total 181 283 878 100.0

 
DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS ON JANUARY 31, 2007
  

Number of shares Number of % of Total % of Average
  shareholders shareholders shares share capital shareholding

1–100 2 903 18.9 179 119 0.1 62
101–500 6 504 42.4 1 787 507 1.0 275
501–1 000 2 547 16.6 1 947 886 1.1 765
1 001–10 000 3 125 20.4 8 545 840 4.7 2 735
10 001–100 000 206 1.3 5 924 518 3.3 28 760
100 001–1 000 000 39 0.3 10 213 657 5.6 261 889
> 1 000 000 8 0.1 83 379 768 46.0 10 422 471
    15 332 100.0 111 978 295 61.8 7 304
Nominee accounts held by custodian banks  69 305 583 38.2

Shares not transferred to 
book-entry securities system   1 590 0.0
Total   181 283 878 100.0

 
PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS ON JANUARY 31, 2007
  

Shareholders Number of shares %
The Finnish State 56 440 597 31.1
The Finnish Social Insurance Institution 16 010 838 8.8
Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 3 962 864 2.2
Odin Norden 2 208 104 1.2
Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 1 347 354 0.7
Finnish State Pension Fund 1 200 000 0.7
Tapiola Mutual Pension Insurance Company 1 187 400 0.7
Etera Mutual Pension Insurance Company 1 022 611 0.6
Investment fund OP-Delta 795 407 0.4
Investment fund Sampo Suomi Osake 683 000 0.4
Nominee accounts held by custodian banks 1) 69 305 583 38.2
Other shareholders total 27 120 120 15.0
Total number of shares 181 283 878 100.0

1) Shareholding of the companies belonging to Barclays Plc. has on November 17, 2006 increased to 5.3% of Outokumpu shares. 
  According to the information available, no other nominee holdings exceed 5% of the total shares.

casions. Th e Board of Directors was author-

ized to decide on the recipients of the shares 

and the procedure and terms to be applied. 

Th e Board of Directors may decide to trans-

fer shares in deviation from the pre-emptive 

right of the shareholders to the Company’s 

shares. Shares can be transferred as a consid-

eration when acquiring assets for the Com-

pany’s business or as a consideration in pos-

sible corporate acquisitions, in the manner 

and to the extent decided by the Board of 

Directors. Th e Board of Directors can de-

cide to sell shares through public trading on 

the Helsinki Stock Exchange to obtain funds 

for the Company for investments and pos-

sible corporate acquisitions. Shares can also 

be transferred as an element in incentive and 

bonus schemes directed to the Company’s 

personnel, including the CEO and his/her 

deputy. Except as separately authorized, the 

Board of Directors may not deviate from the 

shareholders’ pre-emptive rights to shares in 

favor of persons that are closely connected to 

the Company in the meaning of chapter 1, 

section 4, sub-section 1 of the Finnish Com-

panies Act. Th e transfer price may not be less 

than the fair market value of the shares at the 

time of the transfer as set in public trading 

on the Helsinki Stock Exchange. Th e con-

sideration can be paid in kind, by means of 

set-off  or otherwise subject to specifi c terms 

and conditions determined by the Board of 

Directors. Th e Board of Directors is author-

ized to decide on other matters and measures 

related to the transfer of own shares.

Th e authorization to transfer shares is valid 

until the Annual General Meeting in 2007, 

but no longer than 12 months from the deci-

sion of the General Meeting. Th e Board has 

not exercised this authorization.

2003 option program

Th e Annual General Meeting held in 2003 

passed a resolution on a stock option program 

for management. Stock options are part of the 

Group’s incentive and commitment-building 

system for key employees, and the objective 

is to encourage recipients to work in the long 

term to increase shareholder value. Th e re-



OUTOKUMPU ANNUAL REPORT 2006 43

SHARES AND SHAREHOLDERS

ward system is based on both earnings and 

the Company’s relative performance, with 

rewards geared to accomplishments. 

Th e total amount of share options that 

may have been issued was 5 100 000, enti-

tling holders of stock options to subscribe for 

5 100 000 new shares in the Company in the 

period 2006–2011. Stock options have been 

marked 2003A, 2003B and 2003C and have 

been distributed by decision of the Board 

of Directors, without additional considera-

tion, in 2004, 2005 and 2006, in deviation 

from shareholders’ pre-emptive rights, to the 

key persons employed by the Outokumpu 

Group. In deciding on the number of stock 

options to be distributed annually in total 

and to each individual, the Board of Direc-

tors assessed the Group’s earnings trend and 

performance by comparing, for example, the 

trend in earnings per share with the trend 

for the same key ratio in peer companies. In 

accordance with the share ownership plan of 

the program members of the Group Execu-

tive Committee are obligated to purchase 

Outokumpu shares with 10% of the income 

they obtain from stock options. 

Th e subscription price for shares through 

the exercise of stock option 2003A is the 

trading volume-weighted average price of 

the Outokumpu Oyj share on the Helsinki 

Stock Exchange from December 1, 2003 

to February 29, 2004, with stock option 

2003B it is the trading volume-weighted 

average price of the Outokumpu Oyj share 

on the Helsinki Stock Exchange from De-

cember 1, 2004 to February 28, 2005 and 

with stock options 2003C it is the trading 

volume-weighted average price of the Ou-

tokumpu Oyj share on the Helsinki Stock 

Exchange from December 1, 2005 to Febru-

ary 28, 2006. On each dividend record date, 

the share subscription price of stock options 

will be reduced by the amount of dividends 

to be decided after the close of the period 

for determining the subscription price and 

prior to share subscription.

Th e subscription period for shares with 

stock option 2003A is from September 1, 

2006 to March 1, 2009, with stock option 

2003B it is from September 1, 2007 to March 

1, 2010 and with stock option 2003C it is from 

September 1, 2008 to March 1, 2011. 

In February 2004, the Board of Directors 

confi rmed that a total of 742 988 stock op-

tions 2003A be distributed to 116 persons in 

management positions of Outokumpu. Th e 

maximum number of 2003A stock options 

was 1 700 000. Members of the Group Ex-

ecutive Committee received 62% and other 

key persons received 45.25% of the maximum 

number of 2003A stock options. Th e number 

of 2003A stock options distributed was de-

cided on the basis of the earnings criteria es-

tablished in June 2003, and which were the 

Group’s earnings per share and share price 

performance outperforming the share price 

trend of peer companies. Th e additional earn-

ings criterion for Group Executive Committee 

members was the Group’s gearing. Trading 

with Outokumpu Oyj’s stock options 2003A 

commenced on the main list of the Helsinki 

Stock Exchange as of September 1, 2006. Th e 

unallocated 1 040 698 stock options have been 

annulled and removed from the Finnish book-

entry system. By the end of year 2006, a total 

of 33 323 Outokumpu Oyj shares had been 

subscribed for on the basis of 2003A stock 

options.  An aggregate maximum of 625 979 

Outokumpu Oyj shares can be subscribed for 

with the remaining 2003A stock options. In 

accordance with the terms and conditions of 

the option program, the dividend adjusted 

share subscription price for a stock option 

was EUR 9.55 at the end of 2006.

In February 2005, the Board of Directors 

confi rmed that a total of 1 148 820 stock op-

tions 2003B be distributed to 130 persons in 

management positions of Outokumpu. Th e 

maximum number of 2003B stock options 

was 1 700 000. Members of the Group Ex-

ecutive Committee received 55.2% and other 

key persons received 75% of the maximum 

number of 2003B stock options. Th e number 

of 2003B stock options distributed was decided 

on the basis of the earnings criteria established 

in February 2004, and which were the Group’s 

earnings per share and share price performance 

outperforming the share price trend of peer 

companies. Th e additional earnings criteri-

on for Group Executive Committee mem-

bers was the Group’s gearing. At the end of 

2006 an aggregate maximum of 1 028 820 

Outokumpu Oyj shares could be subscribed 

for with 2003B stock options. In accordance 

with the terms and conditions of the option 

program, the original subscription price for 

a stock option was EUR 13.56 per share, 

from which subsequent annual dividends 

will be deducted.

In February 2006, the Board of Directors 

decided that a total of 97 500 stock options 

2003C be distributed to 7 members of the 

Group Executive Committee. Th e maximum 

number of 2003C stock options was 1 160 000. 

Members of the Group Executive Committee 

received 25% of the maximum number of 

2003C stock options. No stock options were 

distributed to other key persons, because the 

earnings criteria established in March 2005, 

the Group’s operating profi t in 2005 and rela-

tive development of total shareholder return, 

were not achieved. Th e additional earnings 

criterion for the Group Executive Commit-

tee members was the Group’s gearing and 

the established gearing target was achieved.  

At the end of 2006 an aggregate maximum 

of 87 500 Outokumpu Oyj shares could be 

subscribed for with 2003C stock options. In 

accordance with the terms and conditions of 

the option program, the original subscription 

price for a stock was EUR 13.69 per share, 

from which subsequent annual dividends 

will be deducted.

Following the subscriptions with 2003 stock 

options, Outokumpu Oyj’s share capital may 

be increased by a maximum of EUR 2 961 908 

and the number of shares by a maximum of 

1 742 299. Th e number of shares that can 

be subscribed for on the basis of the stock 

options corresponds to 1.0% of Company’s 

shares and voting rights.

Share-based incentive 

program for 2006–2010

On February 2, 2006, Outokumpu’s Board 

of Directors confi rmed a share-based incen-

tive program as part of the key employee 
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SHARE PRICE

PEER GROUP SHARE PRICE
PERFORMANCE

Including January 2007.

tion, according to the share ownership plan 

of the Outokumpu Group the members of 

the Group Executive Committee are obliged 

to own Outokumpu shares received under 

the incentive programs for the value of their 

annual gross base salary.

Management shareholding

On January 31, 2007 members of the Board 

of Directors and the Group Executive Com-

mittee held a total of 33 644 Company shares, 

corresponding to 0.02 % of the Company’s 

shares and voting rights. If the 2003A, 2003B 

and 2003C options were exercised in their 

entirety and if the fi rst two earning periods 

of the share-based incentive program for 

2006–2010 yielded the maximum number 

of shares, shareholdings and aggregate vot-

ing rights held by the members of the Group 

Executive Committee would increase by 0.13 

percentage points pursuant to the option 

warrants, and by 0.07 percentage points pur-

suant to the share-based incentive program. 

Details of management shareholdings are 

given on page 50.

Dividend proposal for 2006

For the fi nancial year 2006, a dividend of 

EUR 1.10 per share is proposed. Th e ef-

fective dividend yield is 3.7%. Th e average 

dividend payout ratio during the past fi ve 

years is 36.7%. Share price development, 

trading volume and share-related key fi g-

ures of the Outokumpu share are shown in 

the table on page 45.

Very favorable share price 

development in 2006

Outokumpu share was one of the best per-

formers on the Helsinki Stock Exchange in 

2006 with an increase of 136% year-on-year 

(OMXH-index: +18%). Also in relation to 

the peer companies the Outokumpu share 

performed very well. Th e share price rose 

from EUR 12.55 at the end of the previous 

year to EUR 29.66 at the end of the year. 

Th e year-high quotation of the share was at 

EUR 30.39 in December and the year-low 

at EUR 12.60 in January. 

Th e trading volume in 2006 was 78% 

higher than in 2005 and amounted to 319 

million shares. In November, the Finnish 

State sold 12 million shares (6.6% of all Ou-

tokumpu shares) at a price of EUR 24.65 per 

share, reducing its holding from 37.8% to 

31.1%. Th e total turnover in 2006 was EUR 

6.3 billion (2005: EUR 2.1 billion). 
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incentive and commitment system of the 

company. Th e share incentive program will 

last fi ve years, comprising three earning pe-

riods of three calendar years each. Th e earn-

ing periods commence on January 1, 2006, 

January 1, 2007 and January 1, 2008. Th e 

Board of Directors decides on the persons 

entitled to participate in the program for 

each earning period. At the end of 2006, 138 

people were in the scope of the program for 

the earning period 2006–2008. On Febru-

ary 1, 2007, 138 people were confi rmed to 

be in the scope of the program for the earn-

ing period 2007–2009. Th e objective of the 

share-based incentive program is to reward 

for good performance, which supports the 

Company’s strategy and at the same time to 

direct the management’s attention to increas-

ing the company’s shareholder value over a 

longer period of time. Th e program off ers 

a possibility to receive Outokumpu shares 

and cash (equaling to the amount of taxes) as 

an incentive reward, if the targets set by the 

Board for each earning period are achieved. 

Th e aggregate number of shares to be distrib-

uted for each of the earning periods cannot 

exceed 500 000 shares. In accordance with 

targets confi rmed for the earning periods 

2006–2008 and 2007–2009 the reward is 

based on relative development of TSR (To-

tal Shareholder Return) (50 % of the maxi-

mum reward) and achieving targets set for 

Operational Excellence programs (50% of 

the maximum award).

If persons covered by the fi rst and second 

earning periods of the share-based incentive 

program were to receive the number of shares 

in accordance with the maximum reward (a 

total of 625 750 shares), their shareholding 

obtained via the program would amount to 

0.3% of the Company’s shares and the voting 

rights. Under the program, entitled persons 

must keep the shares in their possession for 

at least two years from their receipt. In addi-
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SHARE-RELATED KEY FIGURES

  

  FAS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS
  2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Earnings per share € 1.15 0.65 2.12 (2.01) 5.31

Equity per share € 11.14 11.54 13.65 11.31 16.87

Dividend per share € 0.40 0.20 0.50 0.45 1.101)

Dividend payout ratio % 43.5 32.1 23.6 neg. 20.7

Dividend yield % 4.8 1.9 3.8 3.6 3.7

Price/earnings ratio  7.2 16.7 6.2 neg. 5.6

 

Development of share price

 Average trading price € 10.28 8.75 12.52 11.89 19.77

 Lowest trading price € 8.14 6.87 9.93 9.63 12.60

 Highest trading price € 12.67 11.41 14.46 14.72 30.39

 Trading price at the end of period € 8.30 10.77 13.15 12.55 29.66

 Change during the period % (22.6) 29.8 22.1 (4.6) 136.3

Change in the OMXH-index during the period % (34.4) 4.4 3.3 31.1 17.9

Market capitalization at the end of period 2) € million 1 420 1 911 2 377 2 272 5 369

Development in trading volume

 Trading volume 1 000 shares 58 198 75 574 123 832 179 289 319 345

 In relation to weighted

 average number of shares % 42.3 44.0 68.8 99.0 176.4

 

Adjusted average number of shares 2)  137 658 458 171 623 035 180 056 920 181 031 415 181 033 168

Number of shares at the end of period 2) 171 110 613 177 450 725 180 752 022 181 031 952 181 031 952

2003A stock options have been listed on the Helsinki Stock Exchange since September 1, 2006. For further details see page 43.
1) The Board of Directors’ proposal to the Annual General Meeting.
2) Excluding treasury shares.
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OUTOKUMPU CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Th e Outokumpu Group’s parent company, 

Outokumpu Oyj, is a public limited liability 

company incorporated and domiciled in Fin-

land. In its corporate governance and man-

agement, Outokumpu Oyj complies with 

Finnish legislation, the Company’s Articles 

of Association and the Corporate Govern-

ance policy resolved and approved by the 

Board of Directors. Outokumpu follows the 

Corporate Governance Recommendations 

for Listed Companies published jointly in 

December 2003 by the Helsinki Stock Ex-

change, the Central Chamber of Commerce 

of Finland and the Confederation of Finn-

ish Industry and Employers. In one excep-

tion to these recommendations, Outokumpu 

has both the Board Nomination and Com-

pensation Committee and the Shareholders’ 

Nomination Committee appointed by the 

Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. 

Furthermore, Outokumpu complies with the 

regulations and recommendations issued by 

the Helsinki Stock Exchange.

Group structure

Outokumpu’s Corporate Management con-

sists of the Chief Executive Offi  cer, mem-

bers of the Group Executive Committee, and 

managers and experts who assist the CEO 

and the Group Executive Committee mem-

bers. Th e task of Corporate Management is 

to manage the Group as a whole, and its du-

ties include coordination and execution work 

in the areas of strategy and planning, busi-

ness development, fi nancial control, internal 

audit, human resources, environment, health 

and safety, investor relations and communica-

tions, legal aff airs as well as treasury and risk 

management. In addition to the resources cen-

tralized under Corporate Management, func-

tional steering across the businesses has also 

been organized into Commercial Operations, 

Production Operations and Corporate Serv-

ices functions. 

Th e businesses are organized into six busi-

ness units: Tornio Works, Avesta Works, Hot 

Rolled Plate, Th in Strip, OSTP (Outokumpu 

Stainless Tubular Products) and Long Products. 

Th e business units report directly to individu-

al Group Executive Committee members. In 

the reporting, the business units are consoli-

dated to two divisions according to the types 

of product produced; General Stainless and 

Specialty Stainless.

As a discontinued operation, Outokumpu 

Copper Tube and Brass is managed separately 

from the Group through the Outokumpu Cop-

per Tube and Brass’ Board of Directors.

Th e Outokumpu Group is managed in accord-

ance with its business organization, in which the 

legal company structure of the Group provides 

the legal framework for operations. Clear fi nan-

cial and operational targets have been defi ned 

for all the Group’s operational businesses.

Tasks and responsibilities 

of governing bodies

Th e ultimate responsibility for the Group 

management and Group operations lies with 

the governing bodies of the parent company 

Outokumpu Oyj: the General Meeting of 

Shareholders, the Board of Directors and 

the President and Chief Executive Offi  cer 

(CEO). Th e Group Executive Committee 

operates within the authorities of the CEO 

and has been formed for the effi  cient man-

agement of the Group.

General Meeting of Shareholders
Th e General Meeting of Shareholders nor-

mally convenes once a year. Under the Finnish 

Companies Act, certain important decisions 

fall within the exclusive domain of the Gen-

eral Meeting of Shareholders. Th ese decisions 

include the approval of fi nancial statements, 

decisions on dividends and increasing or de-

creasing share capital, amendments to the 

Articles of Association and election of the 

Board of Directors and auditors.

Th e Board of Directors convenes a Gen-

eral Meeting of Shareholders. Th e Board can 

decide to convene a General Meeting on its 

own initiative, but is obliged to convene a 

General Meeting if the auditor or sharehold-

ers holding at least 10% of the Company’s 

shares so request. 

Furthermore, each shareholder has the 

right to bring a matter that falls within the 

domain of the General Meeting before a Gen-

eral Meeting of Shareholders provided that a 

written request to do this has been received 

by the Board of Directors early enough to 

allow the matter to be placed on the agenda 

included in the notice announcing that a Gen-

eral Meeting is being convened. According 

to its Articles of Association, Outokumpu 

has only a single class of shares. All shares 

therefore have equal voting power at General 

Meetings of Shareholders.

Board of Directors
Th e general objective of the Board of Direc-

tors is to direct the Company’s business in 

a manner that secures a signifi cant and sus-

Specialty Stainless division

General Stainless division

BUSINESS UNIT OF:

ORGANIZATION

CORPORATE SERVICES
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tained increase in the value of the Company 

for its shareholders. To this end the members 

of the Board off er their expertise and expe-

rience for the benefi t of the Company. Th e 

tasks and responsibilities of the Company’s 

Board of Directors are determined on the 

basis of the Finnish Companies Act as well 

as other applicable legislation. Th e Board has 

general authority to decide and act in all mat-

ters not reserved for other corporate govern-

ing bodies by law or under the provisions of 

the Company’s Articles of Association. Th e 

Board’s general task is to organize the Com-

pany’s management and operations. In all 

situations, the Board must act in accordance 

with the Company’s best interests. 

Th e Board of Directors has established 

rules of procedure, which defi ne its tasks and 

operating principles. Th e main duties of the 

Board of Directors are as follows:

With respect to directing the Company’s 

business and strategies:

To decide on the Group’s basic strategies 

and monitor their implementation;

To decide on annual authority frames for 

the Group’s capital expenditure, monitor 

their implementation, review such plans 

quarterly and decide on changes;

To decide on individual investments or 

items of expenditure that are included in 

the authorized capital expenditure frames 

and have a value exceeding EUR 20 mil-

lion, as well as on other major and stra-

tegically important investments;

To decide on any individual business ac-

quisitions and divestments within the cur-

rent scope of business, having a value ex-

ceeding EUR 10 million;

To decide on any fi nancing arrangements 

by any Group company which either ex-

ceed EUR 150 million, are organized by 

way of public off erings, or which are oth-

erwise out of the Group’s normal course 

of business; and

To decide on any other commitments by 

any of the Group companies that are out of 

the ordinary either in terms of value or na-

ture, taking into account the size, structure 

and fi eld of operation of the Group. 

•

•

•

•

•

•

With respect to organizing the Company’s 

management and operations:

To nominate and dismiss the CEO and his 

deputy, and to decide on their terms of serv-

ice, including incentive schemes, on the basis 

of a proposal made by the Board Nomina-

tion and Compensation Committee;

To nominate and dismiss members of the 

Group Executive Committee, to defi ne 

their areas of responsibility, and to decide 

on terms of service, including incentive 

schemes, on the basis of a proposal by the 

Board Nomination and Compensation 

Committee;

To decide on the composition of boards 

of directors of certain key subsidiaries of 

the Group;

To monitor the adequacy and allocation of 

the Group’s top management resources;

To decide on any signifi cant changes to the 

Group’s business organization;

To defi ne the Group’s ethical values and 

methods of working;

To ensure that policies outlining the princi-

ples of corporate governance are in place;

To ensure that policies outlining the prin-

ciples of managing the Company’s insider 

issues are in use; and

To ensure that the Company has other guide-

lines concerning matters which the Board 

deems necessary and fall within the scope 

of the Board’s duties and authority. 

With respect to the preparation of matters 

to be resolved by General Meetings of Share-

holders:

To establish a dividend policy and issue a 

proposal on dividend distribution; and

To make other proposals to General Meet-

ings of Shareholders. 

With respect to fi nancial control and risk 

management:

To discuss and approve interim reports and 

annual accounts;

To monitor signifi cant risks related to the 

Group’s operations and management of 

such risks; and

To ensure that adequate procedures con-

cerning risk management are in place. 

Th e Board of Directors also assesses its own 

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

activities on a regular basis. 

Th e Board of Directors is quorate when more 

than half of its members are present. A de-

cision by the Board of Directors shall be 

the opinion supported by more than half 

the members present at a meeting. In the 

event of a tie, the Chairman shall have the 

casting vote. 

Th e Annual General Meeting elects the 

chairman, the vice chairman and the other 

members of the Board of Directors for a term 

expiring at the close of the following Annual 

General Meeting. Th e entire Board is there-

fore elected at each Annual General Meeting. 

A Board member may be removed from of-

fi ce at any time by a resolution passed by a 

General Meeting of Shareholders. Proposals to 

the Annual General Meeting concerning the 

election of Board members which have been 

made known to the Board prior to the Annual 

General Meeting will be made public if a given 

proposal is supported by shareholders holding a 

minimum of 10% of all the Company’s shares 

and voting rights and if the person proposed 

has consented to such nomination.

Under the Articles of Association, the 

Board shall have a minimum of fi ve and a 

maximum of twelve members. At the 2006 

Annual General Meeting, eight members were 

elected to the Board of Directors. Th e CEO 

of Outokumpu is not a Board member.

Th e Company’s largest shareholders have 

confi rmed that they are in favor of a principle 

according to which members of the Compa-

ny’s Board of Directors should, as a rule, be 

qualifi ed experts from outside the Company. 

Seven of the Board’s eight members are in-

dependent of the Company (Evert Henkes, 

Jukka Härmälä, Ole Johansson, Anna Nils-

son-Ehle, Leena Saarinen, Soili Suonoja and 

Taisto Turunen) and six are independent of 

both the Company and its signifi cant share-

holders (Evert Henkes, Jukka Härmälä, Ole 

Johansson, Anna Nilsson-Ehle, Leena Saarinen 

and Soili Suonoja). Th e Board of Directors 

shall meet at least fi ve times a year. In 2006, the 

Board met 11 times. Th e average attendance 

of members at Board meetings was 93%.
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Board committees
Th e Board of Directors has set up two per-

manent committees from among its members 

and confi rmed rules of procedure for these 

committees. Th e committees report on their 

work to the Board of Directors. 

Th e Audit Committee comprises three 

Board members who are independent of the 

Company: Ole Johansson (Chairman), Leena 

Saarinen and Taisto Turunen. Mr. Johansson 

holds a B.Sc.(Econ.) degree and his working 

experience includes several years as the Chief 

Financial Offi  cer of a publicly listed com-

pany. Th e task of the Audit Committee is to 

deal with matters relating to fi nancial state-

ments, auditing work, internal controls, the 

scope of internal and external audits, billing 

by auditors, the Group’s fi nancial policies and 

other procedures for managing the Group’s 

risks. In addition, the Committee prepares 

a recommendation to the Company’s largest 

shareholders concerning the election of an 

external auditor and auditing fees. Th e Audit 

Committee met four times during 2006.

Th e Nomination and Compensation Com-

mittee comprises the Chairman of the Board 

and two other Board members who are in-

dependent of the Company: Jukka Härmälä 

(Chairman), Evert Henkes, and Anna Nils-

son-Ehle. Th e tasks of the Committee do not 

comply in all respects with the Corporate 

Governance Recommendations for Listed 

Companies published by the Helsinki Stock 

Exchange, the Central Chamber of Com-

merce of Finland and the Confederation of 

Finnish Industry and Employers. Th e task of 

the Nomination and Compensation Com-

mittee is to prepare proposals for the Board 

of Directors concerning appointment of the 

company’s top management – excluding the 

Board of Directors – and the principles of their 

compensation. Th e Committee is authorized 

to determine the terms of service and benefi ts 

of the Group Executive Committee members 

other than the CEO and the Deputy CEO. 

Th e Nomination and Compensation Com-

mittee met fi ve times during 2006. 

For attending to specifi c tasks, the Board 

of Directors can also set up temporary work-

ing groups from among its members. Th ese 

working groups report to the Board. During 

2006 no such working groups were set up.

Shareholders’ Nomination Committee
Outokumpu’s 2006 Annual General Meeting 

decided to establish a Shareholders’ Nomina-

tion Committee to prepare proposals for the 

following General Meeting of Shareholders 

on the composition of the Board of Direc-

tors and director remuneration. Th e 2006 

Annual General Meeting also decided that 

the Shareholders’ Nomination Committee 

should consist of the representatives of Outo-

kumpu’s four largest registered shareholders 

in the Finnish book-entry securities system 

on November 1, 2006, which accept the as-

signment. Th e Chairman of Outokumpu’s 

Board of Directors acts as an expert mem-

ber. Th e largest shareholders are determined 

based on their registered shareholdings in the 

Finnish book-entry system. However, hold-

ings by a shareholder, who under the Finnish 

Securities Markets Act has the obligation to 

disclose changes in shareholdings (fl agging 

obligation), e.g. divided into a number of 

funds, may be combined provided that the 

owner presents a written request to that eff ect 

to the Board of Directors of the Company 

no later than on October 31, 2006.

Th e representatives of the shareholders 

in the committee were: Th e Finnish State, 

Th e Finnish Social Insurance Institution, Il-

marinen Mutual Pension Insurance Com-

pany and Varma Mutual Pension Insurance 

Company. Th ese shareholders chose the fol-

lowing persons as their representatives on 

the Shareholders’ Nomination Committee: 

Markku Tapio, Director General, Ministry 

of Trade and Finance (Th e Finnish State); 

Jorma Huuhtanen, Director General (Th e 

Finnish Social Insurance Institution); Harri 

Sailas, Deputy CEO (Ilmarinen) and Risto 

Murto, Chief Investment Offi  cer (Varma). 

Th e Chairman of Outokumpu’s Board Jukka 

Härmälä served as an expert member and 

Markku Tapio as the Chairman of the Com-

mittee. Th e Committee submitted its pro-

posals on Board composition and director 

remuneration to the Board of Directors. Th e 

Outokumpu Board will incorporate these 

proposals into the notice announcing the 

Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

CEO and Deputy CEO
Th e CEO is responsible for the Company’s 

day-to-day operations with the objective of 

securing signifi cant and sustainable growth in 

the value of the Company to its shareholders. 

Th e CEO prepares the matters for the Board 

of Directors’ decision-making, develops the 

Group in line with the targets agreed with 

the Board and ensures proper implementa-

tion of the Board’s decisions. It is further the 

CEO’s responsibility to make sure that existing 

laws and regulations are observed through-

out the Group. Th e CEO chairs meetings of 

the Group Executive Committee. Th e Dep-

uty CEO is responsible for attending to the 

CEO’s duties in the event that the CEO is 

prevented from attending to them.

Group Executive Committee
Th e role of the Group Executive Commit-

tee is to manage Outokumpu’s main busi-

ness, stainless steel, as a whole. Th e Com-

mittee members have extensive authorities 

in their individual areas of responsibilities 

and have the duty to develop the Group’s 

operations in line with the targets set by 

the Board of Directors and the CEO. Th e 

Group Executive Committee consists of six 

members appointed by the Board of Direc-

tors. Th e members of the committee are the 

CEO and his Deputy, Executive Vice Pres-

ident – Production Operations, Executive 

Vice President – Commercial Operations, 

Executive Vice President – Chief Financial 

Offi  cer and Executive Vice President – Hu-

man Resources.

Th e Group Executive Committee meets 

1–2 times a month.

Remuneration and other benefits of 

Board members, the CEO and members 

of the Group Executive Committee

Monthly fees for members of the Board of 

Directors as confi rmed by the Annual General 
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FEES, SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS PAID

  

2006  Salaries and Performance/
   fees with em- project-related 2003A
€   ployee benefi ts bonuses options Total

Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board, Härmälä    54 200  -  - 54 200

Vice Chairman of the Board, Johansson   43 000  -  - 43 000

Board member, Henkes   35 300  -  - 35 300

Board member, Honkaniemi    8 700 - - 8 700

Board member, Huuhtanen   7 700 - -  7 700

Board member, Karinen   13 500 - - 13 500

Board member, Lohiniva   33 300  -  - 33 300

Board member, Nilsson-Ehle   34 300  -  - 34 300

Board member, Saarinen   35 800  -  - 35 800

Board member, Suonoja   33 300  -  - 33 300

Board member, Turunen   28 000  -  - 28 000

 

CEO   661 060 - - 661 060

Deputy CEO   332 127 - 312 046 644 173

Other Group Executive Committee members  1 160 835 - 642 466 1 803 301 

Shares and options received through share-related schemes are also included in the table on page 50.
 

2005  Salaries and Performance/
   fees with em- project-related Share
€   ployee benefi ts bonuses remuneration Total

Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board, Karinen   56 200 - - 56 200

Vice Chairman of the Board, Johansson   40 200 - - 40 200

Board member, Henkes   36 500  - - 36 500

Board member, Honkaniemi   37 800 - - 37 800

Board member, Huuhtanen   34 500 - - 34 500

Board member, Härmälä    26 600 - - 26 600

Board member, Lohiniva   25 100 - - 25 100

Board member, Nilsson-Ehle   25 100 - - 25 100

Board member, Saarinen   34 500 - - 34 500

Board member, Suonoja   32 700 - - 32 700

Board member, Vilppola   13 000 - - 13 000

 

CEO   602 991 - - 602 991

Deputy CEO   371 804 36 181 104 130 512 115

Other Group Executive Committee members 1)  1 441 072 326 678 1 331 799 3 099 549

1) Other Group Executive Committee members include also salaries and performance related bonuses as well as share remunerations paid to the former CEO Juusela and the former Deputy CEO Virrankoski.

Share remuneration presented in the table refer to the remuneration from the third remuneration period, which was paid in February 2005. 60% of the remuneration was paid 
in cash and 40% in Outokumpu shares. 
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Meeting are the following: Chairman EUR 

4 500, Vice Chairman EUR 3 000, other 

members EUR 2 400. All members of the 

Board of Directors are to be paid a meeting 

fee of EUR 500. A meeting fee is also paid 

for meetings of Board committees. 

Th e period of notice for the CEO is six 

months on both sides. If the Company ter-

minates the CEO’s employment for a reason 

or reasons unconnected with his performance 

or events interpreted as him having failed in 

his duties, the Company will make a com-

pensation payment. Th e amount of this pay-

ment will total the CEO’s basic salary in the 

preceding 24 months plus the monetary value 

of his employee benefi ts at the moment of 

termination.

Th e performance-related bonus paid to 

the CEO and members of the Group Execu-

tive Committee in addition to their salary 

and employee benefi ts for the year 2007 is 

determined on the basis of achieving Group’s 

ROCE (Return on capital employed) tar-

get, operating profi t margin compared with 

a peer group, operational (safety and de-

livery reliability) targets and separately set 

individual targets. Th e maximum amount 

of this bonus is for the CEO 75% and for 

the other members of the Group Executive 

Committee 60% of the annual base salary. 

No separate remuneration is paid to the CEO 

or members of the Group Executive Com-

mittee for membership of the Committee 

or the other internal governing bodies of the 

Group. Members of the Group Executive 

Committee are entitled, subject to a decision 

by the Board of Directors, to retire at the age 

of 60. Pension benefi ts of Finnish members 

of the Group Executive Committee amount 

to 60% of the total average annual salary in 

the last fi ve full years of service. Th e Com-

pany has not given any guarantees or other 

similar commitments on behalf of the mem-

bers of the Board of Directors or the Group 

Executive Committee. Neither members of 

the Board of Directors or the Group Execu-

tive Committee, or closely related persons 

or institutions, have any signifi cant business 

relationships with the Company.

SHARE OWNERSHIP OF THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON JANUARY 31, 2007

 

Member      Shares

Jukka Härmälä     3 000

Ole Johansson     1 789

Evert Henkes      -

Juha Lohiniva      -

Anna Nilsson-Ehle     -

Leena Saarinen     800

Soili Suonoja     300

Taisto Turunen       -

Total     5 889

Control systems

Th e Group’s operations are controlled and 

steered by means of the above-described cor-

porate governance system. Th e Group is or-

ganized into operational business units provid-

ing clear channels of fi nancial responsibility 

within the Group and promoting supervision 

of the operations and administration of the 

Group’s diff erent parts. Outokumpu employs 

the reporting systems required for operational 

business control and eff ective monitoring of 

the Group’s assets and interests. 

Ultimate responsibility for accounting 

and fi nancial controls rests with the Board 

of Directors. It is the CEO’s duty to attend 

to the practical arrangements concerning ac-

counting and the control mechanism. 

Realization of the objectives set is moni-

tored monthly by means of an operational 

planning and fi nancial control reporting sys-

tem. In addition to actual data, the system 

provides up-to-date forecasts and plans for 

the current year and the next 12 months. 

Th e accumulation of economic value added 

SHARE OWNERSHIP AND OPTIONS OF THE GROUP EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEMBERS ON 
JANUARY 31, 2007

 

      Share-based Share-based
      incentive incentive
   Options Options Options scheme scheme
Member Shares 2003A 2003B 2003C 2006–20081) 2007–20091)

Juha Rantanen - - 60 000 27 500 30 000 15 500

Karri Kaitue 4 880 - 19 320 15 000 15 000 7 500

Pekka Erkkilä 8 150 8 200 27 600 15 000 10 000 5 300

Andrea Gatti 4 525 - 7 500 10 000 10 000 5 300

Esa Lager 8 200 - 19 320 10 000 10 000 5 300

Timo Vuorio 2 000 - - 10 000 10 000 5 300

Total 27 755 8 200 133 740 87 500 85 000 44 200

1) The table presents the maximum amount of shares, which can be paid based on reaching the set earning criteria 2006–2008 and 
  2007–2009.
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(EVA) is monitored in Outokumpu’s inter-

nal quarterly reports and this information 

is published in the Annual Report. 

Th e Board of Directors has the ultimate 

responsibility for the Group’s risk manage-

ment. Th e CEO and the Group Executive 

Committee are responsible for defi ning and 

implementing risk management procedures 

and ensuring that risks are taken into ac-

count in the Group’s strategic planning. Th e 

Business Units are responsible for manag-

ing the risks related to their own opera-

tions. Th e Group’s risk management func-

tion supports the implementation of risk 

management policy and develops practical 

ways of working. External and internal au-

ditors monitor the proper functioning of 

the risk management process. Outokumpu 

has classed risks that aff ect its operations in 

three categories: risks relating to strategy 

and business, operational risks and fi nan-

cial risks. Risk management is discussed in 

more detail on pages 38–39. Financial risks 

are discussed in more detail in the note 19 

to the fi nancial statements. 

Th e internal audit function provides con-

sultative auditing on areas and matters that 

are agreed separately with the Board Audit 

Committee and the Group Executive Com-

mittee. Th e focus of the audit is on business 

risks and on the sharing of information. Th e 

internal audit acts in close cooperation with 

the Group’s fi nance and risk management 

function, fi nancial and business control and 

the external auditors. Th e internal audit func-

tion operationally reports to the Board Audit 

Committee. 

Th e CEO, members of the Group Execu-

tive Committee and other managers working 

at Corporate Management are responsible for 

ensuring that day-to-day operations of the 

Group comply with existing laws and regu-

lations, the Company’s operating principles 

and decisions by the Board of Directors.

Managing of insider issues

Outokumpu’s Insider Rules are based on and 

comply with the Guidelines for Insiders by 

the Helsinki Stock Exchange. 

Th e Company’s permanent insiders with 

a duty to declare consist of the members 

of the Board of Directors, the Auditor in 

Charge, the CEO and his deputy, as well 

as the other members of the Group Execu-

tive Committee. Outokumpu maintains a 

public register on the permanent insiders 

with the duty to declare. 

Employees of the Group who receive 

inside information on a regular basis due 

to their positions or tasks are registered in 

a non-public register of permanent com-

pany-specifi c insiders. 

Permanent insiders must not purchase 

or sell securities issued by the Company in 

the 14 days prior to publication of interim 

reports or annual accounts (the so-called 

closed window). 

Separate non-public project-specifi c in-

sider registers are maintained for insider 

projects. Persons defi ned as project-specifi c 

insiders are those who in the course of their 

duties in connection with a project receive 

information concerning the Group which, 

when realized, is likely to have a signifi cant 

eff ect on the value of the company’s pub-

licly traded security. 

Outokumpu’s General Counsel is re-

sponsible for coordinating and supervis-

ing insider issues. Up-to-date information 

on holdings by Outokumpu’s permanent 

insiders with a duty to declare can be found 

on the Outokumpu website.

Auditors

Under the Articles of Association, the Com-

pany shall have a minimum of one and a 

maximum of two auditors who are auditors 

or fi rms of independent public account-

ants authorized by the Central Chamber of 

Commerce of Finland. Th e Annual General 

Meeting elects the auditors to a term of of-

fi ce ending at the close of the next Annual 

General Meeting. Proposals to the Annual 

General Meeting concerning the election 

of auditors which have been made known 

to the Board prior to the Annual General 

Meeting will be made public if the pro-

posal is supported by shareholders holding 

a minimum of 10% of all the Company’s 

shares and voting rights and if the person or 

company proposed has consented to such 

nomination. Th e Company’s auditors submit 

the statutory auditor’s report to the Com-

pany’s shareholders in connection with the 

Company’s fi nancial statements. Th e audi-

tors also report their fi ndings to the Board 

of Directors on a regular basis. Th e parent 

company, Outokumpu Oyj, is audited by 

KPMG Oy Ab, and the responsible auditor 

is Mauri Palvi, Authorized Public Account-

ant. KPMG Oy Ab is also responsible for 

overseeing and coordinating the auditing of 

all Group companies.

Both Outokumpu and KPMG Oy Ab 

highlight the requirement for an auditor 

to be independent of the company being 

audited. In its global independence policy, 

KPMG Oy Ab has stated its commitment 

to applying the Code of Ethics of the Inter-

national Federation of Accountants (IFAC). 

Outokumpu’s Board Audit Committee con-

tinuously monitors the global level of non-

audit services purchased by the Group from 

KPMG Oy Ab. 

In 2006, auditors were paid fees totaling 

EUR 1.9 million, of which non-auditing 

services accounted for EUR 0.5 million.

Communications

Th e aim of the Outokumpu’s external com-

munications is to support the correct valu-

ation of the Company’s listed securities by 

providing the markets with suffi  cient infor-

mation on Outokumpu’s business structure, 

fi nancial position, market developments and, 

in particular, the Group’s objectives and strat-

egy for attaining these objectives. 

Outokumpu’s website at  www. outo  kum pu.

 com contains the information that has been 

made public based on the disclosure require-

ments for listed companies.

http://www.outo
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Chairman Jukka Härmälä

b. 1946, Finnish citizen,

B.Sc. (Econ.)

Outokumpu Board member 2005–,

Chairman of the Board 2006–,

Chairman of the Nomination and 

Compensation Committee

CEO and board member 

Stora Enso Oyj 1999–

Board member: Finnlines plc

Supervisory board member: Varma 

Mutual Pension Insurance Company

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Vice Chairman Ole Johansson

b. 1951, Finnish citizen,

B.Sc. (Econ.)

Outokumpu Board member 2002–, 

Vice Chairman of the Board 2004–, 

Chairman of the Audit Committee

President and CEO Wärtsilä 

Corporation 2000–

Chairman of the Board: Technology 

Industries of Finland

Vice Chairman of the Board: Confed-

eration of Finnish Industries, Varma 

Mutual Pension Insurance Company

Evert Henkes

b. 1943, Dutch citizen,

B.Sc. (Ag. Econ.)

Outokumpu Board member 2003–, 

Member of the Nomination and 

Compensation Committee

CEO Shell Chemicals Ltd. 1998–2003

Board member: Tate & Lyle Plc, 

CNOOC Ltd, SembCorp Industries Ltd, 

Air Products and Chemicals Inc.

Juha Lohiniva

b. 1962, Finnish citizen

Outokumpu Board member 2005–

Maintenance operator 

– Outokumpu Stainless Oy 

Employed by the Outokumpu Group 

since 1980
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Anna Nilsson-Ehle

b. 1951, Swedish citizen,

Ph.D., M.Sc. (Eng.)

Outokumpu Board member 2005–,

Member of the Nomination and 

Compensation Committee

Managing Director Universeum AB 

1999–2004,  

Consultant Ohde & Co 2005–2006

Director: SAFER–National vehicle 

and traffi c safety research centre 

2006–

Board member: Chalmers University 

of Technology Foundation, 

Innovationsbron Väst AB

Leena Saarinen

b. 1960, Finnish citizen,

M.Sc. (Food technology)

Outokumpu Board member 2003–, 

Member of the Audit Committee

President and CEO Altia 

Corporation 2005–

Managing Director 2003–2005: 

Unilever Bestfoods Nordic Foodsolu-

tion, National Manager 2002–2005: 

Suomen Unilever Oy and board 

member 1999 and 2001–2005

Board member: Atria Group plc

Soili Suonoja

b. 1944, Finnish citizen,

Teacher of Home Economics, MBA

Outokumpu Board member 2003–

CEO Amica Restaurants Ltd., Amica 

Services Ltd. 1989–2000

Board member: Finland Post Corpo-

ration, Alko Inc., Lassila & Tikanoja 

Plc, Lännen Tehtaat Oyj, the Finnish 

Association of Professional Board 

Members

Taisto Turunen

b. 1945, Finnish citizen,

M. Pol. Sc.

Outokumpu Board member 2006–,

Member of the Audit Committee

Director General, Energy 

Department, Ministry of Trade 

and Industry 1984–

Supervisory board member: Gasum Oy

Board member: Ekokem Oy

Outokumpu shareholding of the members of the Board of Directors is presented on page 50.
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GROUP EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

GROUP EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Juha Rantanen

b. 1952, Finnish citizen, M.Sc. (Econ.), MBA

CEO 2005–

Chairman of the Group Executive Committee 2005–

Outokumpu Board member and Vice Chairman 

2003–2004

Responsibility: Group management and Hot Rolled 

Plate, Thin Strip and OSTP business units

Employed by the Outokumpu Group since 2004

Chairman of the Board of Directors: 

Finpro Association

Vice President: European Confederation of 

Iron and Steel Industries Eurofer

Board member: Technology Industries of Finland, 

Association of Finnish Steel and Metal Producers

Supervisory board member: 

Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company

Karri Kaitue

b. 1964, Finnish citizen, LL.Lic.

Deputy CEO 2005–

Member of the Group Executive Committee 2002–,

Vice Chairman of the Group Executive 

Committee 2005–

Responsibility: commercial operations, Long 

Products business unit, strategy and corporate 

planning, business development, M&A and legal 

affairs, communications, investor relations, corpo-

rate social responsibility, portfolio businesses

Employed by the Outokumpu Group since 1990

Vice Chairman of the board: Okmetic Oyj, Outo-

kumpu Technology Oyj

Board member: Cargotec Oyj

Pekka Erkkilä

b. 1958, Finnish citizen, M.Sc. (Eng.)

Executive Vice President – Production Operations

Member of the Group Executive Committee 2003–

Responsibility: Tornio Works and Avesta Works 

business units, and Production Operations: 

Production Excellence program, material fl ow 

optimization, R&D, EHS, procurement

Employed by the Outokumpu Group since 1983

Chairman of the board: Finnish Association 

of Mining and Metallurgical Engineers

Board member: International Stainless Steel Forum 

(ISSF), Jernkontoret
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GROUP EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Andrea Gatti

b. 1962, Italian citizen, M.Sc. (Econ.)

Executive Vice President – Commercial Operations

Member of the Group Executive Committee 2005–

Responsibility: Commercial Excellence program, 

commercial strategy and sales planning, market-

ing, sales company network, stock and processing

Employed by the Outokumpu Group since 2002

Esa Lager

b. 1959, Finnish citizen, M.Sc. (Econ.), LL.M.

Chief Financial Offi cer (CFO)

Member of the Group Executive Committee 2001–

Responsibility: Financial control and tax planning, 

treasury and risk management, business processes 

and IT, shared services

Employed by the Outokumpu Group since 1990

Board member: Olvi Oyj, Okmetic Oyj

Timo Vuorio

b. 1949, Finnish citizen, M.Sc. (Econ.)

Executive Vice President – Human Resources

Member of the Group Executive Committee 2005–

Responsibility: HR strategy and key HR processes: 

competence management and people develop-

ment, recruitment, industrial relations, compensa-

tion, development of leadership and organization, 

and the management review process

Employed by the Outokumpu Group since 2005

Outokumpu shareholding and options of the members of the Group Executive Committee are presented on page 50.

New member appointed:

Bo Annvik

b. 1965, Swedish citizen, B. Sc. (Econ.)

Executive Vice President – Specialty Businesses

Member of the Group Executive Committee 

spring 2007–

Responsibility: Avesta Works, Hot Rolled Plate, 

Thin Strip and OSTP business units
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STOCK EXCHANGE RELEASES

Nov. 22, 2006

Barclays Plc’s holding in Outokumpu Oyj to 5.34%

Nov. 20, 2006

Shareholders Nomination Committee at Outo-

kumpu

Oct. 31, 2006

 Outokumpu – Financial reporting schedule for the 

year 2007

Oct. 23, 2006

Outokumpu’s third-quarter 2006 interim report 

– soaring base prices and nickel-related inventory 

gains boosted profi ts

Oct. 18, 2006

Historical restated fi nancial information of 

Outokumpu following the sale of Outokumpu 

Technology shares

Oct. 16, 2006

Outokumpu –  Publishing of the third-quarter 2006 

fi nancial results 

Oct. 13, 2006

Managers have exercised the over-allotment op-

tion in Outokumpu Technology offering

 

Oct. 10, 2006

Outokumpus third quarter results better than 

expected

 

Oct. 9, 2006

The offering of Outokumpu Technology shares 

successfully completed – the offer price set at 

12.50 per share

 

Sep. 25, 2006

Offering of shares in Outokumpu Technology

Sep. 15, 2006

Outokumpu Oyj 2003A Stock Options

STOCK EXCHANGE RELEASES IN 2006

Sep. 11, 2006

Evaluation of the possibility of listing Outokumpu 

Technology progresses

Aug. 30, 2006

Outokumpu Oyj’s stock options 2003A to the main 

list of the Helsinki stock exchange

Jul. 25, 2006

Outokumpu’s second quarter 2006 interim report 

– strong demand and higher base prices improved 

profi ts

Jul. 18, 2006

Outokumpu – Publishing of the second-quarter 

2006 fi nancial results

Jun. 7, 2006

Outokumpu evaluating the possibility of listing 

Outokumpu Technology on the Helsinki stock 

exchange

Jun. 6, 2006

 Outokumpu applies for listing of stock options 

2003A on the main list of the Helsinki stock 

exchange

May 8, 2006

The Finnish Social Institution’s holding of Outo-

kumpu’s share capital is below 10% 

Apr. 25, 2006

Outokumpu’s fi rst quarter 2006 interim report 

– upturn in market conditions, profi ts improving

Apr. 12, 2006

Outokumpu– Publishing of the fi rst-quarter 2006 

fi nancial results

Mar. 30, 2006

Outokumpu Board decisions at their fi rst meeting

Mar. 30, 2006

Resolutions of Outokumpu Oyj’s Annual General 

Meeting 2006

Mar. 16, 2006

Outokumpu’s Annual Report 2005 published

 

Mar. 10, 2006

Notice of Annual General Meeting

Feb. 2, 2006

Share-based incentive programme for 2006-2010 

– Earning period 2006-2008

Feb. 2, 2006

Outokumpu’s Board of Directors confi rms manage-

ment stock options 2003C

Feb. 2, 2006

Outokumpu’s AGM to convene on March 30, 2006

Feb. 2, 2006

Outokumpu Annual Accounts Bulletin 2005 – Ma-

jor transformation in diffi cult market conditions

Jan. 27, 2006

Proposals on the Board composition and director 

remuneration by Shareholder’s Nomination Com-

mittee of Outokumpu

Jan. 26, 2006

Outokumpu – Publishing of the 2005 fi nancial 

results

 

Jan. 17, 2006

Outokumpu’s deliveries in 2005 

Jan. 4, 2006

Employee and union consultations on the fi xed 

cost reduction program of Outokumpu Group 

completed
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OUTOKUMPU OYJ’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 2006

Consolidated fi nancial statements presented in this annual report have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Out-

okumpu Oyj sold its Technology business in 2006. The whole former Outokumpu Technology division is classifi ed as a discontinued operation, together with Outo-

kumpu Copper Tube and Brass, and the fi nancial result from discontinued operations is recorded in the income statement on a single line after the profi t from con-

tinuing operations. Income statement for 2005, but not for prior years, has been restated accordingly. In graphs and tables, data for years 2003–2006 is presented 

according to IFRS and for prior years according to Finnish accounting standards.
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REVIEW BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Record profits and successful sale of Outokumpu 

Technology shares

Outokumpu’s vision of becoming the undisputed number one in 

stainless was reinforced when 88% of the shares in Outokumpu 

Technology were sold and the company was listed on the Helsinki 

Stock Exchange in October. Following the sale, Outokumpu is 

practically a pure stainless steel player. Th e transaction strengthened 

the Group’s fi nancial position. Th e short-term internal profi tability 

improvement initiatives were completed as planned and good progress 

was achieved in the longer-term Operational Excellence programs. 

Outokumpu’s fi nancial performance in 2006 was best-ever in the 

company’s history.

Th e Group’s sales rose by 23% from the previous year to EUR 

6 154 million. Stainless steel deliveries were up by 10% to 1 815 000 

tons and transaction prices reached a record high, boosting sales. 

Operating profi t totaled EUR 824 million. Contributors to this ex-

cellent profi t were increased base prices, higher deliveries, signifi cant 

nickel-related inventory gains and the Group’s internal profi tability 

improvement measures.

In 2006, mainly as a result of nickel prices increasing throughout 

the year, EUR 975 million was tied up in working capital and the 

Group’s working capital almost doubled to EUR 1 990 million. 

Net cash generated from operating activities was therefore EUR 

35 million negative in spite of the excellent profi t.

Return on capital employed improved to 20.7% and gearing to 

42.3%, achieving the targets set. Earnings per share totaled EUR 

5.31 and earnings per share from continuing operations totaled EUR 

3.34. Th e Board of Directors is proposing to the Annual General 

Meeting that a dividend of EUR 1.10 per share be paid for 2006 

(2005: EUR 0.45).

2006 characterized by strong demand for stainless steel

2006 was an excellent year in the stainless steel market, supported 

by strong demand from end-use industries, especially process in-

dustry and energy sector, and a signifi cant recovery in the stainless 

distribution sector. After the heavy de-stocking phase in the latter 

part of 2005, markets turned into a rapid rise in the beginning of 

2006. Global markets for stainless steel increased by an estimated 

15% during the year. According to CRU estimates, apparent con-

sumption rose by 17% in Europe, by 14% in the US and by 9% 

in China. Demand for special grade and project-related products 

also strengthened during 2006.

Base prices for stainless steel soared throughout 2006 as a re-

sult of strong demand and supply constraints. According to CRU, 

the German base price for CR 304 sheet almost doubled from 

1 030 EUR/ton in December 2005 to 1 980 EUR/ton in December 

2006. Transaction prices were further boosted by extremely high 

nickel prices.

Th e strong recovery in stainless steel markets in 2006 resulted 

in an upturn in demand for the main alloying elements used in the 

production of stainless steel: nickel, ferrochrome and molybde-

num. Th e supply of nickel was also constrained because production 

volumes were lower than planned. As a consequence, the price of 

nickel set successive records during the year, rising from 13 380 

USD/ton at the end of 2005 to 34 205 USD/ton by the end of 

2006. Th e average price in 2006, 24 254 USD/ton, was 65% higher 

than the corresponding fi gure for 2005. In the beginning of 2006, 

ferrochrome prices declined as a result of production cuts in the 

stainless industry implemented in the latter part of 2005. As 2006 

progressed, markets turned to undersupply as demand from stainless 

steel producers accelerated. Th e average price of ferrochrome for the 

year was 0.72 USD/lb, 3% lower than in 2005. Despite decreasing 

by 23% in 2006, molybdenum prices remained at a historically high 

level, averaging 25.10 USD/lb. Th e average price of recycled steel in 

2006 was 230 USD/ton, 13% higher compared to 2005.

Higher transaction prices and deliveries 

increased sales

Th e Group’s sales increased by 23% to EUR 6 154 million in 2006. 

In 2005, sales by Specialty Stainless included some EUR 400 million 

of intra-group semi-products delivered by Avesta to the Sheffi  eld coil 

products unit, which until the closure was part of General Stainless. 

OPERATING PROFITSALES EARNINGS PER SHARE

SALES

€ million 2006 2005 Change, %

General Stainless 4 770 4 073 17

Specialty Stainless 2 723 2 739 (1)

Other operations 361 272 33
Intra-group sales (1 700) (2 068) (18)

The Group 6 154 5 016 23

STAINLESS STEEL DELIVERIES

1 000 tons 2006 2005 Change, %

Cold rolled 936 867 8

White hot strip 390 391 (0)
Other 490 390 26

Total deliveries 1 815 1 647 10
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€ million 2006 2005 Change

Operating profi t

 General Stainless 536 (62) 597

 Specialty Stainless 338 110 228

 Other operations (35) 8 (44)
 Intra-group items (15) 1 (16)

Operating profi t  824 57 766

Share of results in
associated companies 8 1 7
Financial income
and expenses (48) (67) 19

Profi t/(loss) before taxes 784 (8) 792
Income taxes (178) (16) (162)
Net profi t/(loss),
continuing operations 606 (24) 630
Net profi t/(loss),
discontinued operations 357 (339) 696
Net profi t/(loss) for
the fi nancial year 963 (363) 1 326

Return on capital employed, % 20.7 1.3 19.4
Earnings per share from 
continuing operations, EUR 3.34 (0.14) 3.48

Earnings per share, EUR 5.31 (2.01) 7.32

KEY FINANCIAL INDICATORS ON FINANCIAL POSITION

€ million  2006 2005

Net interest-bearing debt

 Long-term debt  1 293 1 624

 Current debt  685 556

Total interest-bearing debt  1 977 2 179

Interest-bearing assets  (515) (511)

Net assets held for sale  (162) (132)

Net interest-bearing debt  1 300 1 537

 

Shareholders’ equity  3 054 2 047

Debt-to-equity ratio, %  42.3 74.5

Equity-to-assets ratio, %  47.9 38.2
Net cash generated from 
operating activities  (35) 459

Net interest expenses  62 65

Th e Group’s stainless steel deliveries rose by 10%. Deliveries of both 

quarto plate and tubular products increased by some 10% and black 

hot coil deliveries by 50 000 tons. In addition to higher deliveries, 

the increase in transaction prices throughout 2006 contributed to 

the rise in sales.

Europe’s share of the Group’s sales increased to 76% in 2006 

(2005: 69%). Asia’s and the Americas’ share declined to 11% (2005: 

16%) and 10% (2005: 12%), respectively.

Record operating profit

Th e record operating profi t of EUR 824 million was a result of the 

solid rise in base prices throughout the year, higher deliveries, signifi -

cant nickel-related inventory gains and internal profi t-improvement 

measures. Operating profi t included a non-recurring gain of EUR 9 

million from the sale of real estate in Britain as well as write-downs 

and non-recurring costs of EUR 8 million related to the planned 

closure of OSTP’s (Outokumpu Stainless Tubular Products) unit in 

Fagersta, Sweden. In 2005, the Group’s operating profi t included the 

negative net impact of EUR 164 million from non-recurring costs 

related to the closure of Sheffi  eld coil products unit and measures 

taken as part of the fi xed-cost reduction program, as well as the 

EUR 35 million gain from the sale of Boliden shares.

As a result of strong demand, all Outokumpu’s units ran at full 

load during 2006. Rising base prices for stainless steel were realized 

more rapidly in prices for Outokumpu’s standard grade volume 

products than in the prices of more specialized and project-related 

products. General Stainless posted an operating profi t of EUR 536 

million and Specialty Stainless EUR 338 million.

Return on capital employed was 20.7%, clearly exceeding the 

Group’s target of more than 13%.

Th e Group’s share of results in associated companies rose to EUR 

8 million as a result of good performance by Fagersta Stainless AB, 

a Swedish producer of stainless steel long products. Net fi nancial 

expenses declined to EUR 48 million, including EUR 12 million 

net gains (2005: EUR 1 million net losses) related to exchange rate 

gains and losses on fi nancial instruments and changes in fair values 

of interest rate derivatives. Net interest expenses fell slightly to EUR 

62 million as a result of the reduction in net interest-bearing debt. 

Due to the good result, taxes increased to EUR 178 million and the 

Group’s eff ective tax rate was 23%. Net profi t for the period from 

continuing operations totaled EUR 606 million and from discon-

tinued operations EUR 357 million. Th e Group’s earnings per share 

was EUR 5.31, with earnings per share from continuing operations 

EUR 3.34 and from discontinued operations EUR 1.97. 

Capital structure strengthened

RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED 
(ROCE)SALES BY MARKET AREA
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Excellent fi nancial performance and the sale of shares in Outokumpu 

Technology resulted in a signifi cant strengthening of the Group’s 

fi nancial position. Net interest-bearing debt declined by EUR 237 

million to EUR 1 300 million. At the end of 2006, the Group’s 

equity-to-assets ratio stood at 47.9%. Gearing improved further to 

42.3%, distinctly better than the target of below 75%.

Th e Group´s net cash generated from operating activities was, 

however, EUR 35 million negative. Inventory volumes are under 

tight control and average throughput time was reduced during 2006. 

However, working capital increased by EUR 975 million to EUR 

1 990 million, mainly because of fast increasing nickel prices. 

Capital expenditure within limits

Th e Group’s short-term profi tability improvement program includes 

tight capital expenditure discipline. Th e operational going concern 

capital expenditure limit was set at EUR 175 million annually for 

2006–2007. In 2006, capital expenditure was, as expected, slightly 

higher due to delayed phasing and rollovers from 2005. It was, how-

ever, clearly below the annual depreciation level. Capital expenditure 

on possible growth opportunities will be assessed separately.

Capital expenditure totaled EUR 187 million in 2006. Th e 

biggest investments were the Kloster expansion and Tornio Works’ 

investment in the production of ferritic stainless steel.

Th e EUR 55 million investment at the Kloster Th in Strip in 

Sweden has been completed. Th e investment expands the mill’s 

annual production capacity from 25 000 tons to 45 000 tons and 

enables the production of thinner (0.12 mm) and wider (1 050 

mm) products. Th e investment comprises a new cold rolling mill, 

a bright annealing line and a slitting line. Deliveries will start during 

the fi rst quarter of 2007.

To expand Outokumpu’s product off ering, an investment of EUR 

13 million in batch annealing furnaces for the production of ferritic 

stainless steel in Tornio was started in 2005. Ferritic stainless steel 

normally includes some 12–17% chromium, with the remainder 

being iron. Th e price of ferritics, which do not contain any nickel, 

has traditionally been less volatile than that of austenitic stainless 

steel, Outokumpu’s main product. Tornio Works has a competitive 

cost advantage in ferritics production as utilizing liquid ferrochrome 

from its own smelter reduces melting costs. Annual production 

capacity will be 60 000 tons of ferritic stainless steel, and produc-

tion will come on stream during the fi rst quarter 2007. Deliveries 

are scheduled to begin in the second quarter of 2007.

Discontinued operations 

– Sale of Outokumpu Technology shares

In June 2006, the Board of Directors of Outokumpu Oyj decided 

to start evaluating the possibility of listing Outokumpu Technol-

ogy on the Helsinki Stock Exchange. Outokumpu Technology is a 

global leader in designing, developing and supplying tailored plants, 

processes and equipment for the minerals and metals processing 

industries worldwide. Outokumpu Technology has 1 800 employees 

and generated sales of EUR 556 million in 2005.

In September, the Board decided to commence the off ering of 

shares in Outokumpu Technology. Th e transaction was sale of shares 

through an Initial Public Off ering (IPO), which commenced on 

September 26, 2006 and ended on October 9, 2006. Outokumpu 

Technology was listed on the Helsinki Stock Exchange on October 

10, 2006. In the off ering, Outokumpu Oyj sold 36 960 001 shares 

at EUR 12.50 per share and Outokumpu’s remaining holding in 

Outokumpu Technology is 12%. Outokumpu has agreed that it 

will not sell shares in Outokumpu Technology Oyj without the 

consent of the global coordinator of the off ering until April 7, 2007. 

Outokumpu Technology was classifi ed as a discontinued operation 

in the third quarter interim report. Net proceeds from the sale 

amounted to EUR 449 million and the capital gain totaled EUR 

328 million. Until disposal, the remaining holding in Outokumpu 

Technology is an available-for-sale fi nancial asset, valued at fair 

value recognized directly in equity. On December 31, 2006, the fair 

value of Outokumpu’s 12% holding in Outokumpu Technology 

Oyj totaled EUR 114 million.

In 2005, Outokumpu divested the Group’s fabricated copper 

products business, excluding the copper tube and brass rod business 

in Europe. It is Outokumpu’s intention to restructure and divest 

also this business. In February 2006, Outokumpu sold Outokumpu 

Copper MKM Ltd, a brass rod mill located in Aldridge in the UK, 

to Th e Meade Corporation. In 2006, sales by the tube and brass 

businesses totaled EUR 678 million with an operating profi t of 

EUR 23 million. Operating capital at the end of December totaled 

EUR 162 million.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND DEPRECIATIONNET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS

Review by the Board of Directors

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

€ million  2006 2005

General Stainless  83 94

Specialty Stainless  95 58
Other operations  9 13

The Group  187 164

Depreciation  221 207
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Th e EUR 357 million net profi t from discontinued operations 

in the Group’s income statement in 2006 comprises the operating 

result of Outokumpu Technology for January–September, the op-

erating result of Outokumpu Copper Tube and Brass for the whole 

year, and the EUR 328 million gain on the sale of shares in Outo-

kumpu Technology. In 2005, the EUR 339 million loss recorded 

for discontinued operations comprised the result of the fabricated 

copper products business until disposal, the result of Outokumpu 

Technology and Tube and Brass for the whole year, the EUR 252 

million loss on the sale of the fabricated copper products business, 

and the impairment loss of EUR 86 million recognized in the tube 

and brass business.

Short-term profitability improvement 

initiatives completed as planned

In the autumn of 2005, Outokumpu initiated decisive actions to 

counter the then diffi  cult market conditions and to improve profi t-

ability and cash fl ow.

Th e Sheffi  eld coil products unit in Britain was closed in April 

2006 and capacity at the Sheffi  eld melt shop and the Avesta hot 

rolling mill was adjusted accordingly. Realization of the estimated 

annual profi t improvement totaling EUR 50 million began during 

the second half of 2006. 

Th e fi xed-cost reduction program covers all business units and 

group functions. Th e targeted annual savings are EUR 100 million, 

and the program was completed as planned by the end of 2006. 

Th e reduced fi xed-cost running rate started to materialize gradually 

during the latter part of 2006 and will be in full eff ect in 2007.

Good progress in the Commercial and Production 

Excellence programs

Operational excellence comprises the Commercial and Production 

Excellence programs launched in April 2005. Th ese programs are 

progressing well and have already achieved tangible results.

Benefi t follow-up systems have been established to identify the 

costs, increased revenue and savings derived from the programs. Th e 

expected benefi ts are included in targets for the Group’s incentive 

schemes and the realized benefi ts will be audited. Th e combined 

profi t improvements from the Commercial Excellence and Produc-

tion Excellence programs are expected to total EUR 40 million 

in 2007, EUR 80 million in 2008 and EUR 160 million on an 

annual basis thereafter.

Risk management

Th e review and monitoring of key risks for each business unit 

was further developed. Th e status of key risks and actions for risk 

mitigation will be addressed regularly in performance management 

meetings.

Outokumpu has classifi ed risks that aff ect its operations into three 

categories: risks relating to strategy and business, operational risks 

and fi nancial risks. Risks are assessed based on their estimated impact 

and likelihood of occurrence. Key risks are further described and 

addressed through more detailed analysis. Th is analysis also involves 

defi nitions of risk mitigating actions and responsibilities.

Risks associated with Outokumpu’s operations and risk manage-

ment are described in more detail in the annual report in section 

Risk management and in note 19 (Financial risk management and 

insurances) to the consolidated fi nancial statements.

Environment, health and safety

Outokumpu’s stainless steel plants in Finland, Sweden and Britain 

belong to the Greenhouse Gas emission trading system that started 

in the European Union in 2005. Carbon dioxide allowances and 

associated permits for the 2005–2007 period were granted free of 

charge to the Tornio site in Finland and to the steel-making and 

casting plants at Avesta and Degerfors in Sweden. Th e Sheffi  eld 

melt shop in Britain utilized the opt-out possibility provided by the 

British Climate Change Levy system. Lower production volumes in 

2005 and better-than-estimated energy effi  ciency have resulted in 

the Group’s plants in Finland and Sweden having surplus allowances. 

During 2006, Outokumpu sold 415 000 tons of excess allowances 

for a total of EUR 7 million. Preparations to apply for allowances 

in the 2008–2012 Kyoto period are underway.

Emissions to air and discharges to water remained mostly within 

permitted limits during 2006. All Outokumpu’s sites have valid 

environmental permits in place. Sheffi  eld Special Strip at Mead-

owhall in Britain will complete external certifi cation for its ISO 

14001 environmental management systems in the spring of 2007. 

After this, all the Group’s major production sites will have a certifi ed 

environmental management system. Outokumpu is not a party in 

any signifi cant juridical or administrative proceeding concerning 

environmental issues, nor is it aware of any environmental risks 

that could have a material adverse eff ect on the Group’s fi nancial 

position. 

In 2006, the lost-time injury frequency rate (i.e. lost time ac-

cidents per million working hours) in Outokumpu’s continuing 

operations was 17 (2005: 18). Unsatisfactory safety performance 

during the latter part of 2006 meant that the Group’s target of less 

than 14 lost-time accidents per million working hours in 2006 

was not achieved. No fatal accidents at the Group’s facilities were 

reported during 2006.
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Outokumpu’s corporate responsibility report – Outokumpu and 

the environment 2006 – will be published together with the annual 

report. Th e corporate responsibility report is based on the Global 

Reporting Initiative (GRI). Environment, health and safety issues 

are discussed in more detail in Outokumpu and the environment 

2006 report, and in the annual report in section Environment, 

health and safety.

Research and development

Th e Group’s expenditure on research and development in 2006 

totaled EUR 17 million or 0.3% of sales (2005: EUR 20 million 

and 0.4%). Th e R&D function employed almost 200 professionals. 

In addition to new products, R&D operations focus on innovative 

manufacturing processes that reduce costs, result in lower emissions, 

shorten lead times and improve quality. Th ese initiatives are closely 

linked to the Production Excellence program.

Optimum process parameters and product properties for standard 

ferritic grades have been studied intensively at production scale. 

Outokumpu is ready to start production of ferritics once the new 

batch annealing furnaces in Tornio are operational.

Launch of the semi-cold-rolled RAP™2E product was successful, 

with a favorable reception amongst customers. Special grades are 

one of the Group’s key focus areas, and include high-alloyed cor-

rosion-resistant austenitic, duplex and heat-resistant alloys. Much 

eff ort has been put into the development of duplex grades with a 

low nickel content, since these off er a good combination of strength 

and corrosion resistance. Demand for such materials has grown 

strongly as a response to high nickel prices. Customers have shown 

growing interest in LDX 2101®, Outokumpu’s own development 

of Lean Duplex.

R&D eff orts have continued in two new application segments 

– the transportation and automotive industries and the architecture, 

building and construction (AB&C) sector. Th e high strength and 

good formability of stainless steels has been the subject of further 

study in such applications. Th e lower structural weight and low 

life-cycle costs of stainless steel make it an excellent substitute for 

many other materials.

Th e main subject of environmental research in 2006 was slag 

utilization. Slag from steel melting shops can be transformed into 

a suitable material for roads and construction beds, replacing virgin 

materials. Development of the Hydrofl ux process to utilize processed 

pickling sludge in steel melting shops continued.

During 2006, a Strategic Leadership Program (SLP) was initi-

ated with some 60 global managers as participants. Th e main target 

of the program is to develop Outokumpu’s leadership behavior in 

ways that support the execution of the Group’s strategy. SLP is an 

action-learning program based on Outokumpu’s new leadership 

principles in which the focus is on learning to lead people in ways 

that help, for example, the excellence programs succeed and achieve 

sustainable improvements.

An assessment of the Group’s management resources was con-

ducted during 2006. Harmonized performance appraisal and reward 

models for application in all Group units were developed and have 

been in use from the beginning of 2007.

Th e Outokumpu Personnel Forum held its 15th meeting in 

Terneuzen, the Netherlands. Th e Group Working Committee, a 

forum for continuous dialogue between personnel and management, 

met eight times during 2006.

At the end of the year, the Group’s continuing operations em-

ployed 8 159 people in some 30 countries. Th e average number 

of personnel employed by the Group in 2006 was 8 505 (2005: 

9 579). Th e net reduction in number of personnel since the profi t-

ability improvement measures were initiated in October 2005 is 

1 250 employees. Th e reductions agreed were 670 employees as a 

result of the closure of Coil Products Sheffi  eld and 800 employees 

as a consequence of the fi xed-cost reduction program. Th ere was 

however a slight increase in the number of personnel employed by 

the Group following the investment in expansion at Kloster, Sweden. 

Th e rapid increase in stainless steel demand also resulted in personnel 

reductions in some units being less than planned.

Personnel expenses totaled EUR 506 million (2005: EUR 556 

million). EUR 13 million (2005: EUR - million) of profi t-sharing 

bonuses in accordance with the Finnish Personnel Funds Act has 

been accrued.

Further information and key fi gures on personnel are presented 

in the annual report in section Personnel and in Outokumpu and 

the environment 2006 report.

Annual General Meeting and Board of Directors

Th e Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on March 30, 2006 

approved a dividend of EUR 0.45 per share for 2005. Dividends 

totaling EUR 81 million were paid on April 11, 2006.

Th e AGM authorized the Board of Directors for one year to 

increase the Company’s share capital with a total maximum of 

EUR 30 800 000 by issuing new shares or convertible bonds. Ac-

cordingly, an aggregate maximum of 18 117 647 shares, having the 

account equivalent value of EUR 1.70 each, may be issued. Th e 

AGM authorized the Board of Directors for one year to repurchase 

and transfer the Company’s own shares. Th e maximum number of 

PERSONNEL

PERSONNEL

Dec. 31 2006 2005 Change

General Stainless 3 496 4 123 (627)

Specialty Stainless 4 200 4 334 (135)
Other operations 464 506 (42)

The Group 8 159 8 963 (804)

Review by the Board of Directors

Personnel
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shares to be repurchased and transferred is 18 000 000. Th e number 

of own shares in the Company’s possession may not exceed 10% of 

the total amount of the Company’s shares. By February 1, 2007, 

the authorizations had not been exercised.

Th e AGM decided on the number of Board members, including 

the Chairman and Vice Chairman, to be eight (previously ten). For 

the term expiring at the close of the following AGM, Mr. Evert 

Henkes, Mr. Jukka Härmälä, Mr. Ole Johansson, Mr. Juha Lo-

hiniva, Ms. Anna Nilsson-Ehle, Ms. Leena Saarinen and Ms. Soili 

Suonoja were re-elected as members of the Board of Directors, 

and Mr. Taisto Turunen was elected as a new member. Mr. Jukka 

Härmälä was elected Chairman of the Board of Directors and Mr. 

Ole Johansson Vice Chairman. Th e AGM also resolved to form 

a Shareholders’ Nomination Committee to prepare proposals on 

the composition and remuneration of the Board of Directors for 

presentation to the next AGM.

KPMG Oy Ab, Authorized Public Accountants, was elected 

as the Company’s new auditor for the term ending at the close of 

the next AGM.

At its fi rst meeting, the Board of Directors appointed two perma-

nent committees consisting of board members. Mr. Ole Johansson 

(Chairman), Ms. Leena Saarinen and Mr. Taisto Turunen were elected 

as members of the Board Audit Committee. Mr. Jukka Härmälä 

(Chairman), Mr. Evert Henkes and Ms. Anna Nilsson-Ehle were 

elected as members of the Board Nomination and Compensation 

Committee.

Shareholders’ Nomination Committee

Outokumpu’s AGM 2006 decided to establish a Shareholders’ 

Nomination Committee to prepare proposals on the composition 

of the Board of Directors along with director remuneration for the 

following AGM. Th e members represent Outokumpu’s four largest 

registered shareholders on November 1, 2006, which accepted the 

assignment. Members of the committee are: Mr. Markku Tapio 

(Chairman), representing the Finnish State, Mr. Jorma Huuhtanen, 

representing the Finnish Social Insurance Institution, Mr. Harri 

Sailas, representing Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 

and Mr. Risto Murto, representing the Varma Mutual Pension Insur-

ance Company. Mr. Jukka Härmälä, the Chairman of Outokumpu’s 

Board of Directors, served as an expert member. Th e Shareholders’ 

Nomination Committee submitted its proposals to the Board of 

Directors on February 1, 2007.

Short-term outlook

Global economic growth is expected to remain solid in 2007. Confi -

dence in the European manufacturing sector remains at a high level 

indicating good demand for stainless steel. Following the extremely 

strong demand, increasing prices and tight supply of stainless steel 

in 2006, the year 2007 in Europe has started with slightly increased 

price levels but better stainless steel availability and distributor in-

ventories approaching normal levels.

Th e underlying demand for stainless steel is expected to con-

tinue fi rm. As to the standard volume products, the market with 

the European distributors is currently somewhat more cautious 

than in the previous quarters due to the high transaction prices 

and increased imports from Asia attracted by better price levels in 

Europe. However, the markets within the key end-use industries, 

special grades and project deliveries remain strong. In addition, 

high nickel price and volatility are risks to a balanced development 

of stainless market. Th e nickel prices have been on a new upward 

rally in early 2007. Th e high transaction prices of stainless steel 

and uncertainty about the nickel price development appear to be 

making further stock build-up unlikely.

Outokumpu has achieved small base price increases for deliveries 

during the fi rst two months of 2007 leading to 100–150 EUR/ton 

higher average base prices in Europe for the fi rst quarter deliveries 

compared to the fourth quarter in 2006. All the Group`s units are 

fully booked for the fi rst quarter, but order backlogs for standard 

grades are currently somewhat lower than during the previous months 

and lead times closer to normal levels. Th e Group´s operational 

profi tability will improve in the fi rst quarter whereas nickel-related 

inventory gains are likely to be smaller than during the preceding two 

quarters. Outokumpu`s fi rst quarter operating profi t is estimated 

to be at the record fourth quarter 2006 level.

Board of Directors’ proposal for profit distribution

In accordance with the Board of Directors’ established dividend 

policy, the payout ratio over a business cycle should be at least one-

third of the company’s profi t for the period. In its annual dividend 

proposal to the Annual General Meeting, the Board of Directors will, 

in addition to the Group’s fi nancial results, take into consideration 

the company’s investment and development needs.

Th e Board of Directors is proposing to the Annual General 

Meeting to be held on March 28, 2007 that a dividend of EUR 

1.10 per share, totaling EUR 199 million, be paid from the parent 

company’s distributable funds on December 31, 2006 and that any 

remaining distributable funds be allocated to retained earnings. Th e 

suggested dividend record date is April 2, 2007 and the dividend 

will be paid on April 11, 2007.

According to the fi nancial statements at December 31, 2006, 

distributable funds of the parent company totaled EUR 731 million. 

No material changes have taken place in the company’s fi nancial 

position after the balance sheet date and the proposed dividend does 

not compromise the company’s fi nancial standing. 

Espoo, February 1, 2007

Jukka Härmälä

Ole Johansson

Evert Henkes

Juha Lohiniva 

Anna Nilsson-Ehle

Leena Saarinen

Soili Suonoja

Taisto Turunen

Juha Rantanen CEO
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF OUTOKUMPU OYJ
We have audited the accounting records, the fi nancial statements, the report of the Board of Directors and the administration of Outo-

kumpu Oyj for the period January 1, 2006 – December 31, 2006. Th e Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Offi  cer have prepared 

the consolidated fi nancial statements, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, 

containing the consolidated balance sheet,  income statement, cash fl ow statement, statement on the changes in equity and notes to the 

fi nancial statements, as well as the report of the Board of Directors and the parent company’s fi nancial statements, prepared in accordance 

with prevailing regulations in Finland, containing the parent company’s balance sheet, income statement, cash fl ow statement and notes 

to the fi nancial statements. Based on our audit, we express an opinion on the consolidated fi nancial statements, as well as on the parent 

company’s fi nancial statements, the report of the Board of Directors and the administration.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Finnish Standards on Auditing. Th ose standards require that we perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements and the report of the Board of Directors are free of material misstate-

ment. An audit includes examining on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the report and in the fi nancial 

statements, assessing the accounting principles used and signifi cant estimates made by the management, as well as evaluating the overall 

fi nancial statement presentation. Th e purpose of our audit of the administration is to examine whether the Board of Directors and the 

Chief Executive Offi  cer of the parent company have complied with the rules of the Companies Act.

Consolidated financial statements

In our opinion the consolidated fi nancial statements, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 

by the EU, give a true and fair view, as defi ned in those standards and in the Finnish Accounting Act, of the consolidated results of opera-

tions as well as of the fi nancial position. 

Parent company’s financial statements, report of the Board of Directors and administration

In our opinion the parent company’s fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Finnish Accounting Act and other 

applicable Finnish rules and regulations. Th e parent company’s fi nancial statements give a true and fair view of the parent company’s 

result of operations and of the fi nancial position. 

In our opinion the report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in accordance with the Finnish Accounting Act and other 

applicable Finnish rules and regulations. Th e report of the Board of Directors is consistent with the consolidated fi nancial statements 

and the parent company’s fi nancial statements and gives a true and fair view, as defi ned in the Finnish Accounting Act, of the result of 

operations and of the fi nancial position.

Opinion

Th e consolidated fi nancial statements and the parent company’s fi nancial statements can be adopted and the members of the Board of 

Directors and the Chief Executive Offi  cer of the parent company can be discharged from liability for the period audited by us. Th e proposal 

by the Board of Directors regarding the disposal of distributable funds is in compliance with the Companies Act.

Espoo, February 14, 2007

KPMG OY AB 

Mauri Palvi

Authorized Public Accountant

AUDITORS’ REPORT
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated income statement

€ million   Note 2006 2005

Continuing operations     

Sales   3 6 154 5 016

Cost of sales   8 ( 5 112) (4 638)
      
Gross margin    1 043 379
      
Other operating income    6 44 83
Selling and marketing expenses   8 (100) ( 114)
Administrative expenses   8 (135) ( 174
Research and development expenses   8 (17) ( 22)
Other operating expenses   7 ( 11) (94)

Operating profi t     824 57

Share of results of associated companies   16 8 1
     
Financial income and expenses   10  
 Net interest expenses    ( 62) ( 65)
 Market price gains and losses    12 ( 1)
 Other fi nancial income and expenses    3 0
Total fi nancial income and expenses    ( 48) (67)
     
Profi t/(loss) before taxes    784 (8)

Income taxes   11 (178) (16)

Net profi t/(loss) for the fi nancial year from continuing operations    606 (24)
     
Net profi t/(loss) for the fi nancial year from discontinued operations   4 357 ( 339)

Net profi t/(loss) for the fi nancial year    963 (363)
      
      
Attributable to     
Equity holders of the Company    962 (364)
Minority interest     2 1
      
Earnings per share for result attributable to the equity     
holders of the Company     
Earnings per share, €   12 5.31 (2.01)
Diluted earnings per share, €    5.29 (2.01)
      
Earnings per share from continuing operations 
attributable to the equity holders of the Company     
Earnings per share, €    3.34 ( 0.14)
Diluted earnings per share, €    3.33 (0.14)
      
Earnings per share from discontinued operations     
attributable to the equity holders of the Company     
Earnings per share, €    1.97 (1.87)
Diluted earnings per share, €    1.97 (1.87)
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Consolidated balance sheet

€ million   Note 2006 2005

ASSETS     
      
Non-current assets     
      
Intangible assets   14 493 578
      
Property, plant and equipment   15 2 069 2 125
      
Investments in associated companies 1)   16 47 50
      
Available-for-sale fi nancial assets 1)   17 171 38
      
Derivative fi nancial instruments 1)   20 24 18
      
Deferred tax assets   11 45 30
      
Trade and other receivables   22  
      
 Interest-bearing 1)    133 156
      
 Non interest-bearing    32 15
      
Total non-current assets    3 014 3 009
      
      
Current assets     
      
Inventories   21 1 710 1 186
      
Available-for-sale fi nancial assets 1)   17 17 4
      
Derivative fi nancial instruments 1)   20 24 25
      
Trade and other receivables   22  
      
 Interest-bearing 1)    14 8
      
 Non interest-bearing    1 314 841
      
Cash and cash equivalents 1)   23 85 212
      
Total current assets    3 164 2 277
      
      
Receivables related to assets held for sale 1)   4 235 221
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
TOTAL ASSETS    6 414 5 507

1) Included in net interest-bearing debt.
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€ million   Note 2006 2005

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     
      
Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company     
      
Share capital    308 308
Premium fund    701 701
Other reserves    155 34
Retained earnings    928 1 369
Net profi t/(loss) for the fi nancial year    962 (364)
     3 054 2 047
      
Minority interest    17 15
      
Total equity   24 3 071 2 062
      
      
Non-current liabilities     
      
Long-term debt 1)   27 1 287 1 618
      
Derivative fi nancial instruments 1)   20 6 5
      
Deferred tax liabilities   11 226 188
      
Pension obligations   25 54 74
      
Provisions   26 55 55
      
Trade and other payables   28 2 3
      
Total non-current liabilities    1 630 1 943
      
      
Current liabilities     
      
Current debt 1)   27 632 501
      
Derivative fi nancial instruments 1)   20 25 22
      
Income tax liabilities   11 111 40
      
Provisions   26 30 78
      
Trade and other payables   28  
      
 Interest-bearing 1)    27 32
      
 Non interest-bearing     814 739
      
Total current liabilities    1 640 1 413
      
      
Liabilities related to assets held for sale 1)   4 73 89
      
      
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    6 414 5 507

1) Included in net interest-bearing debt.
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Consolidated cash flow statement

€ million   Note 2006 2005
      
Cash fl ow from operating activities     
      
Net profi t/(loss) for the fi nancial year    963 (363)
Adjustments for     
 Taxes   4, 11 194 28
 Depreciation and amortization   14, 15 229 232
 Impairments   4, 14, 15 12 165
 Share of results of associated companies   16 ( 6) 0
 Gain on the sale of Outokumpu Technology shares    (328) -
 Loss on sale of the fabricated copper products business   4 - 252
 Profi t/(loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment   6, 7 ( 29) (11)
 Interest income   10 (27) ( 21)
 Dividend income   10 ( 6) (6)
 Interest expense   10 86 95
 Other adjustments    3 10
     129 743
      
Change in working capital     
 Change in trade and other receivables    (696) 123
 Change in inventories    (602) ( 5)
 Change in trade and other payables    375 31
 Change in provisions    (52) 52
     (975) 202
      
Dividends received    7 7
Interest received    17 21
Interest paid    (89) (93)
Income tax paid    (87) (58)
      
Net cash from operating activities    (35) 459
      
Cash fl ow from investing activities     
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash    5 - ( 32)
Acquisition of shares in associated companies   16 (1) ( 3)
Acquisition of available-for-sale fi nancial assets   17 (5) ( 1)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment   15 (174) (194)
Purchases of intangible assets   14 (4) ( 15)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash    5 338 489
Proceeds from sale of shares in associated companies   16 9 290
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale fi nancial assets   17 1 4
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   15 11 2
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets   14 8 7
Change in other long-term receivables    14 18
      
Net cash from investing activities    198 565
      
Cash fl ow before fi nancing activities    163 1 024
      
Cash fl ow from fi nancing activities     
Borrowings of long-term debt    173 136
Repayments of long-term debt    (374) ( 454)
Change in current debt    3 (600)
Borrowings of fi nance lease liabilities    1 3
Repayments of fi nance lease liabilities    (7) ( 6)
Dividends paid    (81) ( 91)
Other fi nancing cash fl ow    (2) ( 19)
      
Net cash from fi nancing activities    (286) (1 032)
      
Other adjustments    0 2
      
Net change in cash and cash equivalents    (123) (6)
      
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the fi nancial year    212 211
Foreign exchange rate effect on cash and cash equivalents    (5) 7
Net change in cash and cash equivalents    (123) ( 6)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the fi nancial year   23 85 212
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

€ million Attributable to the equity holders of the Company

Equity on Jan. 1, 2005 308 - 700 13 15 (5) ( 59) 1 496 38 2 506

Cash fl ow hedges - - - - 6 - - - - 6

Fair value gains on available-for-sale fi nancial assets - - - - 3 - - - - 3

Net investment hedges - - - - - - 1 - - 1

Change in translation differences - - - - - - 19 - 0 19

Items recognized directly in equity - - - - 9 - 20 - 0 29

Net profi t for the fi nancial year - - - - - - - ( 364) 1 ( 363)

Total recognized income and expenses - - - - 9 - 20 (364) 1 ( 334)

Dividends paid - - - - - - - (91) - ( 91)

Management stock option program: value of received services - - - - - - - 3 - 3

Transfer of treasury shares - -  1 - - 3 - - - 4

Effect of the sale of the fabricated copper products business - - - - - - - - ( 24) (24)

Other changes - - - ( 1) - - - - - ( 1)

Equity on Dec. 31, 2005 308 - 701 11 23 (2) ( 38) 1 044 15 2 062

Cash fl ow hedges - - - - ( 3) - - - - ( 3)

Fair value gains on available-for-sale fi nancial assets - - - - 124 - - - - 124

Net investment hedges - - - - - - ( 2) - - ( 2)

Change in translation differences - - - - - - 6 - 0 6

Items recognized directly in equity - - - - 121 - 4 - 0 125

Net profi t for the fi nancial year - - - - - - - 962 2 963

Total recognized income and expenses - - - - 121 - 4 962 2 1 088

Unregistered share capital - 0 - - - - - - - 0

Dividends paid - - - - - - - ( 81) - ( 81)

Management stock option program: value of received services - - - - - - - 2 - 2

Equity on Dec. 31, 2006 308 0 701 11 144 (2) ( 35) 1 927 17 3 071
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1. Corporate information

Outokumpu Oyj is a Finnish public limited liability company organized un-
der the laws of Finland and domiciled in Espoo. The parent company, Outo-
kumpu Oyj, has been listed on the Helsinki stock exchange since 1988. A 
copy of the consolidated fi nancial statements is available at the Group’s 
website www.outokumpu.com, from Outokumpu Oyj/Corporate Communi-
cations, Riihitontuntie 7 B, P.O. Box 140, 02201 Espoo, Finland or via e-mail 
corporate.comms@outokumpu.com.
 Outokumpu is an international stainless steel company. Customers in a 
wide range of industries use our products and services worldwide. In 2006 
Outokumpu Oyj and its subsidiaries (together “the Outokumpu Group” or 
“the Group”) have been organized into two divisions: General Stainless and 
Specialty Stainless.
 In 2006, Outokumpu operated in about 30 countries and employed some 
8 500 people. The Group’s sales amounted to EUR 6.2 billion, of which 94% 
was generated outside Finland.

2. Accounting principles for the consolidated accounts

Basis of preparation 
The consolidated fi nancial statements of Outokumpu have been drawn up in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted 
by the European Union. The consolidated fi nancial statements are presented 
in millions of euros and have been prepared under the historical cost con-
ventions, unless otherwise stated in the accounting principles. 

Applied amended standards and interpretations
In 2006 the Group has adopted the amendments to the following standards 
and new interpretation with effective date January 1, 2006. Comparative 
fi gures have been restated as required.

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
IAS 19 Employee Benefi ts - Actuarial Gains and Losses, Group Plans and  
  Disclosures
IFRCI 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease

The adoption had no material impact on the Group’s consolidated accounts.

Adoption of new and amended standards in 2007–2008
Outokumpu will adopt in 2007 new standard IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures as well as amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial State-
ments - Capital Disclosures.
 The adoption will have impact only on the disclosures to the consoli-
dated fi nancial statements and comparative information for 2006 will be 
amended.
 In July 2007, International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) an-
nounced that no new standards or major amendments to standards are re-
quired to be applied before January 1, 2009. Therefore no material changes 
to Outokumpu’s accounting principles are expected in 2008.

Use of estimates 
The preparation of the fi nancial statements in accordance with IFRS requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, as well as the disclosure of contingent as-
sets and liabilities at the date of the fi nancial statements, and the reported 
amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. Accounting 
estimates are employed in the fi nancial statements to determine reported 
amounts, including the realizability of certain assets, the useful lives of 
tangible and intangible assets, income taxes, inventories, provisions, pen-
sion obligations, impairment of goodwill and other items. The basis for the 
estimates are described in more detail in these accounting principles and in 
connection with the relevant disclosure to the fi nancial statement. Although 
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current 
events and actions, actual results may differ from the estimates.

Principles of consolidation 
The consolidated fi nancial statements include the parent company Outo-
kumpu Oyj and all subsidiaries where over 50% of the subsidiary’s voting 
rights are controlled directly or indirectly by the parent company, or the 
parent company is otherwise in control of the company. Associated compa-
nies, where Outokumpu holds voting rights of 20–50% and in which Outo-
kumpu has signifi cant infl uence, but not control, over the fi nancial and ope-
rating policies, are included in the consolidated fi nancial statements using the 
equity method. When Outokumpu’s share of losses exceeds the interest in 
the associated company, the carrying amount is reduced to nil and recogni-
tion of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has 
incurred obligations in respect of the associated companies. The interest in 
an associated company is the carrying amount of the investment under the 
equity method together with any long-term interest that, in substance, forms 
part of the investor’s net investment in the associated company. 
 Acquired companies are accounted for using the purchase method 
according to which the assets and liabilities of the acquired company are 
measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. The cost of goodwill is the 
excess of the cost of the business combination over the acquirer’s interest in 
the net fair value of the identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabili-
ties. Goodwill on consolidation is not amortized but tested for impairment 
annually. In accordance with the exemption under IFRS 1, acquisitions prior 
to the IFRS transition date, January 1, 2003, have not been restated but the 
previous values are taken as the deemed cost. Subsidiaries acquired during 
the fi nancial year are included in the consolidated fi nancial statements from 
the date of their acquisition and disposed subsidiaries are included up to 
their date of sale.
 All intra-group transactions, receivables, liabilities and unrealized mar-
gins, as well as distribution of profi ts within the Group, are eliminated.  
 Minority interest is presented separately from the net profi t and dis-
closed as a separate item in the equity.

Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation results from a decision, pursuant to a single dis-
posal plan, to divest an operation comprising a separate major line of busi-
ness for which the assets less liabilities and net fi nancial results may be 
distinguished physically, operationally and for fi nancial reporting purposes. 
The disposal shall be highly probable. The result from discontinued opera-
tions is presented in the income statement as a separate item after the 
profi t from continuing operations. Comparative income statement fi gures are 
restated accordingly. Comparative balance sheet items are not restated but 
presented separately from the assets and liabilities of continuing operations 
from the date they have been classifi ed as discontinued operations.

Segment reporting 
Business segments provide products or services that are subject to risks and 
returns that are different from those of other business segments. Geographi-
cal segments provide products or services within a particular economic en-
vironment that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of 
segments in other economic environments. Outokumpu’s primary reporting 
segments are its business divisions General Stainless and Specialty Stain-
less. Other operations consists mainly of such business development and 
Corporate Management expenses that are not allocated to businesses. 
Pricing of inter-segment transactions is based on current market prices. 
Secondary reporting segments are geographical and based on the main
areas where Outokumpu has activities and sales: Finland, Sweden, Britain, 
Other Europe, North America, Asia and other countries.

Foreign currency transactions 
Items of each subsidiary included in the consolidated fi nancial statements 
are measured using the currency that best refl ects the economic substance 
of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to that subsidiary (“the 
functional currency”). The consolidated fi nancial statements are presented 
in euros, which is the functional currency of the parent company. Group 
companies’ foreign currency transactions are translated into functional 
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currencies using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transac-
tions. Receivables and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into 
functional currencies at the exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet 
date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement or 
translation of monetary interest-bearing assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies and related derivatives are recognized in fi nancial in-
come and expenses in the income statement. Foreign exchange differences 
arising in respect of other fi nancial instruments are included in operating 
profi t under sales, purchases or other income and expenses. Income state-
ments and cash fl ows of subsidiaries, whose functional and reporting cur-
rencies are not the euro, are translated into euros at the average exchange 
rates during the fi nancial period. Their balance sheets are translated at the 
exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date and the translation dif-
ferences are entered in equity. When a subsidiary is sold, possible transla-
tion differences are recognized in the income statement as part of the gain 
or loss on the sale.

Revenue recognition 
Sales are recognized after the signifi cant risks and rewards that are con-
nected with ownership have been transferred to the buyer, and the Group 
retains neither a continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually 
associated with ownership, nor effective control of those goods. Usually 
this means that sales are recorded upon delivery of goods to customers in 
accordance with agreed terms of delivery.
 Outokumpu ships stainless steel products to customers under a vari-
ety of delivery terms. The used terms are based on Incoterms 2000, terms 
of trade published and defi ned by the International Chamber of Commerce 
Terms of Trade. These trade terms set out for each specifi ed delivery term the 
primary duties of both the seller and the buyer of goods and identifi es when 
the risks and rewards of ownership transfer from the seller to the buyer.  
 The most common delivery terms used by Outokumpu are “C” terms, 
whereby the Group arranges and pays for the carriage and certain other 
costs, though the Group ceases to be responsible for the goods once they 
have been handed over to the carrier in accordance with the relevant term. 
Sale is recognized when goods are handed to the carrier.
 Less frequently are used “D” terms, under which the Group is obliged to 
deliver the goods to the buyer at the agreed destination, usually the buyer’s 
premises, in which case sales is recognized when the goods are delivered 
to the buyer, and “F” terms, where the buyer arranges and pays for the car-
riage, thus sale is recognized when the goods are handed over to the carrier 
contracted by the buyer.
 Revenues from services are recorded when the service has been per-
formed. Sales are shown net of indirect sales taxes and discounts.

Research and development 
Research and development costs are expensed as they are incurred, except 
for qualifying development costs, which are capitalized when it is probable 
that a development project will generate future economic benefi ts, and cer-
tain criteria, including commercial and technological feasibility, have been 
met. Capitalized development expenses, comprising materials, supplies, di-
rect labor and related overhead costs are amortized on a systematic basis 
over their expected useful lives.

Income taxes 
The Group income tax expense includes taxes of the group companies based 
on taxable profi t for the period, together with tax adjustments for previous 
periods and the change in deferred income taxes. The income tax effects 
of items recognized directly in equity are similarly recognized. The share 
of results in associated companies is reported in the income statement as 
calculated from net profi t and thus including the income tax charge. De-
ferred income taxes are stated using the balance sheet liability method, as 
measured with enacted tax rates, to refl ect the net tax effects of all tem-
porary differences between the fi nancial reporting and tax bases of assets 
and liabilities. The main temporary differences arise from the depreciation 
difference on property, plant and equipment, fair valuation of net assets in 

acquired companies, fair valuation of available-for-sale fi nancial assets and 
derivatives, intra-group inventory profi ts, pension and other provisions, un-
taxed reserves and tax losses and credits carried forward. Deductible tem-
porary differences are recognized as a deferred tax asset to the extent that 
it is probable that future taxable profi ts will be available, against which the 
deductible temporary difference can be utilized.  

Goodwill and other intangible assets 
Goodwill arising on an acquisition represents the excess of the cost of the 
acquisition over the fair value of the net identifi able assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities acquired. Goodwill is stated at cost and is not amor-
tized, but tested annually for impairment. In respect of associated compa-
nies, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of 
the investment.
 Other intangible assets include customer relations, capitalized develop-
ment expenses, patents, copyrights, licenses and software. The valuation of 
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is based on fair value. 
Other intangible assets are stated at cost. Intangible assets are amortized 
on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives. Development costs 
or acquisition costs of new software clearly associated with an identifi able 
product, which will be controlled by the Group and has probable economic 
benefi t exceeding its cost beyond one year, are recognized as an intangible 
asset and depreciated over the software’s expected useful life. Associated 
costs include staff costs of the development team and an appropriate por-
tion of overhead. An intangible asset is recognized only if it is probable that 
the future economic benefi ts that are attributable to the asset will fl ow to 
the Group, and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. All other 
expenditure is expensed as incurred.

Periods of amortization used for intangible assets are:

Intangible rights up to 20 years
Software up to 10 years

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment acquired by group companies are stated at 
historical cost, except the assets of acquired companies that were stated at 
their fair values at the date of acquisition. Depreciation is calculated based 
on the useful lives of the assets and adjusted for impairment charges, if 
any. The carrying value of the property, plant and equipment in the balance 
sheet represents the cost less accumulated depreciation and any impair-
ment charges. Interest costs on borrowings to fi nance the construction of 
property, plant and equipment are capitalized during the period of time that 
is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. Other 
borrowing costs are expensed.

Depreciation is based on the following expected useful lives:

Buildings 25–40 years
Heavy machinery 15–20 years
Light machinery and equipment 5–15 years

Land is not depreciated and mine properties are depreciated using the units-
of-production method based on the depletion of ore reserves. Expected 
useful lives of non-current assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date 
and, where they differ signifi cantly from previous estimates, depreciation 
periods are changed accordingly. Ordinary repairs and maintenance costs 
are charged to the income statement during the fi nancial year in which they 
are incurred. The cost of major renovations is included in the asset’s carry-
ing amount when it is probable that the Group will derive future economic 
benefi ts in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance of the 
existing asset. Major renovations are depreciated over the useful lives of 
the related assets. Gains and losses on sales and disposals are determined 
by comparing the received proceeds with the carrying amount and are in-
cluded in operating profi t. 
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Government grants
Government or other grants are recognized as income on a systematic basis 
over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs, which they 
are intended to compensate. Investment grants are recognized as revenue 
on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset. In the balance sheet, 
investments grants are deducted from the value of the asset they relate to.

Impairments 
Property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets, including good-
will and intangible assets, are reviewed for potential impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an 
asset may not be recoverable. Goodwill is tested at least annually. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest cash 
generating unit level for which there are separately identifi able, mainly in-
dependent, cash infl ows and outfl ows. The lowest level of cash generating 
units in the Group is the business unit. An impairment loss is the amount by 
which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the asset’s value in use. The value in use is de-
termined by reference to discounted future net cash fl ows expected to be 
generated by the asset. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed 
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount. However, the reversal must not cause that the adjusted 
value is higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined 
if no impairment loss had been recognized in prior years. Impairment losses 
recognized for goodwill are not reversed.

Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has substantially 
all the rewards and risks of ownership are classifi ed as fi nance leases. Fi-
nance leases are capitalized at the commencement of the lease term at the 
lower of the fair value of the leased property or the estimated present value 
of the underlying lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between 
the capital liability and fi nance charges, so as to achieve a constant interest 
rate on the fi nance balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obliga-
tions, net of fi nance charges, are included in interest-bearing liabilities with 
the interest element of the fi nance charge being recognized in the income 
statement over the lease period. Property, plant and equipment acquired 
under fi nance lease contracts are depreciated over the shorter of the useful 
life of the asset or lease period. Leases of assets, where the lessor retains 
all the risks and benefi ts of ownership, are classifi ed as operating leases. 
Payments made thereunder, and under rental agreements, are expensed on 
a straight-line basis over the lease periods.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments are classifi ed as loans and receivables, held-to-ma-
turity investments, available-for-sale fi nancial assets, fi nancial liabilities 
at amortized cost and fi nancial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profi t and loss. Equity securities are classifi ed as available-for-sale fi nancial 
assets. Interest-bearing securities and convertible loan receivables are clas-
sifi ed as fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t and loss. Highly liquid 
marketable securities with maturity not exceeding three months are classi-
fi ed as cash equivalents. 
 Available-for-sale fi nancial assets, as well as fi nancial assets and li-
abilities at fair value through profi t and loss, are measured at fair value 
and the valuation is based on quoted rates and market prices as well as 
appropriate valuation methodologies and models. Unlisted equity securities 
for which fair value cannot be reliably measured are recognized at cost less 
impairment. Fair value changes of available-for-sale fi nancial assets are 
recognized directly in equity. In the event such an asset is disposed of, the 
accumulated fair value changes are released from equity to fi nancial income 
and expenses in the income statement. Purchases and sales of available-for-
sale fi nancial assets are recognized at the trade date.  
 Loans and receivables as well as all fi nancial liabilities, except for de-
rivatives, are recognized at the settlement date and measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest rate method. Transaction costs are included 

in the initially recognized amount. The need for impairment is assessed 
separately for each loan receivable and when realized it is deducted from 
the carrying value. The impairment shall be based on evidence that it is 
probable that the Group will not be able to collect the loan receivable ac-
cording to initial terms. Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profi t and loss are recognized at the trade date and measured at fair value.
 All derivatives, including embedded derivatives, are initially recognized 
at fair value on the date Outokumpu has entered into the derivative contract, 
and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Determination of fair values 
is based on quoted market prices and rates, discounting of cash fl ows and 
option valuation models. 
 Fair values of currency forwards and swaps, interest rate swaps and 
metal forwards are determined by discounting the future nominal cash fl ows 
with relevant interest rates and then converting the discounted cash fl ows 
to the base currency using spot rates. Fair values of electricity forwards 
are determined by discounting the base currency denominated future values 
with relevant interest rates. The fair value of currency, interest rate and 
metal options is determined by utilizing commonly applied option valuation 
models. Optionalities included in electricity derivatives are measured at fair 
value with own valuation models.
 Part of derivatives and other fi nancial instruments may be designated as 
hedging instruments, in which case hedge accounting is applied. If hedge ac-
counting is not applied, fair value changes of derivatives are recognized in 
other income and expenses. However, if the derivative is assigned to fi nanc-
ing activities, the fair value changes are recognized in fi nancial income and 
expenses. In the case hedge accounting is applied, the accounting for hedging 
instruments is dependent on the particular nature of the hedging relationship. 
 Hedging programs are documented according to the requirement of IAS 
39 and designated hedging instruments are subject to prospective and ret-
rospective testing of effectiveness. Fair value changes of derivatives, which 
are assigned to hedge forecast transactions (cash fl ow hedging), are recog-
nized in equity to the extent that the hedge is effective. Such accumulated 
fair value changes are released into income as adjustments to sales or pur-
chases in the period when the hedged cash fl ow affects income. The inef-
fective portion of the gain or loss of the hedging instrument is recognized 
immediately in income.
 Fair value changes of fi nancial instruments, which are assigned to 
hedge translation risk related to net investments in foreign operations, are 
recognized in equity to the extent that the hedge is effective. Accumulated 
gains and losses from hedges are recognized as income only if the hedged 
subsidiary is sold or liquidated. The ineffective portion of the gain or loss of 
the hedging instrument is recognized in income. 
 All recognized fair value changes to equity are net of tax. 

Emission allowances 
EU emission trading system (ETS) started on January 1, 2005. Outokumpu’s 
sites covered by EU emissions trading are the stainless steel production 
plants in Tornio, Finland as well as in Avesta and Degerfors, Sweden. 
Accounting for carbon dioxide (CO2) allowances is based on current IFRS 
standards. Emission allowances are intangible assets. Purchased CO2 al-
lowances are recognized cost, whereas allowances received free of charge 
are recognized at nominal value, i.e. at zero. A provision to cover the obli-
gation to return emission allowances is recognized provided that emission 
allowances received free of charge will not cover the actual emissions. Con-
sequently the possible effect in operating profi t will refl ect the difference 
between what has been emitted and the received emission allowances. At 
the end of 2005, emission allowances are not refl ected in Outokumpu’s ba-
lance sheet because actual emissions do not exceed the amount of allow-
ances received free of charge and no allowances have been purchased from 
the market. Revenues from the sale of excess allowances are recognized as 
other operating income in the income statement.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is 
determined by the fi rst-in, fi rst-out (FIFO) method. The cost of fi nished goods 
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and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labor, other direct 
costs and related production overheads, but excludes borrowing costs. Net 
realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of busi-
ness, less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs neces-
sary to make the sale.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are carried at their anticipated realizable value, which 
is the original invoice amount less an estimated valuation allowance for 
impairment of these receivables. A valuation allowance for impairment of 
trade receivables is made when there is objective evidence that the Group 
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms 
of the receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits held at call with 
banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of 
three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Investments in highly liquid fi xed 
income funds are included in cash equivalents. Bank overdrafts are included 
within borrowings in current liabilities in the balance sheet.

Treasury shares
Where the company or its subsidiaries purchases the company’s own 
shares, the consideration paid, including any attributable transaction costs 
net of income taxes, is deducted from equity as treasury shares until they 
are cancelled. When such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any 
consideration received is included in equity.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized in the balance sheet when Outokumpu has a pre-
sent legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is 
probable that an outfl ow of economic benefi ts will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obliga-
tion. Provisions can arise from restructuring plans, onerous contracts and 
from environmental, litigation or tax risks.  

Employee benefi ts
Group companies in different countries have various pension plans in ac-
cordance with local conditions and practices. The plans are classifi ed as 
either defi ned contribution plans or defi ned benefi t plans. The contributions 
to defi ned contribution plans are charged to the income statement in the 
year to which they relate. The present value of the obligation of defi ned 
benefi t plans is determined using the projected unit credit method and the 
plan assets are measured at fair value at the measurement date. In calcula-
ting the Group’s obligation with respect to a plan, the extent to which the 
cumulative unrecognized actuarial gain or loss exceeds the greater of the 
present value of the defi ned benefi t obligation and the fair value of plan 
assets by more than 10% is identifi ed. That excess portion is recognized in 
the income statement over the expected average remaining working lives 
of the employees participating in the plan. Otherwise, the actuarial gain or 
loss is not recognized.

Share-based payment transactions
Outokumpu has applied IFRS 2 Share-based payments standard to the 2003 
option program in which the stock options have been granted after Novem-
ber 7, 2002, and to the share-based incentive program for 2006–2010. Eq-
uity-settled awards that were granted before November 7, 2002, have not 
been recognized as an expense in the fi nancial statements. The comparative 
information has been restated accordingly. 
 The stock options are valued at fair value on the grant date and rec-
ognized as an expense in the income statement during the vesting period. 
The expense of the stock options determined at the grant date refl ects the 
Group’s estimate of the number of stock options that will ultimately vest. 
The fair value is determined at the grant date using the Black-Scholes-Mer-
ton option pricing model and relevant statistical methods. The non-market 
criteria are not included in the fair value of the option but taken into account 
in the number of options that are assumed to vest. Outokumpu updates at 
each annual and interim closing the estimate of the fi nal amount of the op-
tions that will vest.
 The share-based incentive program is accounted partly as equity-settled 
and partly as cash-settled. The equity and cash settled parts both include 
market and non-market based vesting criteria. In determining the fair value 
of the fi rst earning period at the grant date, and also at later dates in relation 
to the cash-settled part of the program, statistical models have been applied 
in addition to market prices. The impact of non-market based vesting crite-
ria is assessed at each annual and interim closing. The program includes a 
mechanism to limit the payout in certain situations. These conditions have 
also been taken into account in the valuation. 
 The estimated expenses and changes in the value estimates of all share 
based incentive schemes are accrued and recognized in the income state-
ment according to IFRS 2. When the options are exercised, the proceeds 
received, net of any transaction costs, are credited to share capital and the 
share premium reserve.

Dividends
The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is not deducted from dis-
tributable equity until approved by the Annual General Meeting of Share-
holders.

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profi t attributable 
to the equity holders of the company by the weighted average number of 
shares in issue during the year, excluding shares purchased by Outokumpu 
and held as treasury shares. Diluted earnings per share is calculated as if 
the warrants and options were exercised at the beginning of the period. In 
addition to the weighted average number of shares outstanding, the de-
nominator includes the incremental shares obtained through the assumed 
exercise of the warrants and options. The assumption of exercise is not re-
fl ected in earnings per share when the exercise price of the warrants and 
options exceeds the average market price of the shares during the period. 
The warrants and options have a diluting effect only when the average mar-
ket price of the share during the period exceeds the exercise price of the 
warrants and options.
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3. Segment information

Outokumpu’s business activities were organized into two strategic primary 
segments in 2006: General Stainless and Specialty Stainless. Activities out-
side the segments are reported under Other operations. Outokumpu Techno-
logy and Outokumpu Copper Tube and Brass are reported as discontinued 
operations.
 Demand and consumption of stainless steel grows faster than any other 
metal in the world. Outokumpu is one of the largest producers of stainless 
steel and widely recognized as a leader in technical support as well as re-
search and development. The excellent properties of stainless steel make 
it an ideal choice in various demanding industrial and end-use applications 
such as food processing and chemicals industries, oil platforms, construc-
tion, automotive industries, cutlery and razor blades.

General Stainless
General Stainless comprises two business units: Tornio Works and Sheffi eld 
Primary Products. The main products are hot and cold rolled coil and sheet. 
Tornio Works is the largest stainless steel integrate in the world, including 
also the Kemi chromite mine and the ferrochrome smelter in Tornio. Shef-
fi eld Primary Products consists of a melt shop in Sheffi eld and a hot rolling 
mill for long products in Degerfors, Sweden. 
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Specialty Stainless
Specialty Stainless comprises six business units: Avesta Works, Thin Strip, 
Hot Rolled Plate, Long Products, Sheffi eld Special Strip and Outokumpu 
Stainless Tubular Products. The main products are hot and cold rolled sheet, 
quarto plate, wire rod and bar, precision strip, tubes and various fi ttings. 
Steel used by the Specialty Stainless units comes mostly from the melt-
shops in Avesta, Sweden and Sheffi eld, Britain, the latter being a part of the 
General Stainless segment.   
 Specialty Stainless is strong in tailored solutions and demanding cus-
tomer applications in fl at and long stainless as well as tubular products. 
Specialty Stainless serves customers with high requirements on the stain-
less steel properties such as steel grade, shape, thickness, surface fi nish or 
other specifi c needs.

Other operations
Other operations consists of activities outside the primary segments as well 
as industrial holdings. Business development and Corporate Management 
expenses that are not allocated to the businesses are also reported under 
Other operations.

3.1 Business segments

        Dis-
2006    General Specialty Other continued Elimi- 
€ million    Stainless Stainless operations operations nations Group
External sales    3 626 2 326 202 - - 6 154
Inter-segment sales    1 144 397 159 - (1 700) -
Sales    4 770 2 723 361 - (1 700) 6 154
Operating profi t    536 338 (35) - (15) 824
Share of results of associated companies    - - 8 - - 8
Financial income and expenses    - - - - - (48)
Profi t before taxes     - - - - - 784
Income taxes    - - - - - (178)
Discontinued operations    - - - 357 - 357
Net profi t for the fi nancial year    - - - - - 963

Depreciation    (129) (73) (2) - - (204)
Amortization    (2) (7) (8) - - (17)
Impairments    (0) (3) - - - (3)

Non interest-bearing assets    3 781 2 160 290 - (613) 5 619
Investments in associated companies    - - 47 - - 47
Other interest-bearing assets    - - - - - 468
Deferred tax assets    - - - - - 45
Assets held for sale    - - - 235 - 235
Total assets    - - - - - 6 414

Non interest-bearing liabilities    934 566 152 - (587) 1 066
Interest-bearing liabilities    - - - - - 1 977
Deferred tax liabilities    - - - - - 226
Liabilities held for sale    - - - 73 - 73
Total liabilities    - - - - - 3 342

Operating capital    2 847 1 594 138 - (25) 4 553
Net deferred tax liability    - - - - - (182)
Capital employed    - - - - - 4 371

Capital expenditure    83 95 9 - - 187
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3.1 Business segments

        Dis-  
2005    General Specialty Other continued Elimi- 
€ million    Stainless Stainless operations operations nations Group
External sales    2 877 2 013 125 - - 5 016
Inter-segment sales    1 196 726 146 - ( 2 068) -
Sales    4 073 2 739 272 - (2 068) 5 016
Operating profi t    (62) 110 8 - 1 57
Share of results of associated companies    - - 1 - - 1
Financial income and expenses    - - - - - (67)
Loss before taxes     - - - - - ( 8)
Income taxes    - - - - - (16)
Discontinued operations    - - - (339) - (339)
Net loss for the fi nancial year    - - - - - (363)

Depreciation    (131) ( 54) ( 2) - - ( 187)
Amortization    (2) ( 7) ( 11) - - (20)
Impairments    (77) ( 0) - - - (78)

Non interest-bearing assets    3 061 1 537 237 267 ( 357) 4 745
Investments in associated companies    - - 48 2 - 50
Other interest-bearing assets    - - - - - 461
Deferred tax assets    - - - - - 30
Assets held for sale    - - - 221 - 221
Total assets    - - - - - 5 507

Non interest-bearing liabilities    577 376 98 274 ( 337) 988
Interest-bearing liabilities    - - - - - 2 179
Deferred tax liabilities    - - - - - 188
Liabilities held for sale    - - - 89 - 89
Total liabilities    - - - - - 3 445

Operating capital    2 484 1 161 139 (7) ( 21) 3 756
Net deferred tax liability    - - - - - ( 158)
Capital employed    - - - - - 3 599

Capital expenditure    94 58 13 - - 164

3.2 Geographical segments

2006    Other North Asia and Other Inter Group
€ million Finland Sweden Britain Europe America Australia countries area total
Sales by destination 1) 344 316 319 3 713 605 781 77 - 6 154
Sales by origin 2) 3 623 2 347 1 147 1 056 488 172 15 (2 693) 6 154
Operating profi t 2) 408 266 29 98 53 5 1 (35) 824
Non interest-bearing assets 2) 3 225 1 691 509 461 210 55 3 (535) 5 619
Operating capital 2) 2 750 1 284 247 228 86 3 1 (46) 4 553
Capital expenditure 2) 89 82 6 4 4 1 - - 187

2005    Other North Asia and Other Inter Group
€ million Finland Sweden Britain Europe America Australia countries area total
Sales by destination 1) 291 268 300 2 610 558 871 118 - 5 016
Sales by origin 2) 2 544 2 473 1 471 817 424 169 22 ( 2 904) 5 016
Operating profi t 2) 35 108 (137) 29 21 2 0 - 57
Non interest-bearing assets 2) 2 689 1 216 533 377 176 79 37 ( 363) 4 745
Operating capital 2) 2 384 909 275 170 63 13 (48) (9) 3 756
Capital expenditure 2) 91 50 9 9 3 1 0 - 164

1) Sales by destination is presented for external sales.
2) Sales, operating profi t, non interest-bearing assets, operating capital and capital expenditure are presented by the locations of the Group companies.
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4. Discontinued operations

Outokumpu Technology
In June 2006, the Board of Directors of Outokumpu Oyj decided to start eval-
uating the possibility of listing Outokumpu Technology on the Helsinki Stock 
Exchange. Outokumpu Technology is a global leader in designing, develop-
ing and supplying tailored plants, processes and equipment for the minerals 
and metals processing industries worldwide. Outokumpu Technology has 
1 800 employees and generated sales of EUR 556 million in 2005. 
 On September 25, 2006, the Board decided to commence the offering of 
shares in Outokumpu Technology. The offering structure was a sale of shares 
through an Initial Public Offering (IPO). The offering commenced on Septem-
ber 26, 2006 and ended on October 9, 2006. In the offering Outokumpu Oyj 
sold 36 960 001 shares at EUR 12.50 per share and Outokumpu Oyj’s remain-
ing holding in Outokumpu Technology is 12%. Outokumpu has agreed that it 
will not sell shares in Outokumpu Technology Oyj without the consent of the 
global coordinator of the offering until April 7, 2007. Outokumpu Technology 
was classifi ed as a discontinued operation at the end of September. Net 
proceeds from the sale amounted to some EUR 449 million and the capital 
gain from the sale to EUR 328 million. Until disposal, the remaining holding 
in Outokumpu Technology Oyj is an available-for-sale fi nancial asset, valued 
at fair value recognized directly in equity. On December 31, 2006 the fair 
value of Outokumpu’s 12% holding totaled EUR 114 million.

Outokumpu Copper Tube and Brass
Outokumpu sold its fabricated copper products business to Nordic Capital 
in 2005. The scope of the transaction comprised the following businesses 
of the former Outokumpu Copper business area: Americas, Europe, Automo-
tive Heat Exchangers, Appliance Heat Exchanger & Asia, including 100% of 
Outokumpu Heatcraft, and the Forming equipment businesses. Sales in 2004 
by the divested businesses totaled EUR 1 684 million and the number of per-
sonnel was 6 400 at the year-end. Outokumpu Copper Tube and Brass busi-
ness was excluded from the transaction and comprises European sanitary 
and industrial tubes, including air-conditioning and refrigeration tubes in 
Europe, as well as brass rod. The assets and liabilities of Outokumpu Copper 
Tube and Brass are presented as held for sale. Outokumpu is implementing a 
vigorous improvement project in its existing copper tube and brass business 
and it is Outokumpu’s intention to divest the tube and brass business.
 In February 2006 Outokumpu sold its brass rod mill, Outokumpu Copper 
MKM Ltd, located in Aldridge in the UK, to The Meade Corporation. The total 
consideration of the transaction was some EUR 20 million. The production 
capacity of Outokumpu Copper MKM Ltd is some 40 000 tonnes of brass 
rod and its sales in 2005 amounted to some EUR 70 million. It employs 320 
people.
 In July and October 2006 Outokumpu sold three minor companies with 
insignifi cant effect on Outokumpu Copper Tube and Brass’ result.
 In the following tables Outokumpu Technology is referred to as OT, 
Outokumpu CopperTube and Brass as TB and Outokumpu Copper as OC.

Specifi cation of discontinued operations and assets held for sale

Income statement

     2006 2005

€ million    Total OT TB Total OT OC
Sales    1 178 501 678 1 477 556 921
Expenses    (1 124) ( 470) ( 654) ( 1 458) ( 531) ( 927)
Operating profi t    54 31 23 19 25 ( 6)
Net fi nancial expenses    (2) 5 ( 7) ( 8) 3 (10)
Profi t/(loss) before taxes    53 36 17 11 28 ( 16)
Income taxes    (17) (14) (3) (13) (9) (4)
Profi t/(loss) after taxes     35 22 14 ( 1) 19 (20)

Gain on the sale of Outokumpu Technology shares   328 328 -
Impairment loss recognized on the fair valuation of        
the Tube and Brass division’s assets and liabilities   (6) - (6) (86) - (86)
Loss on the sale of the fabricated copper products business   - - - ( 252) - ( 252)
Taxes    - - - - - -
After-tax result from the disposal and impairment loss   322 328 (6) (338) - (338)

Minority interest    0 0 - ( 1) (0) ( 1)
Net profi t/(loss) for the fi nancial year from discontinued operations  357 349 8 (339) 19 (360)

Balance sheet

€ million       2006  2005
Assets 
Intangible and tangible assets       6  9
Other non-current assets       4  4
Inventories       122  113
Other current, non interest-bearing assets       104  95
        235  221
Liabilities
Provisions       3  7
Other non-current, non interest-bearing liabilities      6  17
Trade payables       46  49
Other current, non interest-bearing liabilities       18  17
        73  89
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Cash fl ows

€ million       2006  2005
Operating cash fl ow       ( 13)  ( 6)
Investing cash fl ow       (145)  (83)
Financing cash fl ow       80  132
Total cash fl ows       (77)  42

Acquisitions in 2006 and 2005

In 2006 Outokumpu had no acquisitions.
 In 2005 Outokumpu acquired the remaining ownership in Outokumpu 
Heatcraft. The total consideration was EUR 32 million. The company was 
sold in connection with the sale of fabricated copper products on June 7, 
2005. 

Disposals in 2006 and 2005

Year 2006

On September 25, 2006, the Board decided to commence the offering of 
shares in Outokumpu Technology. The offering structure was a sale of shares 
through an Initial Public Offering (IPO). The offering commenced on Septem-
ber 26, 2006 and ended on October 9, 2006. In the offering Outokumpu Oyj 
sold 36 960 001 shares at EUR 12.50 per share and Outokumpu Oyj’s remain-
ing holding in Outokumpu Technology Oyj is 12%. Net proceeds from the 
sale amounted to some EUR 449 million and the capital gain from the sale to 
EUR 328 million.  For more details, see note 4. Discontinued operations.

 On February 27, 2006 Outokumpu sold its brass rod mill, Outokumpu 
Copper MKM Ltd, located in Aldridge in the UK, to The Meade Corporation. 
The total consideration of the transaction was some EUR 20 million. In July 
and October 2006 Outokumpu sold three minor companies with insignifi cant 
effect on Outokumpu Copper Tube and Brass’ result.  

Year 2005 

On April 5, 2005 Outokumpu and Nordic Capital signed a sales and purchase 
agreement according to which Outokumpu sold its fabricated copper prod-
ucts business to Nordic Capital. The sale was fi nalized on June 7, 2005. 
The total consideration was EUR 612 million, of which EUR 4 million was 
recognized as interest income. For more details, see note 4. Discontinued 
operations. 
 In November 2005 Outokumpu sold its stainless steel welding opera-
tions, Avesta Welding, to Austrian company Böhler-Uddeholm. Total consid-
eration was EUR 9 million.

Net assets of the disposed subsidiaries and businesses

€ million       2006  2005
Intangible assets       80  31
Property, plant and equipment       31  399
Other long-term assets       19  8
Derivative fi nancial instruments       0  3
Inventories       79  293
Receivables, interest-bearing       1  -
Receivables, non interest-bearing       314  352
Provisions       33  37
Liabilities, interest-bearing       6  -
Liabilities, non interest-bearing       335  183
        150  866
Gains/losses on disposals       334  (249)
Total consideration       483  617

Received in cash       484  517
Direct costs related to the disposals       (13)  ( 8)
Cash and cash equivalents in disposed subsidiaries and units      (133)   (19)
Net cash fl ow from disposals       338  489

5. Acquisitions and disposals

4.Discontinued operations
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6. Other operating income

€ million       2006  2005
Gain on the sale of the Okmetic shares       4  -
Gain on the sale of the Boliden shares       -  35
Gain on the sale of the stainless welding business      -  3
Gains on sale of other intangible and tangible assets      18  4
Other income items       12  18
Market price gains and losses from derivative fi nancial intsruments     10  23
        44  83

7. Other operating expenses

€ million       2006  2005
Losses on sale of intangible and tangible assets      (3)  (  11)
Impairment of intangible and tangible assets       (3)  (78)
Other expense items       (5)  (  6)
        (11)  (  94)

8. Function expenses by nature

€ million       2006  2005
Raw materials and merchandise       (4 008)  (  2 878)
Fuels and supplies       (325)  (330)
Energy expenses       (239)  (  221)
Freights       (227)  (214)
Maintenance       (111)   ( 138)
Employee benefi t expenses       (506)  (556)
Rents and leases       (26)  ( 30)
Hire processing       (44)  (  43)
Depreciation and amortization       (221)  (  207)
Production for own use       1  2
Change in inventories       542  (  57)
Other expenses       (199)  (  275)
        (5 364)  (4 947)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Expenses by function include cost of sales, selling and marketing, administrative as well as research and development expenses.

Operating income and expenses comprise following non-recurring items, which have affected fi nancial performance for the fi nancial year:

Non-recurring items

€ million       2006  2005
Gain on the sale of real estate in Britain       9  -
OSTP Fagersta closure       (8)  -
Coil Products Sheffi eld closure       -  (130)
Fixed cost reduction program       -  ( 34)
Gain on the sale of the Boliden shares    - 35
        1  (129)

9. Employee benefit expenses

€ million       2006  2005
Wages and salaries       (346)  ( 392)
Termination benefi ts       (15)  ( 56)
Social security costs       (58)  ( 78)
Pension and other post-employment benefi ts
 Defi ned benefi t plans       (11)  8
 Defi ned contribution plans       (47)  ( 33)
 Other post-employment benefi ts       (3)  ( 3)
Expenses from share-based payments       (4)  (3)
Other personnel expenses 1)       (22)  1
        (506)  ( 556)

1) Includes EUR 10 million (2005: EUR - million) of profi t-sharing bonuses based on the Finnish Personnel Funds Act.
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10. Financial income and expenses

€ million       2006  2005
Dividend income       6  6
Interest income
 Derivative fi nancial instruments       -  0
 Other       26  30
Other fi nancial income       2  1
Total fi nancial income       34  37

Interest expenses
 Current and long-term debt       (85)  (92)
 Finance lease arrangements       (3)  (2)
 Capitalized interests       -  0
 Derivative fi nancial instruments       (1)  ( 1)
Other fi nancial expenses       (5)  ( 7)
Total fi nancial expenses       (94)  (102)

Exchange gains and losses
 Derivative fi nancial instruments       (13)  7
 Other       18   (13)
Other market price gains and losses
 Derivative fi nancial instruments       8  5
 Other       0  0
Total market price gains and losses       12  ( 1)
Total fi nancial income and expenses       (48)  ( 67)

Exchange gains and losses in the income statement

€ million       2006  2005
In sales       (51)  66
In purchases       38  ( 43)
In other income       (8)  6
In fi nancial income and expenses       5  ( 6)
        (16)  23

Exchange gains and losses comprise EUR 21 million net exchange losses on derivative fi nancial instruments (2005: EUR 13 million net gains).
Majority of interest income is capitalized interest on loan receivables.

11. Income taxes

Income taxes in the income statement 

€ million       2006  2005
Current taxes       (156)  ( 63)
Deferred taxes       (22)  47
Total income taxes from continuing operations       (178)  (16)
Current taxes       -  (5)
Deferred taxes       -  (4)
Total income taxes from discontinued operations      -  (9)
Total income taxes       (178)  ( 24)

The difference between income taxes at the statutory tax rate in Finland 26% and income taxes recognized in the consolidated income statement is 
reconciled as follows:

€ million       2006  2005
Hypothetical income taxes at Finnish tax rate on consolidated profi t before tax    (204)  2
Effect of different tax rates outside Finland       (20)  (2)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses and tax exempt income     4  14
Tax effect of losses for which no deferred tax benefi t is recognized     (0)  ( 30)
Changes in the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets from prior years     41  3
Taxes for prior years       3  ( 2)
Impact of the changes in the tax rates on deferred tax balances     0  0
Tax effect of net results of associated companies      1  0
Effects of consolidation and eliminations       (3)  2
Other items       (1)  (3)
Income taxes in the consolidated income statement      (178)  (16)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

11. Income taxes

Deferred income taxes in the balance sheet

€ million       2006  2005
Deferred tax assets       45  30
Deferred tax liabilities       (226)  (188)
Net deferred tax liability       (182)  (158)

Deferred taxes have been reported as a net balance of those group companies that fi le a consolidated tax return or that may otherwise be consolidated for 
current tax purposes.

The gross movements of the deferred income tax balances

€ million       2006  2005
Net deferred tax liability on Jan. 1       (158)  ( 210)
Income statement charge from continuing operations      (22)  43
Translation differences       (4)  2
Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries       0  2
Taxes recognized in equity       1  ( 2)
Discontinued operations       1  7
Net deferred tax liability on Dec. 31       (182)  (158)

Movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the fi nancial year

     Recognized   Acqui-  
     in the   sitions/ Dis- 
€ million    income Recognized Translation disposals of continued 
2006   Jan. 1 statement in equity differences subsidiaries operations Dec. 31
Deferred tax liabilities
 Depreciation difference and other untaxed reserves  (204) (4) - (2) 0 1 (210)
 Fair value adjustments   (6) (2) 1 0 - 2 (5)
 Effects of consolidation and eliminations   (7) 4 - 0 - - (3)
 Other taxable temporary differences   (57) (0) - (0) - 11 (47)
    (275) (2) 1 (3) 0 14 (264)

Deferred tax assets
 Tax losses carried forward   55 (29) - (0) - (8) 18
 Fair value adjustments   4 (4) - 0 - - 0
 Pension obligations   4 6 - (0) - (2) 8
 Effects of consolidation and eliminations   14 6 - 0 - - 20
 Other tax deductible temporary differences   41 (1) - (1) - (3) 36
    118 (21) - (1) - (13) 82

Net deferred tax liability   (158) (22) 1 (4) 0 1 (182)

2005
Deferred tax liabilities
 Depreciation difference and other untaxed reserves  (287) 40 - 4 2 37 (204)
 Fair value adjustments   (4) ( 2) ( 1) 0 - 1 ( 6)
 Effects of consolidation and eliminations   ( 9) 2 - - - - ( 7)
 Other taxable temporary differences   ( 53) (9) - 1 - 3 ( 57)
    (353) 32 ( 1) 4 2 41 (275)

Deferred tax assets
 Tax losses carried forward   54 16 - 0 0 (15) 55
 Fair value adjustments   1 4 (1) (1) - - 4
 Pension obligations   14 (5) - 0 - ( 4) 4
 Effects of consolidation and eliminations   20 ( 6) - 0 - - 14
 Other tax deductible temporary differences   55 3 - ( 2) - ( 15) 41
    143 11 (1) ( 2) 0 ( 34) 118

Net deferred tax liability   (210) 43 (2) 2 2 7 (158)
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12. Earnings per share

        2006  2005

Result attributable to the equity holders of the Company, € million     962  (364)

Weighted average number of shares, in thousands      181 033  181 031

Earnings per share for result attributable to the equity holders of the Company, €    5.31  (2.01)
Earnings per share, €   
 from continuing operations       3.34  ( 0.14)
 from discontinued operations        1.97  ( 1.87)

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting average number of 
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all diluting potential shares. 
The Group has diluting options (2003 option program). The options have 
a diluting effect, when the exercise price with an option is lower than the 
market value of the Company share. The diluting effect is the number of 

shares that the Company has to issue gratuitously because the received 
funds from the exercised options do not cover the fair value of the shares. 
The fair value of the Company’s share is determined as the average market 
price of the shares during the period.

        2006  2005

Result attributable to the equity holders of the Company, € million     962  (364)

Weighted average number of shares, in thousands      181 033  181 031
Effect of 2003A share options, in thousands       324  109
Effect of 2003B share options, in thousands       373  -
Effect of 2003C share options, in thousands       29  -
Diluted average number of shares, in thousands      181 758  181 140

Diluted earnings per share, €       5.29  (2.01)
 from continuing operations       3.33  (0.14)
 from discontinued operations        1.97  (1.87)

13. Dividend per share

The dividends paid in 2006 were EUR 0.45 per share and in 2005 EUR 0.50 
per share. At the Annual General Meeting on March 28, 2007, a dividend 
of EUR 1.10 per share is proposed, corresponding to total dividends of EUR 

11. Income taxes

Aggregate deferred taxes recognized directly in equity

€ million       2006  2005
Cashfl ow hedging       (0)  ( 1)
Available-for-sale fi nancial assets       (0)  0
        (0)  ( 1)

Deferred tax assets of EUR 72 million (2005: EUR 92 million) have not been 
recognized in the consolidated fi nancial statements because the realization 
of the tax benefi t included in these assets is not probable. Majority of these 
unrecognized deferred tax assets relate to tax losses and credits amounting 
to EUR 198 million (2005: EUR 280 million), which can be carried forward 
in the future. None of these tax losses and credits (2005: EUR 1 million) 
will expire within next four years, but in 2011 the earliest. The consolidated 
balance sheet includes deferred tax assets of EUR 2 million (Dec. 31, 2005: 

EUR 35 million) in subsidiaries, which have generated losses in current or 
in prior year. The recognition of these assets is based on result estimates, 
which indicate that the realization of these deferred tax assets is probable. 
Deferred tax liability has not been recognized on all undistributed earnings 
of subsidiaries because distribution of the earnings is in the control of the 
Group and such distribution is not probable within foreseeable future. There 
was not any such undistributed earnings at the end of the year (Dec. 31, 
2005: EUR 6 million).

199 million for 2006. This dividend payable is not refl ected in the fi nancial 
statements.
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14. Intangible assets

    Intangible asset, Intangible asset, Goodwill Total
    internally generated acquired  

          
€ million   Licenses Other Patents Software Other  
Historical cost on Jan. 1, 2006   1 1 13 53 133 451 652
Translation differences   - - - 0 0 0 1
Additions   - - 0 1 1 - 2
Disposal of subsidiaries   - - - - - - -
Disposals   - - - (2) (4) - (6)
Reclassifi cations   - 1 - 0 (1) - 1
Discontinued operations   (1) (2) (9) (9) (6) (47) (74)
Historical cost on Dec. 31, 2006   - 0 4 43 124 404 576

Accumulated amortization and impairment on Jan. 1, 2006  (0) (1) (3) (30) (40) - (75)
Translation differences   - - - (0) (1) - (1)
Disposal of subsidiaries   - - - - - - -
Disposals   - - - 1 1 - 2
Reclassifi cations   - - - (0) - - (0)
Amortization   - - 0 (6) (11) - (17)
Impairments    - - - - - - -
Discontinued operations   0 1 2 2 3 - 9
Accumulated amortization and impairment on Dec. 31, 2006 - (0) (1) (34) (48) - (82)

Carrying value on Dec. 31, 2006   - 0 2 10 76 404 493
Carrying value on Jan. 1, 2006   1 0 10 23 93 451 578

Historical cost on Jan. 1, 2005   1 7 13 56 137 477 692
Translation differences   0 0 0 0 0 4 4
Additions   - - 3 4 7 0 15
Disposal of subsidiaries   - - - - (0) - (0)
Disposals   - - (4) (3) (11) (1) ( 18)
Reclassifi cations   (0) (2) (0) 3 6 - 6
Discontinued operations   - (4) (0) (7) (6) ( 29) (46)
Historical cost on Dec. 31, 2005   1 1 13 53 133 451 652

Accumulated amortization and impairment on Jan. 1, 2005  (0) (5) (4) (30) (32) - (72)
Translation differences   0 0 0 0 0 - 0
Disposal of subsidiaries   - - - - 0 - 0
Disposals   - - 2 1 3 - 6
Reclassifi cations   - 1 0 0 (1) - 0
Amortization   (0) (0) (1) (7) (13) - ( 22)
Impairments    - - - - (0) - (0)
Discontinued operations   - 3 0 6 4 - 13
Accumulated amortization and impairment on Dec. 31, 2005  (0) (1) (3) (30) (40) - ( 75)

Carrying value on Dec. 31, 2005   1 0 10 23 93 451 578
Carrying value on Jan. 1, 2005   1 2 9 26 104 477 620

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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14. Intangible assets

Amortization by function

€ million       2006  2005
Cost of sales       (14)  (17)
Selling and marketing expenses       0  (0)
Administrative expenses       (3)  ( 3)
Research and development expenses       0  0
Continuing operations       (17)  ( 20)

Discontinued operations       -  ( 2)

Goodwill allocation to the segments and divisions

€ million       2006  2005
General Stainless       338  338
Specialty Stainless       66  66
Continuing operations       404  404

Discontinued operations       -   47

The Group       404  451

Impairment testing of goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) according to 
the business organization. The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined 
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations are based on the 
cash fl ow projections in the strategic plans approved by the management 
covering a three-year period. Projections for the fourth and fi fth year are 
estimated to equal the third planning year. The estimated sales and produc-
tion volumes are derived from the utilization of existing property, plant and 
equipment. The most important assumptions are the conversion margins, 
product mix and nickel price. In defi ning its planning assumptions, in ad-
dition to general conservatism, Outokumpu makes use of growth, demand 
and price estimates by market research institutions. Discount rate is the 
weighted average pre-tax cost of capital (WACC) as defi ned for Outokumpu. 
The components of WACC are risk-free yield rate, market risk premium, in-
dustry specifi c beta, cost of debt and targetted capital structure. The WACC 
used in the calculations was 8% in 2006 (2005: 8%). Cash fl ows beyond 
the fi ve year period are calculated using terminal value method, where the 
EBITDA (=earnings before interest, taxes, amortizations and depreciation) of 
the fi fth planning period is multiplied by six and discounted using the WACC 
described above. According to the performed sensitivity analysis it does not 
appear that any reasonable long-term change in the key assumptions on 
which Outokumpu’s recoverable amounts are based would cause their re-
spective values to fall short of their carrying amounts at December 31, 2006. 
As a result of the performed impairment tests, no impairment losses have 
been recognized.

Emission allowances
As of January 1, 2005 Emissions Trading System (ETS) started in the Europe-
an Union. Outokumpu’s stainless steel plants in Finland and Sweden belong 
to the Greenhouse Gas emission trading system. In February, carbon dioxide 
allowances for the fi rst three-year period 2005–2007 were granted to the 
Tornio site in Finland and the steel making and casting plants at Avesta 
and Degerfors in Sweden. Purchased CO2 allowances are accounted for as 
intangible assets at cost, whereas CO2 emission allowances received free 
of charge are accounted for at nominal value, i.e. at zero. A provision to 
cover the obligation to return emission allowances is recognized provided 
that emission allowances received free of charge will not cover the actual 
emissions. Consequently the possible effect in operating profi t will refl ect 
the difference between what has been emitted and the received emission 
allowances. On December 31, 2006, emission allowances are not refl ected 
in Outokumpu’s balance sheet because no allowances have been purchased 
and because actual emissions did not exceed the amount of received allow-
ances in 2006. To secure competitive price of emission allowances in the 
Kyoto period 2008–2012, Outokumpu invested EUR 1.5 million in a carbon 
fund in 2006. Actual CO2 emissions in 2006 were about 780 000 tons (2005: 
730 000 tons). The Group sold emission allowances for EUR 6.5 million in 
2006 (2005: 2.5 million) and the proceeds from the sale is recognized under 
other operating income. At the end of 2006 the Group had 1 070 000 tons 
unused emission allowances permitted for the period 2005–2007 and the 
fair value was EUR 7 million.
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15. Property, plant and equipment

         Advances 
         paid and
       Machinery Other  construction 
     Mine  and tangible  work in 
€ million   Land properties Buildings equipment assets progress Total
Historical cost on Jan. 1, 2006   41 37 852 3 088 79 92 4 188
Translation differences   0 - 5 31 0 2 37
Additions   - 1 2 51 1 124 179
Disposal of subsidiaries   - - - (0) - - (0)
Disposals   (1) - (44) (254) (1) (0) (299)
Reclassifi cations   (1) 2 10 44 5 (69) (8)
Discontinued operations   (1) - (12) (64) (0) (10) (88)
Historical cost on Dec. 31, 2006   39 39 813 2 896 84 138 4 009

Accumulated depreciation and impairment on Jan. 1, 2006  (  3) (  7) (  341) ( 1 690) (  22) (0) ( 2 063)
Translation differences   0 - (3) (18) (0) - (21)
Disposal of subsidiaries   - - - 0 - - 0
Disposals   0 - 43 252 0 - 296
Reclassifi cations   0 - 4 4 (0) - 8
Depreciation   - (1) (28) (170) (5) - (204)
Impairments   - - (0) (3) (0) (0) (3)
Discontinued operations   - - 4 44 0 - 48
Accumulated depreciation and impairment on Dec. 31, 2006  (2) (7) (321) (1 581) (28) (0) (1 939)

Carrying value on Dec. 31, 2006   36 32 492 1 315 56 138 2 069
Carrying value on Jan. 1, 2006   38 30 511 1 398 57 92 2 125

Historical cost on Jan. 1, 2005   58 34 983 3 813 100 138 5 127
Translation differences   1 - 10 53 3 2 68
Additions   2 2 6 67 6 74 157
Disposal of subsidiaries   (0) - (0) (10) - - (11)
Disposals   (1) - (  6) ( 26) (0) (0) (33)
Reclassifi cations   0 1 7 45 2 (71) (16)
Discontinued operations   (19) - (148) ( 853)  (32) ( 51) (1 104)
Historical cost on Dec. 31, 2005   41 37 852 3 088 79 92 4 188

Accumulated depreciation and impairment on Jan. 1, 2005   (3) (6) (360) ( 1 968) ( 44) ( 2) ( 2 383)
Translation differences   (0) - (4) ( 32) ( 3) (0) ( 40)
Disposal of subsidiaries   - - 0 5 - - 5
Disposals   - - 4 20 0 - 24
Reclassifi cations   (1) ( 0) 1 8 1 - 9
Depreciation   1  (0) (30) (161) ( 3) - (194)
Impairments   (0) - ( 9) (68) ( 0) - (77)
Discontinued operations   0 - 57 506 27 2 593
Accumulated depreciation and impairment on Dec. 31, 2005  (3) ( 7) (341) (1 690) (22) (0) (2 063)

Carrying value on Dec. 31, 2005   38 30 511 1 398 57 92 2 125
Carrying value on Jan. 1, 2005   55 27 623 1 845 56 137 2 743

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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15. Property, plant and equipment

Depreciation by function

€ million       2006  2005
Cost of sales       (196)  (177)
Selling and marketing expenses       (3)  (2)
Administrative expenses       (4)  (7)
Research and development expenses       (1)  (1)
Continuing operations       (204)  (187)

Discontinued operations       -  (7)

No interest was capitalized on investment projects during the fi nancial year (2005: EUR 0.2 million). Total interest capitalized on Dec. 31, 2006 was EUR 50 
million (Dec. 31, 2005: EUR 71 million).

Assets leased by fi nance lease agreements

2006       Machinery and  
€ million     Buildings  equipment  Total
Historical cost     4  70  74
Accumulated depreciation     (1)  (12)  (13)
Carrying value on Dec. 31, 2006     2  58  61

2005       Machinery and  
€ million     Buildings  equipment  Total
Historical cost     3  65  68
Accumulated depreciation     (1)  (8)  (9)
Carrying value on Dec. 31, 2005     2  56  59

16. Investments in associated companies

€ million       2006  2005
Investments in associated companies at cost
 Historical cost on Jan. 1       33  281
 Translation differences       0  (0)
 Additions       -  3
 Transfer from/to investments in associated companies      (4)  18
 Disposals       (4)  (263)
 Discontinued operations       (3)  (5)
 Historical cost on Dec. 31       23  33

Equity adjustment to investments in associated companies on Jan. 1     17  10
 Change in translation differences       (1)  (0)
 Dividends received during fi nancial year       (1)  (1)
 Disposals and other changes       (1)  8
 Share of results of associated companies       8  0
 Discontinued operations       1  ( 0)
 Equity adjustment to investments in associated companies on Dec. 31     23  17

Carrying value of investments in associated companies on Dec. 31     47  50
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16. Investments in associated companies

Associated companies

          Ownership, 
         Domicile %
ABB Industriunderhåll AB        Sweden 49
Fagersta Stainless AB        Sweden 50
Kopparlunden Development AB        Sweden 50
Outokumpu Nordic Brass AB        Sweden 50
Rapid Power Oy        Finland 33

Principal associated companies

2006         Ownership,
€ million    Domicile Assets Liabilities Sales Profi t %
Fagersta Stainless AB    Sweden 141 85 211 15 50
Rapid Power Oy    Finland 262 207 40 1 33

2005         Ownership,
€ million    Domicile Assets Liabilities Sales Profi t %
Okmetic Oyj 1)    Finland 83 49 50 (0) 32
Fagersta Stainless AB    Sweden 73 31 164 4 50
Rapid Power Oy    Finland 271 218 43 (0) 33

1) Outokumpu sold its shares in Okmetic Oyj in 2006 and the ownership decreased to 16%. Proceeds from the disposal totaled EUR 9 million and resulted in a capital gain of EUR 4 million. 

The remaining holding is classifi ed as an available-for-sale fi nancial asset.

17. Available-for-sale financial assets

€ million       2006  2005
Carrying value on Jan. 1       41  61
Translation differences       1   (1)
Additions       5  1
Disposals       0  (5)
Transfer from investments in subsidiaries       16  -
Transfer from/to investments in associated companies      4  (18)
Fair value changes       124  3
Gains and losses on disposals in the income statement      0  1
Discontinued operations       (1)  (1)
Carrying value on Dec. 31       189  41

Listed equity securities       127  4
Unlisted equity securities       62  37

Less:
Non-current listed equity securities       (114)  0
Non-current unlisted equity securities       (57)  (37)
Current available-for-sale fi nancial assets       17  4

Fair value       189  41
Acquisition value        (46)  (22)
Fair value changes       143  19
Deferred tax liability       0  0
Fair value reserve in equity       143  19

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets comprise listed and unlisted equity se-
curities, which are valued at fair value. Listed equity securities include 
5 039 999 shares of Outokumpu Technology Oyj, and their fair value on Dec. 
31, 2006 amounted to EUR 114 million. Unlisted equity securities include 
equity securities with carrying value of EUR 14 million, for which the fair 
value cannot be reliably determined. These assets are measured at cost less 

possible impairment. Valuation methods used for unlisted equity securities 
have been chosen by company so that information available for the valua-
tion and the characteristics of the company’s business can be adequately 
taken into account. No deferred tax liability has been recognised on the fair 
value changes because according to the current view of the management 
the gains on the sale of the shares will not be taxable income.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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18. Share-based payment plans

The Annual General Meeting held in 2003 passed a resolution on a stock 
option program for management. Stock options are part of the Group’s incen-
tive and commitment-building system for key employees, and the objective 
is to encourage recipients to work in the long term to increase shareholder 
value. The reward system is based on both earnings and the Company’s rela-
tive performance, with rewards geared to accomplishments.
 Outokumpu’s Board of Directors confi rmed on February 2, 2006 a share-
based incentive program as part of the key employee incentive and com-
mitment system of the Company. The share incentive program will last fi ve 
years, comprising three earning periods of three calendar years each. The 
earning periods commence on January 1, 2006, January 1, 2007 and Janu-
ary 1, 2008. The objective of the share-based incentive program is to reward 

for good performance, which supports the Company’s strategy and at the 
same time to direct the management’s attention to increasing the Company’s 
shareholder value over a longer period of time. The program offers a possi-
bility to receive Outokumpu shares and cash (equaling approximately to the 
amount of taxes) as an incentive reward, if the targets set by the Board for 
each earning period are achieved. 
 IFRS 2 Share-based payments standard has been applied for the 2003 
stock option program and for the share-based incentive program for 2006–
2010. The total estimated value of the programs is EUR 16 million. This value 
is recognized as an expense in the income statement during the vesting 
periods.

General terms and conditions of the option program:

   2003A 2003B_I 2003B_II 2003C
Grant date  June 12, 2003 Feb. 10, 2004 Sept. 15, 2004 March 22, 2005 
The number of options granted  742 988 1 088 820 60 000 1 190 000
The maximum number of granted on Dec. 31  625 979 1 028 820 60 000 87 500
Exercise price, € 1)  9.55 12.61 12.61 13.24
Term of contract   June 12, 2003 –   Feb. 10, 2004 –   Sept. 15, 2004 – March 22, 2005 –   
   March 1, 2009 March 1, 2010 March 1, 2010 March 1, 2011
Vesting period  June 12, 2003 –  Feb. 10, 2004 –  Sept. 15, 2004 –   March 22, 2005 – 
   Aug. 18, 2006 Aug. 31, 2007 Aug. 31, 2007 Aug. 31, 2008
Conditions of the agreement  The Group’s earnings per The Group’s earnings per The Group’s earnings per The development of the
   share in 2003 and share share in 2004 and share share in 2004 and share Group’s operating profi t
   price performance price performance price performance in 2005 (EBIT), and
   outperforming the share outperforming the share outperforming the share development of the
   price trend of peer price trend of peer price trend of peer Group’s total shareholder
   companies. The companies. The companies. The return (TSR) compared
   additional earnings additional earnings additional earnings to a peer group. 
   criterion for Group  criterion for Group  criterion for Group The additional criterion
   Executive Committee Executive Committee Executive Committee for Group Executive
   members was the members was the members was the Committee members
   Group’s gearing. Group’s gearing. Group’s gearing. was the Group’s gearing.

1) Paid dividends have been deducted.

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2006 is 2.9 years (2005: 4.3 years)

No new options were granted during the fi nancial year 2006. In 2005 the average fair value of options granted was € 2.03.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model, taking into account 
the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.

Inputs of the model:

   2003A 2003B_I 2003B_II 2003C_I
Risk-free interest rate (%)  3.05 3.79 3.64 3.38
Expected life of options at the grant 
date (years)  5.7 6.1 5.5 6.0
Share price at the grant date, €  7.75 10.35 13.49 13.46
Estimated forfeit ratio 
at the grant date, % p.a.  2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2
Estimated forfeit ratio at the balance 
sheet date, % p.a.  10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0
Actual forfeit ratio, % p.a.   3.6 12.2 0.0 1.3
Estimated outcome of non-market 
based criteria (at the grant date)  -1) -1) -1) 37.0
Estimated outcome of market 
based criteria (at the grant date)  -1) -1) -1) 6.8
Fair value of the option at the grant date, €  2.99 3.78 4.48 3.79

1) The actual value have been used on the transition date to IFRS 2 standard (January 1, 2005).
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18. Share-based payment plans

Number of options and weighted average exercise prices of, and movements in, share options during the year:

    2006  2005
    Weighted average  Weighted average
   2006 exercise price  2005 exercise price
   Options €/share Options €/share
Outstanding at the beginning of the year   2 951 761 12.60 2 369 444 12.62
Granted during the year   - - 1 265 000 13.65
Forfeited during the year   (113 639) 12.00 (134 628) 12.17
Exercised during the year   (33 323) 9.55 - -
Expired during the year   (1 062 500) 13.24 (548 055) 13.06
Outstanding at the end of the year   1 742 299 11.54 2 951 761 12.60
Exercisable at the end of the year   625 979 9.55 - -

General terms and conditions of the share-based incentive program:

      Share-based
      incentive program
      2006 – 2008
Grant date      Feb. 2, 2006
Vesting period     Jan. 1, 2006 –Dec. 31, 2008
Vesting conditions:      
 Market Share price performance outperforming 
  the share price trend of peer companies
 Non-market Achieving targets set for the 
  Excellence programs
 Other relevant conditions A limit, based on salary, has been set to 
  the received benefi t from the program

The fair value of share-based incentive program is determined using statistical model. Inputs of the model:

      Share-based
      incentive program
      2006– 2008
Share price at the grant date, €      14.90
Share price at the balance sheet date, €      29.66
Reference ratio annualized volatility at the grant date, % pa.    25.0
Reference ratio annualized volatility at the balance sheet date, %    25.9
Estimated forfeit ratio at the grant date, % p.a.     5.0
Estimated forfeit ratio at the balance sheet date, % p.a.     10.0
Actual forfeit ratio, % p.a.      3.3
Estimated outcome of market criteria at the grant date, %     39.4
Estimated outcome of non-market criteria at the grant date, %    50.0
Estimated outcome of market criteria at the balance sheet date, %    59.0
Estimated outcome of non-market criteria at the balance sheet date, %    100.0

Share-based payments included in employee benefi t expenses:

€ million    2006 2005
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions    (2) (3)
Cash-settled share-based payment transactions    (2) -
      (4) (3)

Total carrying amount of liabilities for cash-settled arrangements on Dec. 31   2 -
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19. Financial risk management and insurances

The main objective of the Group’s fi nancial risk management is to reduce 
the impacts of price fl uctuations in fi nancial markets and other factors of 
uncertainty on earnings, cash fl ows and balance sheet, as well as to ensure 
suffi cient liquidity.
 The Board has approved the risk management policy, which defi nes re-
sponsibilities, risk management process and other risk management guide-
lines for the Group. The Board oversees the Group’s risk management frame-
work. CEO and the Group Executive Committee have approved more detailed 
operating procedures for fi nancial risk management. CEO and the Group 
Executive Committee approve risk limits based on Group’s risk tolerance and 
monitor fi nancial risks and implementation of risk management procedures. 
The Chief Financial Offi cer is responsible for implementation and develop-
ment of fi nancial risk management.
 Financial risks consist of market, default and liquidity risks. The busi-
ness units hedge their market risks against the Group’s Treasury, which does 
most of the fi nancial contracts with banks and other fi nancial institutions. 
Treasury is also responsible for managing certain group-level risks, such as 
interest rate risk and foreign currency translation risk. Group’s Raw Material 
function is responsible for nickel derivatives trading and Energy function for 
electricity derivatives trading.
 Risk Management purchases substantial part of Group’s insurances. The 
most important insurance lines are property damage/business interruption, 
liability and credit. Group’s own insurance company underwrites part of the 
risks.

Market risk
Market risks are caused by changes in foreign exchange and interest rates, 
as well as commodity, energy and security prices. These changes may have 
a signifi cant impact on the Group’s earnings, cash fl ows and balance sheet.
In order to mitigate adverse impacts of market price changes Outokumpu 
uses derivative contracts. Hedge accounting is applied to hedges of fore-
casted electricity purchases of the Finnish production facilities and to 
hedges of net investment in the foreign subsidiaries. Derivatives, for which 
hedge accounting is not applied, have been entered into for the purpose of 
reducing adverse impacts of market price changes on earnings and cash 
fl ows related to business and fi nancing activities. In this description of fi nan-
cial risk management the term hedging has been used in its broadest sense 
and therefore it also includes usage of non-hedge-accounted derivatives.
 Non-hedge-accounted electricity and interest rate derivatives cause 
timing differences between derivative gains/losses and electricity purchas-
es/inte rest expenses. Currency and metal forwards made to hedge sales and 
purchase orders cause similar type of timing differences between derivative 
gains/losses and sales/purchases.

Exchange rate risk
Major part of the Group’s sales is in euros and US dollars. A signifi cant part 
of expenses arise in euros, US dollars, Swedish kronas and British pounds.
 The Group hedges most of its fair value risk. Cash fl ow risk related to 
fi rm commitments is hedged to large extent and forecasted cash fl ows are 
hedged selectively, based on separate decisions. Outokumpu does not cur-
rently hedge its income statement translation risk and translation of equity 
is hedged selectively. The total non-euro-denominated equity of the Group’s 
foreign subsidiaries and associated companies was EUR 1 378 million on 
December 31, 2006 (2005: EUR 1 264 million). Approximately 7.9% (2005: 
5.6%) of the net investment exposure was hedged.
 On December 31, the Group had EUR 2 139 million (Dec. 31, 2005: EUR 
1 796 million) outstanding foreign exchange forward contract amounts. The 
nominal amounts do not represent the amounts exchanged by the parties, 
and those amounts may also include positions, which have been closed off.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk is monitored as cash fl ow and fair value risks. 
In order to manage the balance between risk and cost effi ciently, signifi cant 
part of the loans and fi nancial investments have short-term interest rate as 

a reference rate. In order to reduce cash fl ow risk the Group has interest rate 
swaps, where Outokumpu pays fi xed rate and receives variable rate.
 Euro, Swedish krona and British pound have substantial contribution to 
overall interest rate risk. Approximately 72% of the Group’s interest-bearing 
liabilities have interest period of less than one year.
 On December 31, the Group had outstanding interest rate swap con-
tract amounts EUR 283 million (Dec. 31, 2005: EUR 432 million). The nominal 
amounts do not represent the amounts exchanged by the parties, and those 
amounts may include also positions, which have been closed off.

Commodity and energy price risk
Outokumpu uses substantial amount of raw materials and energy, for which 
prices are determined in regulated markets, such as London Metal Exchange 
and Nord Pool ASA. Timing differences between raw material purchase and 
pricing of products, changes in inventory levels and the capability to pass on 
increases in raw material and energy prices to end-product prices, all affect 
hedging requirements and activities.
 The most important commodity price risks are caused by nickel and to 
certain extent copper price fl uctuations. Majority of stainless steel sales 
contracts include an alloy adjustment factor clause, with the aim of reducing 
the risk arising from the time difference between raw material purchase and 
product delivery. Outokumpu uses metal derivatives to reduce the impacts 
of nickel and copper price changes on earnings and cash fl ows. Nickel and 
copper price changes also have a major impact on the Group’s working capi-
tal and cash fl ow before fi nancing. This cash fl ow risk is not hedged with 
derivatives.
 On December 31, the Group had the following outstanding metal deriva-
tive contract amounts (the notional amounts do not represent the amounts 
exchanged by the parties, and those amounts may include also positions, 
which have been closed off):

Tons  2006 2005

Forward and futures nickel contracts  3 636 1 608

Forward and futures copper contracts  6 000 33 775

Forward and futures zinc contracts  2 150 1 300

Some of the Group’s production facilities are participating the EU Emission 
Trading Scheme. Realized carbon dioxide emissions, granted emission al-
lowances and forecasted emissions are monitored and assessed centrally. 
Emission allowance trading is centralized to Treasury.
 Outokumpu has energy intensive production processes utilizing mainly 
electrical energy but also natural gas, liquefi ed petroleum gas and some other 
fuels. Spot and forward prices of many energy products are relatively volatile.
 Electrical energy utilized by the Group’s Nordic production facilities is 
purchased and managed centrally. In other facilities, electrical energy is 
purchased locally. Electricity price risk is reduced with price fi xed supply 
contracts and derivatives. Outokumpu also has partial ownerships in energy 
producing companies to secure competitive pricing of electricity. Hedge ac-
counting is applied to part of the electricity derivatives. The Group has not 
used derivatives to reduce the risk caused by changes in fuel prices.
 On December 31, 2006 the Group had exchange traded electricity de-
rivatives of 0.0 TWh (Dec. 31, 2005: 0.1 TWh) and other derivatives of 4.1 
TWh (Dec. 31, 2005: 4.6 TWh). The electricity consumption of the Group’s 
Nordic production facilities was 3.0 TWh (2005: 2.8 TWh).

Securities price risk
Outokumpu has investments in equity securities and the portfolio also in-
cludes debt notes. On December 31, 2006 the biggest shareholding in listed 
equity securities was in Outokumpu Technology Oyj. The most signifi cant 
debt investment was the receivable from Luvata International Oy. Apart from 
currency risk related to receivables, securities have not been hedged with 
derivatives.
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20. Fair values of derivative instruments

  2006  2005

€ million  Positive fair value Negative fair value Net fair value Net fair value
Currency derivatives
 Currency forwards   10 19 (9)  (1)

Interest rate derivatives
 Interest rate swaps   10 - 10 3

Metal derivatives 
 Forward and futures nickel contracts   9 0 9 1
 Forward and futures copper contracts   1 2 (1) (1)
 Forward and futures zinc contracts   0 0 0 0

Electricity derivatives
 Publicly traded electricity derivatives    0 0 0 1
 Other electricity derivatives  17 9 8 13
    48 31 16 15

Less long-term derivatives
 Interest rate derivatives   10 -  
 Electricity derivatives  14 6  
Short-term derivatives   24 25  

Fair values are estimated based on market rates and prices, discounted future cash fl ows and, in respect of options, on evaluation models.

Default risk
The Group’s trade receivables are generated by a large number of custom-
ers. However, there have been some single customer credit risk concentra-
tions. Credit risk related to business operations is reduced for example with 
credit insurances and letters of credit.
 The Group’s Treasury manages majority of the Group’s credit risk related 
to other fi nancial instruments. Outokumpu seeks to reduce these risks by 
limiting the counterparties to banks, other fi nancial institutions, brokers and 
suppliers of electrical power, which have good credit standing. All invest-
ments related to liquidity management are made in liquid instruments with, 
as far as possible, low credit risk.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s Treasury raises most of the Group’s interest-bearing debt 
centrally. The Group seeks to reduce liquidity and refi nancing risks with ba-
lanced maturity profi le of loans as well as by keeping suffi cient amount of 
credit lines available. Effi cient cash and liquidity management is also redu-
cing liquidity risk.
 In 2006 Treasury agreed some EUR 170 million new long-term loans and 
the maturities of some existing loans were lengthened. The main funding 

programs and standby credit facilities include the Finnish Commercial Paper 
Program totaling EUR 650 million, the Euro-Commercial Paper Program total-
ing USD 250 million and the committed Revolving Credit Facility of EUR 1000 
million. On December 31, 2006, Outokumpu had committed and available 
credit facilities and other agreed and undrawn loans totaling EUR 846 mil-
lion.

Insurances
Outokumpu’s business is capital intensive and key production processes are 
rather tightly integrated and have other interdependences as well. Property 
damage and business interruption is the most important insurance line and 
substantial part of the insurance premiums paid relates to these types of 
risks. Other signifi cant insurance lines include credit and liability.
 Outokumpu’s own insurance company, Visenta Försäkrings AB, can act 
as direct insurer or as reinsurer. The company is registered in Sweden and 
it has assets worth over EUR 40 million. The company issues insurance poli-
cies for business units e.g. to cover the differences between internal and 
external deductibles.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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20. Fair values of derivative instruments

Net investment hedges on Dec. 31, 2006

      Cumulative translation
     Fair value, difference in equity
Currency   Nominal value  € million 2006, € million
GBP million    7 (0) 0
SEK million    917 (2) 2

Net investment hedges on Dec. 31, 2005

      Cumulative translation
     Fair value, difference in equity
Currency   Nominal value € million 2005, € million
GBP million    21 0 0
SEK million    371 0 3

Net investment in foreign subsidiaries is hedged with currency forwards. The portion of gains and losses on effective hedges, net of tax is recognized in 
equity. The ineffective portion is recognized in income.

21. Inventories

€ million    2006 2005
Raw materials and consumables     410 244
Work in progress     698 472
Finished goods and merchandise     600 461
Advance payments    2 9
      1 710 1 186

At the end of 2006, EUR 3 million (Dec. 31, 2005: EUR 27 million) was recognized as expense, with which the carrying value of the inventories was written 
down to refl ect its net realizable value.

Electricity purchase hedges on Dec. 31, 2006

      In fair value 
    Nominal amounts,   reserve in
€ million   TWh Fair value equity
2007    0.4 0 0
2008    0.2 1 1

€ million     
Fair value changes     2 
Deferred tax liability    0 
Fair value reserve in equity on Dec. 31, 2006    2 

Electricity purchase hedges on Dec. 31, 2005

      In fair value
    Nominal amounts,  reserve in
€ million   TWh Fair value equity
2006    0.3 3 2
2007    0.3 1 1
2008    0.1 1 1

€ million     
Fair value changes      5 
Deferred tax liability    (1) 
Fair value reserve in equity on Dec. 31, 2005    4 

Forecast purchases of electricity for the Finnish production facilities are 
hedged with electricity forwards. The portion of unrealized gains and loss-
es on effective hedges, net of tax is recognized in equity. Other fair value 
changes are recognized in income. The portion of realized gains and losses 

on effective hedges is recognized in income as adjustment to purchases in 
the period when the hedged cash fl ow affects income. Other realized gains 
and losses are recognized in other operating income and expenses.
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22. Trade and other receivables

€ million    2006 2005
Non-current   
Interest-bearing     
 Loans receivable     130 152
 Financial assets at fair value through profi t and loss    3 4
      133 156

Non interest-bearing        
 Trade receivables     0 0
 Defi ned benefi t pension assets     32 14
 Other receivables    0 1
      32 15

€ million    2006 2005
Current      
Interest-bearing       
 Loans receivable     13 8
 Prepaid interest expenses     0 0
 Accrued interest income    1 1
      14 8

Non interest-bearing       
 Trade receivables     1 209 707
 Income tax receivable     2 9
 Prepaid insurance expenses     5 7
 VAT receivable     81 61
 Grants and subsidies receivable     1 14
 Other accruals     8 33
 Other receivables    7 11
      1 314 841

Doubtful receivables deducted from trade receivables     
 Doubtful trade receivables on Jan. 1     9 14
 Additions     0 2
 Deductions     (1) (3)
 Recovery of doubtful receivables     (1) 0
 Discontinued operations    (1) (4)
 Doubtful trade receivables on Dec. 31    6 9

23. Cash and cash equivalents

€ million    2006 2005
Cash at bank and in hand     65 138
Short term bank deposits     0 30
Cash equivalent marketable securities    19 44
      85 212

Fair value of cash and cash equivalents does not signifi cantly differ from the carrying value. The effective interest rate of cash equivalent marketable securi-
ties in 2006 is 3.49% and the average maturity 1 day. Fixed income funds are included in the cash equivalent marketable securities.

partial capitalization of interest and level of market interest rates have been 
considered. Also the scenario of premature repayment according to agreed 
terms and conditions has been taken into account in the valuation.

Fair value of interest-bearing loan receivables is estimated to be some EUR 
19 million below the recognized value. Substantial part of the difference 
between fair value and book value relate to one loan receivable. In determ-
ing the fair value of the receivable, the priority position vs. other fi nancing, 
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24. Equity

Share capital and premium fund

      Number  Unregistered  
      of shares, Share share Premium 
€ million     1 000 capital capital fund Total

On Jan. 1, 2005     180 752 308 - 700 1 008
Treasury shares to management remuneration schemes    280 - - 1 1
On Dec. 31, 2005     181 032 308 - 701 1 009
Shares subscribed with 2003A option rights     33 - 0 0 0
On Dec. 31, 2006     181 065 308 0 701 1 009
Unregistered shares     (33)
Treasury shares     219   
Total number of shares on Dec. 31, 2006     181 251   

According to the Articles of Association, the maximum number of Outokumpu Oyj shares is 706 million. Account equivalent value of a share is EUR 1.70, and 
the maximum share capital is EUR 1.2 billion.

Fair value reserves

€ million    2006 2005
Available-for-sale fi nancial assets reserve    143 19
Cash fl ow hedge reserve    1 4
      144 23

Fair value reserves include movements in the fair values of available-for-sale fi nancial assets and derivative instruments used for cash fl ow hedging.

Other reserves

€ million    2006 2005
Reserve fund     10 10
Other reserves    1 1
      11 11

Reserve fund includes amounts transferred from the distributable equity under the Articles of Association or by a decision by General Meeting of 
Shareholders. Other reserves include other items based on the local regulations of the group companies.

Distributable funds

On December 31, 2006 the distributable funds of the parent company totaled EUR 731 million.
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25. Employee benefit obligations

Outokumpu has established several defi ned benefi t and defi ned contribution 
pension plans in various countries.
 ITP-pension plans operated by Alecta in Sweden and plans operated 
by Stichting Bedrijfspensioenfonds voor de metaalindustrie in the Nether-
lands are multi-employer defi ned benefi t pension plans. It has, however, not 
been possible to get suffi cient information for the calculation of obligations 

and assets by employer from the plan operators, and therefore these plans 
have been accounted for as defi ned contribution plans in the fi nancial state-
ments.
 Other post-employment benefi ts relate to retirement medical arrange-
ments in the US.

Pension and other post-employment benefi ts

Amounts recognized in the income statement

€ million    2006 2005
Defi ned benefi t pension expenses     (11) 8
Defi ned contribution pension expenses     (47) (33)
Other post-employment benefi ts    (3) (3)
Total continuing operations     (61) (28)

Defi ned benefi t pension expenses     - (0)
Defi ned contribution pension expenses     - (7)
Other post-employment benefi ts    - (0)
Total discontinued operations     - (8)

By function
  Defi ned benefi t Other post-employment
  pension plans benefi ts

€ million  2006 2005 2006 2005
Cost of sales   (5) 10 (2) (2)
Selling and marketing expenses   (3) (1) (0) (0)
Administrative expenses   (3) (1) (0) (0)
Research and development expenses  (0) (0) - -
    (11) 8 (3) (3)

Pension cost in employee benefi t expenses
  Defi ned benefi t Other post-employment
  pension plans benefi ts

€ million  2006 2005 2006 2005
Current service cost   (12) (14) (1) (1)
Interest cost   (21) (21) (2) (2)
Expected return on plan assets   23 21 - -
Recognized net actuarial gains and losses  (2) 0 0 0
Employee contributions   2 3 - -
Past service cost   (0) (0) (0) (0)
Gains and losses on curtailments and settlements  (1) 20 - -
    (11) 8 (3) (3)

Actual return on plan assets   17 52 - -

 
Amounts recognized in the balance sheet

  Defi ned benefi t Other post-employment
  pension plans benefi ts

€ million  2006 2005 2006 2005
Present value of funded obligations   427 437 - -
Fair value of plan assets   (413) (375) - -
Present value of unfunded obligations   31 42 27 36
Unrecognized actuarial gains and losses   (45) (69) (7) (13)
Unrecognized past service cost   0 (1) 3 3
Net liability   0 34 22 26

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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25. Employee benefit obligations

Balance sheet reconciliation
  
  Defi ned benefi t Other post-employment
  pension plans benefi ts

€ million  2006 2005 2006 2005
Net liability on Jan. 1   34 96 26 39
Net periodic pension cost in income statement  11 (8) 3 3
Contributions paid into the plans   (29) (18) (1) (2)
Translation differences   (1) 1 (3) 3
Discontinued operations  (15) ( 37) (3) (17)
Net liability on Dec. 31   0 34 22 26

€ million    2006 2005
Defi ned benefi t pension and other post-employment     
benefi t obligations     54 74
Defi ned benefi t pension assets    (32) (14)
Net liability     22 61

Movement in plan assets

€ million    2006 2005
Fair value of plan assets on Jan. 1     375 304
Contributions paid into the plans     29 17
Benefi ts paid by the plans     (22) (21)
Expected return on plan assets     24 21
Actuarial gains and losses     4 35
Translation differences    4 8
Fair value of plan assets on Dec. 31     414 375
 
The expected contributions to be paid to the plans in 2007 are EUR 25 million.
 
 
Allocation of plan assets

     2006 2005
Equity securities     54% 53%
Debt securities     2% 2%
Real estate     0% 0%
Bonds     27% 27%
Other (insured plans)    16% 18%
      100% 100%

Principal actuarial assumptions

     2006 2005
Discount rate     4.00–5.50% 4.00–5.50%
Expected return on plan assets     4.50–6.50% 4.50–6.90%
Future salary increase expectation     2.50–3.30% 2.50–5.00%
Future benefi t increase expectation     2.00–3.00% 1.50–2.70%
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26. Provisions

    Restructuring Environmental Other
€ million   provisions provisions provisions
Provisions on Jan. 1, 2006    85 32 17
Translation differences    2 0 0
Increases in provisions    13 1 2
Utilized during the fi nancial year    (51) (1) (1)
Unused amounts reversed    (2) (3) (1)
Other changes    0 0 0
Discontinued operations   - - (6)
Provisions on Dec. 31, 2006    45 29 11

Provisions on Jan. 1, 2005    19 31 16
Translation differences    0 1 0
Increases in provisions    79 5 6
Utilized during the fi nancial year    ( 7) (4) (5)
Unused amounts reversed    0 0 0
Other changes    0 - 0
Discontinued operations   ( 6) 0 0
Provisions on Dec. 31, 2005    85 32 17

€ million    2006 2005
Non-current provisions     55 55
Current provisions    30 78
      85 133

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Provisions are based on best estimates on the balance sheet date. The in-
crease in restructuring provisions in 2006 relates mainly to the planned clo-
sure of the OSTP’s (Outokumpu Stainless Tubular Products) unit in Fagersta, 
Sweden. The utilization of restructuring provisions in 2006 relates to the 
closure of Coil Products Sheffi eld in Britain and to the costs from the fi xed 
cost reduction program. Majority of environmental provisions are for closing 

costs of landfi ll areas and removal of problem waste in facilities in Finland 
and in Britain. Other provisions comprise mainly provisions for reclamation 
of old mine sites, litigations as well as onerous contracts and claims. The 
outfl ow of economic benefi ts related to long-term provisions is expected to 
take place mainly within 2 to 3 years.

27. Interest-bearing liabilities

€ million    2006 2005
Non-current      
 Bonds and debentures     164 310
 Loans from fi nancial institutions     900 1 089
 Pension loans     160 147
 Finance lease liabilities     58 64
 Other long-term loans    5 9
      1 287 1 618

Current
 Bonds and debentures     147 -
 Loans from fi nancial institutions     93 121
 Pension loans     25 23
 Finance lease liabilities     5 5
 Other current loans    361 352
      632 501

Finance lease liabilities 

Minimum lease payments

€ million    2006 2005
Not later than 1 year     9 9
1 – 2 years     9 9
2 – 3 years     6 9
3 – 4 years     6 5
4 – 5 years     5 5
Later than 5 years     43 46
Future fi nance charges    (15) (13)
Present value of minimum lease payments    63 69
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27. Interest-bearing liabilities

Present value of minimum lease payments

€ million    2006 2005
Not later than 1 year     7 7
1 – 2 years     7 7
2 – 3 years     4 6
3 – 4 years     4 4
4 – 5 years     4 4
Later than 5 years    38 42
Present value of minimum lease payments    63 69

Repayment schedule of long-term debt on Dec. 31, 2006

€ million   2007 1) 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012– Total
Bonds and debentures  EUR 125 89 - - 75 - 289
   SEK 22 - - - - - 22
Loans from fi nancial institutions  EUR 39 58 105 74 42 139 456
   USD 8 29 - - - 26 63
   CAD - - 20 - - - 20
   SEK 11 11 11 166 61 160 419
Pension loans  EUR 25 30 29 29 27 46 185
Finance lease liabilities   EUR 2 4 4 4 4 39 56
   USD 3 3 - - - - 6
   SEK 0 0 0 0 0 1 2
Other long-term loans  EUR 3 3 2 - - - 7
   SEK - 1 - - - - 1
    238 227 169 272 208 411 1 525

1) Repayments of long-term debt in 2007 are included in current debt.

Average maturity of long-term debt is 4 years and the average interest rate is 4.21%.

Bonds and debentures

€ million Interest rate, %  In currency  2006  2005
Fixed interest rate         
 Bonds and debentures         
 2002–2007   7.05  SEK 200 million  22  21
 2002–2008   6.90 EUR 89 million  89  89
 2004–2011   5.00  EUR 75 million  75  75
        186  185
Floating interest rate          
 Bonds and debentures         
 2004–2007   4.19  EUR 125 million  125  125
        311  310

Carrying and fair values of borrowings

    2006 2005
€ million   Carrying value  Fair value  Carrying value  Fair value
Long-term debt   1 287  1 295  1 618  1 642
Current debt   632  632  501  501

The fair value of interest-bearing debt is higher compared to the carrying value mainly due to the valuation of fi xed rate bonds, bank and pension loans with 
the current market interest rates that are lower than the nominal interest rates of these loans.
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28. Trade and other payables

€ million       2006  2005
Non-current         
Non interest-bearing         
 Trade payables       0  -
 Other long-term liabilities       2  3
        2  3

Current         
Interest-bearing         
 Accrued interest expenses       27  32

Non interest-bearing         
 Trade payables       612  406
 Advances received       2  108
 Accrued employee-related expenses       80  91
 VAT payable       18  9
 Withholding tax and social security liabilities      15  12
 Other accruals       75  80
 Other payables       12  33
        814  739

29. Commitments and contingent liabilities

  Group Parent company

€ million  2006 2005 2006 2005
Mortgages and pledges on Dec. 31      
 Mortgages on land    126 94 - 0
 Other pledges    0 8 - -

Guarantees on Dec. 31      
On behalf of subsidiaries      
 For fi nancing   - - 24 27
 For commercial  and other guarantees  95 22 84 4
On behalf of associated companies      
 For fi nancing   5 4 5 4
On behalf of discontinued operations     
 For fi nancing   - - 5 27
 For commercial guarantees   2 55 - 170

Other commitments   59 65 59 65

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

The Group has pledged real estate mortgages created in the Tornio produc-
tion plant for a value of EUR 124 million as security for its pension loans 
(EUR 185 million). 
 Commercial and other guarantees include a guarantee exposure of 
EUR 39 million related to a defi cit recovery plan engagement in favour of 
Outokumpu’s British subsidiary’s pension trust.
 Outokumpu Oyj has, through parent company guarantees and counter 
guarantees, an indirect guarantee obligation related to guarantees issued on 
behalf of Outokumpu Technology companies prior to the sale of the shares of 

Outokumpu Technology. This indirect guarantee obligation amounted to EUR 
2 million on December 31, 2006.
 Outokumpu Oyj is, in relation to its shareholding in Kymppivoima Tuo-
tanto Oy and Etelä-Pohjanmaan Voima Oy, liable for the costs, commitments 
and liabilities relating to electricity provided by Rapid Power Oy. The net 
debt of Rapid Power Oy at the year end amounted to approximately EUR 
178 million, out of which Outokumpu is liable for one third. This liability is 
reported under other commitments.
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29. Commitments and contingent liabilities

Present value of minimum lease payments on operating leases

€ million    2006 2005
Not later than 1 year     19 26
1 – 2 years     16 22
2 – 3 years     10 14
3 – 4 years     8 11
4 – 5 years     6 10
Later than 5 years    34 36
Present value of minimum lease payments    93 120

In March 2001, the European Commission initiated an investigation concern-
ing alleged participation by Outokumpu Oyj and Outokumpu Copper Products 
Oy in a price and market-sharing cartel with respect to copper tubes in the 
European Union. Outokumpu has cooperated fully with the European Com-
mission in connection with the investigation. The investigation involving 
Outokumpu was subsequently divided into two separate proceedings: inves-
tigation into alleged price fi xing and market sharing in the industrial copper 
tubes sector and investigation into alleged price fi xing and market sharing in 
the sanitary copper tube sector.
 Pursuant to its investigations the European Commission has in its de-
cision dated December 16, 2003, found Outokumpu Oyj and Outokumpu 
Copper Products Oy having infringed the applicable EU competition laws by 
participating in agreements and concerted practices consisting of price fi x-
ing and market sharing in the industrial copper tubes sector during a period 
between May 3, 1988 and March 22, 2001. As a result, the European Com-
mission imposed an aggregate fi ne of EUR 18 million on Outokumpu Oyj and 
Outokumpu Copper Products Oy. The fi ne has been recognized in the income 
statement in 2003. Outokumpu has lodged an appeal in this matter that is 
currently pending.
 Furthermore, pursuant to its investigations the European Commission 
has in its decision dated 3 September 2004 found Outokumpu Oyj and Outo-
kumpu Copper Products Oy having infringed applicable EU competition laws 
for participation in agreements and concerted practices consisting of price 
fi xing and market sharing in the sanitary copper tube sector during a pe-
riod between June 1988 and March 2001 and imposed an aggregate fi ne of 
EUR 36 million on Outokumpu Oyj and Outokumpu Copper Products Oy. The 
fi ne has been recognized in the income statement in 2003. Outokumpu has 
lodged an appeal in this matter that is currently pending.
 Related to the above investigations of the European Commission, Outo-
kumpu Oyj, Outokumpu Copper Products Oy and Outokumpu Copper (USA), 
Inc. have been served and are defendants in consolidated cases fi led in the 

federal district court in Memphis, Tennessee, (USA) which alleges claims 
and damages under the US antitrust laws and purports to be a class action 
on behalf of all direct purchasers of copper plumbing tubes in the US from 
1988 to March 31, 2001. In addition, there are purported class actions pend-
ing against these same Outokumpu companies in the state courts of Califor-
nia, Tennessee and Massachusetts, on behalf of so-called indirect purchas-
ers of copper plumbing tube. Outokumpu believes that the allegations in all 
these proceedings lack merit and will vigorously defend itself.  In connection 
with the sale of the fabricated copper products business to Nordic Capital, 
Outokumpu has agreed to indemnify and hold harmless Nordic Capital with 
respect to these class actions.
 Carrier Corporation fi led a lawsuit against Outokumpu Oyj and Outo-
kumpu Copper Franklin, Inc., among others, in April 2006. The complaint al-
leges a worldwide price fi xing and market allocation cartel with respect to 
copper tubing for air conditioning and related applications (ACR Tube) for at 
least the period from 1989 to 2001. The complaint requests damages due to 
alleged overcharges (but does not specify a particular amount of damages). 
There have also been three class action cases fi led in federal district court 
(Memphis) alleging a price fi xing cartel in ACR Tube. These cases have been 
fi led on behalf of an alleged class of all direct purchasers of ACR Tube in 
the United States, and the complaint names Outokumpu Oyj, together with 
other European and American companies that were the subject of the Euro-
pean Commission’s industrial tubes cartel proceeding. Outokumpu believes 
that the allegations in all these proceedings lack merit and will vigorously 
defend itself.  In connection with the sale of the fabricated copper products 
business to Nordic Capital, Outokumpu has agreed to indemnify and hold 
harmless Nordic Capital with respect to these proceedings.
 In addition to the litigations described above, some Group companies 
are involved in disputes incidental to their business. Management believes 
that the outcome of such disputes will not have a material effect on the 
Group’s fi nancial position.

Outokumpu Oyj sold to the Mutual Pension Insurance Company Varma-Sampo
part of its real estate located in Espoo, Finland in 2002. Outokumpu Oyj sold 
fi ve offi ce buildings and parcels of totaling approximately three hectares. In 
connection with the sale, Outokumpu Oyj concluded operating lease agree-
ments with Varma-Sampo for 10 –15 years. 

The Group has entered into long-term (15 years) supply agreements of indus-
trial gases for the production facilities in Tornio, Avesta and Sheffi eld. These 
agreements do not qualify as fi nance lease agreements.

Major off-balance sheet investment commitments on Dec. 31

€ million    2006 2005
Tornio Works     9 31
Kloster     6 21

30. Disputes and litigations
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

31. Related party transactions

Transactions and balances with associated companies

€ million    2006 2005
Sales     0 6
Purchases      (9) (12)
Dividends received     1 1
Interest income     0 0

Long-term receivables      
 Loans receivable     0 0
 Subordinated loans receivable     0 2

Current receivables      
 Loans receivable     9 6
 Trade receivables     0 0
 Other receivables     - 0

Current liabilities      
 Trade payables     1 1
 Other current liabilities     - 0

Loans receivable from associated companies 1)    
Loans receivable on Jan. 1     8 7
Withdrawals     3 1
Repayments     - -
Other movement 2)    (2) -
Loans receivable on Dec. 31     9 8

1) Loans to associated companies include both current and non-current receivables.
2) Outokumpu’s ownership in Okmetic decreased to 16% in 2006.

The interest rates of loans granted to associated companies are based on market rates. EUR 9 million of the loans is expected to mature by the end of 2007.

Employee benefi ts for key management

€ million    2006 2005
Short-term employee benefi ts     3 3
Termination benefi ts     - 4
Post-employment benefi ts     3 3
Other long-term benefi ts     - -
Share-based payments    1 1
      7 11

Key management consists of the members of the Board of Directors, CEO and other members of the Group Executive Committee. There were no outstanding loans 
receivable from key management on Dec. 31, 2006 (Dec. 31, 2005: EUR - million).

32. Events after the balance sheet date
Outokumpu management does not have knowledge of any signifi cant events after the balance sheet date, which would have had an impact on the fi nancial 
statements.
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General Stainless
Handelmij Roestvrij B.V. The Netherlands 100
Outokumpu AS Norway 100
Outokumpu A/S Denmark 100
Outokumpu Asia Pacifi c Ltd China 100
Outokumpu Baltic Oü Estonia 100
Outokumpu Benelux B.V. The Netherlands 100
Outokumpu Chrome Oy Finland 100
Outokumpu Distribution Oy Finland 100
Outokumpu Gebouwen B.V.1) The Netherlands 100
Outokumpu Ges.m.b.H  Austria 100
Outokumpu GmbH Germany 100
Outokumpu India Private Limited 2) India 100
Outokumpu Kft Hungary 100
Outokumpu K.K. Japan 100
Outokumpu, Lda.*) Portugal 100
Outokumpu Ltd Ireland 100
Outokumpu Nordic AB Sweden 100
Outokumpu N.V. Belgium 100
Outokumpu Pty Ltd Australia 100
Outokumpu (Pty) Ltd South Africa 100
Outokumpu Rossija Oy*) Finland 100
Outokumpu S A France 100
Outokumpu S.A. Spain 100
Outokumpu (S.E.A.) Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100
Outokumpu Shipping Oy 1) Finland 100
Outokumpu S.p.A. Italy 100
Outokumpu Sp. z o.o. Poland 100
Outokumpu s.r.o. Czech Republic 100
Outokumpu Stainless B.V. The Netherlands 100
Outokumpu Stainless Coil, Inc. The United States 100
Outokumpu Stainless Holding GmbH Germany 100
Outokumpu Stainless Ltd Britain 100
Outokumpu Stainless Oy Finland 100
Outokumpu UAB Lithuania 100
ZAO Outokumpu Russia 100

Specialty Stainless 
AvestaPolarit ABE, S.A. de C.V. Mexico 88
E.L.F.E. SA Etires Lamines Forges Estampes France 88
Hertecant N.V. Belgium 88
Outokumpu Prefab AB Sweden 100
Outokumpu Press Plate AB Sweden 100
Outokumpu PSC Benelux B.V. The Netherlands 100
Outokumpu PSC Germany GmbH Germany 100
Outokumpu Stainless AB Sweden 100
Outokumpu Stainless Bar, Inc. The United States 100
Outokumpu Stainless Pipe, Inc. The United States 100
Outokumpu Stainless Plate, Inc. The United States 100
Outokumpu Stainless Trading (Shanghai) Co Ltd 2) China 100
AS Outokumpu Stainless Tubular Products Estonia 88
Outokumpu Stainless Tubular Products AB Sweden 88
Outokumpu Stainless Tubular Products Ltd. Canada 88
Outokumpu Stainless Tubular Products Oy Ab Finland 88
Outokumpu Stainless Tubular Products S.A.S.1) France 88
Polarit Welding, Inc. The United States 100
SH-Trade Oy Finland 88
AB Örnsköldsviks Mekaniska Verkstad Sweden 88

1) Name change
2) Founded 
*) Shares and stock held by the parent company

33. Subsidiaries on Dec. 31, 2006

  Country Group 
   holding,
   %

  Country Group 
   holding,
   %

Other operations
2843617 Canada Inc. Canada 100
AvestaPolarit Pension Trustees Ltd Britain 100
Granefors Bruk AB*) Sweden 100
Kopparlunden AB Sweden 100
Norsulfi d A/S*) Norway 100
Orijärvi Oy*) Finland 100
Outokumpu Alueverkko Oy*) Finland 100
Outokumpu Engineering Enterprises, Inc.*) The United States 100
Outokumpu Exploration Ventures Pty. Ltd. Australia 100
Outokumpu France S.A.*) France 100
Outokumpu Istanbul Dis Ticaret Limited Sirketi*) Turkey 100
Outokumpu Metals Off-Take Oy*) Finland 100
Outokumpu Minera Española S.A. Spain 100
Outokumpu Mines Inc.*) Canada 100
Outokumpu Mining Austalia Pty. Ltd. Australia 100
Outokumpu Mining Oy Finland 100
Outokumpu Nickel Resources B.V. The Netherlands 100
Outokumpu Rawmet, S.A. Spain 100
Outokumpu Stainless Holdings Ltd Britain 100
Outokumpu Stainless, Inc. The United States 100
Outokumpu Stainless Steel Oy*) Finland 100
Outokumpu Zinc Australia Pty. Ltd. Australia 100
Outokumpu Zinc B.V.*) The Netherlands 100
Pancarelian Ltd.*) Bermuda 100
Princeton Gamma-Tech, Inc. The United States 82
Viscaria AB*) Sweden 100
Visent Invest AB Sweden 100
Visenta Försäkrings AB Sweden 100

Discontinued operations
Boliden Cuivre & Zinc España S.A. Spain 100
Outokumpu Copper BCZ (France) Eurl  France 100
Outokumpu Copper BCZ GmbH Germany 100
Outokumpu Copper BCZ (Polska) Sp. z o.o. Poland 100
Outokumpu Copper BCZ SA Belgium 100
Outokumpu Copper Brass SA France 100
Outokumpu Copper CDC SA  Belgium 100
Outokumpu Copper Fabrication AB *) Sweden 100
Outokumpu Copper Gusum AB Sweden 100
Outokumpu Copper HME B.V. The Netherlands 100
Outokumpu Copper LDM B.V. The Netherlands 100
Outokumpu Copper Nonferro Metal GmbH Germany 100
Outokumpu Copper Products AB Sweden 100
Outokumpu Copper Tube Hungary Kereskedelmi Kft. Hungary 100
Outokumpu Copper Tubes, S.A.*) Spain 100
Outokumpu Holding UK Limited Britain 100
Outokumpu Pori Tube Oy Finland 100
Outokumpu Tube Italy S.r.l. Italy 100

Foreign branches 
Outokumpu Asia Pacifi c Ltd., branch offi ce in Republic of Korea
Outokumpu Asia Pacifi c Ltd., agencies in China and Taiwan
Outokumpu Baltic Oü, branch offi ce in Latvia
Outokumpu Mining Oy, branch offi ce in Spain
Outokumpu (S.E.A.) Pte. Ltd., agency in Vietnam

This list does not include all dormant companies or all holding companies. 
However, all companies owned directly by the parent company are inclu-
ded. The Group holding corresponds to the Group’s share of voting rights. 
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KEY FINANCIAL FIGURES

Key financial figures of the Group

      FAS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS
      2002 1) 2003 1)  2004 2005 2006
Scope of activity         
Sales    € million 5 558 5 922 5 122 5 016 6 154
- change in sales    % 4.4 6.6 n/a (2.1) 22.7
- exports from and sales outside Finland, of total sales   % 92.4 93.4 94.0 94.2 94.4

Capital employed on Dec. 31    € million 4 331 4 108 4 941 3 599 4 371
Operating capital on Dec. 31    € million 4 569 4 287 5 151 3 756 4 553

Capital expenditure    € million 2 042 622 414 164 187
- in relation to sales    % 36.7 10.5 8.1 3.3 3.0

Depreciation and amortization     € million 264 304 191 207 221
       
Research and development costs    € million 47 48 31 22 17
- in relation to sales    % 0.8 0.8 0.6 0.4 0.3

Personnel on Dec. 31     21 130 19 359 11 514 8 963 8 159
- average for the year     20 196 21 442 11 787 9 579 8 505

Profi tability         

Operating profi t    € million 267 214 436 57 824
- in relation to sales    % 4.8 3.6 8.5 1.1 13.4

Share of results of associated companies    € million (7) (15) 78 1 8
       
Profi t/loss before taxes    € million 213 108 440 (8) 784
- in relation to sales    % 3.8 1.8 8.6 (0.2) 12.7

Net profi t/(loss) for the period from continuing operations 1)   € million - - 379 (24) 606
Net profi t/(loss) for the period from discontinued operations 1)  € million - - 7 (339) 357
Net profi t/(loss) for the fi nancial year    € million 159 112 386 (363) 963
- in relation to sales    % 2.9 1.9 7.5 (7.2) 15.7

Return on equity    % 8.0 5.4 16.8 (15.9) 37.5
Return on capital employed    % 7.0 5.0 9.6 1.3 20.7
Return on operating capital    % 6.6 4.8 9.2 1.3 19.8

Financing and fi nancial position         

Liabilities    € million 4 381 4 314 4 571 3 355 3 270

Net interest-bearing debt    € million 2 385 2 025 2 435 1 537 1 300
- in relation to sales    % 42.9 34.2 47.5 30.6 21.1

Net fi nancial expenses    € million 46 91 75 67 48
- in relation to sales    % 0.8 1.5 1.5 1.3 0.8

Net interest expenses    € million 75 98 66 65 62
- in relation to sales    % 1.4 1.7 1.3 1.3 1.0

Interest cover     3.8 2.1 7.6 0.9 13.6

Share capital 2)    € million 294 304 308 308 308
Other equity    € million 1 652 1 779 2 198 1 754 2 763

Equity-to-assets ratio    % 31.1 33.0 35.8 38.2 47.9
Debt-to-equity ratio    % 122.6 97.2 97.2 74.5 42.3

Net cash generated from operating activities    € million 334 194 (128) 459 (35)

Dividends    € million 69 36 91 81 199 3)

1) Figures for 2002 and 2003 have not been divided into continuing and discontinued operations. 
2) Figures for 2002 and 2003 include unregistered share capital. 
3) The Board of Directors’ proposal to the Annual General Meeting.
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Income statement by quarter

€ million I/05 II/05 III/05 IV/05 2005 I/06 II/06 III/06 IV/06 2006
Continuing operations         
Sales         
General Stainless 1 286 1 158 813 816 4 073 1 013 1 066 1 130 1 561 4 770
Specialty Stainless 785 819 584 552 2 739 650 638 614 821 2 723
Other operations 55 71 70 76 272 87 93 96 85 361
Intra-group sales (732) (605) (404) (328) (2 068) (342) (405) (394) (560) (1 700)
The Group 1 394 1 442 1 063 1 117 5 016 1 408 1 392 1 447 1 907 6 154
          
Operating profi t         
General Stainless 71 93 (55) (170) (62) 43 91 166 236 536
Specialty Stainless 55 65 14 (23) 110 22 65 81 171 338
Other operations 9 ( 3) 10 (8) 8 2 (8) (13) (16) (35)
Intra-group items (6) 3 5 (1) 1 ( 0) 1 (3) (13) (15)
The Group 129 157 (26) (202) 57 67 149 231 378 824
         
Share of results of associated 
companies (1) 2 (0) 0 1 0 2 1 4 8
Financial income and expenses (13) (22) (19) (13) (67) (7) (10) (18) (13) (48)
Profi t/(loss) before taxes 115 137 (45) (215) (8) 60 141 214 369 784
Income taxes (19) (37) 10 31 (16) (18) (29) (48) (83) (178)
Net profi t/(loss) for the period         
from continuing operations 96 99 (36) (184) (24) 41 112 166 286 606

Net profi t/(loss) for the period         
from discontinued operations  (340) (3) (0) 4 (339) 15 20 6 317 357
Net profi t/(loss) for the period (244) 97 (36) (180) (363) 56 133 172 603 963

Attributable to         
Equity holders of the Company (245) 96 (36) (179) (364) 56 132 171 603 962
Minority interest  1 1 0  (1) 1 ( 0) 0 1 1 2

Stainless steel deliveries by quarter
          
1 000 tons I/05 II/05 III/05 IV/05 2005 I/06 II/06 III/06 IV/06 2006
Cold rolled 233 226 195 212 867 286 239 200 211 963
White hot strip 135 126 61 68 391 104 103 80 103 390
Other 117 106 77 89 390 121 125 113 131 490
Total deliveries 485 459 333 370 1 647 510 467 393 445 1 815

Quarterly information
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   FAS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS
   2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Earnings per share € 1.15 0.65 2.12 (2.01) 5.31

Cash fl ow per share € 2.42 1.13 (0.71) 2.54 (0.19)
       
Equity per share € 11.14 11.54 13.65 11.31 16.87
 
Dividend per share € 0.40 0.20 0.50 0.45 1.10 1)

Dividend payout ratio % 43.5 32.1 23.6 neg. 20.7
Dividend yield % 4.8 1.9 3.8 3.6 3.7

Price/earnings ratio  7.2 16.7 6.2 neg. 5.6

Development of share price
 Average trading price € 10.28 8.75 12.52 11.89 19.77
 Lowest trading price € 8.14 6.87 9.93 9.63 12.60
 Highest trading price € 12.67 11.41 14.46 14.72 30.39
 Trading price at the end of the period € 8.30 10.77 13.15 12.55 29.66
 Change during the period % (22.6) 29.8 22.1 (4.6) 136.3

Change in the OMXH index during the period % (34.4) 4.4 3.3 31.1 17.9

Market capitalization at the end of the period 2) € million 1 420 1 911 2 377 2 272 5 369
       
Development in trading volume
 Trading volume 1 000 shares 58 198 75 574 123 832 179 289 319 345
 In relation to weighted       
 average number of shares % 42.3 44.0 68.8 99.0 176.4
        
Adjusted average number of shares 2)  137 658 458 171 623 035 180 056 920 181 031 415 181 033 168 3)

Number of shares at the end of the period 2)  171 110 613 177 450 725 180 752 022 181 031 952 181 031 952

1) The Board of Directors’ proposal to the Annual General Meeting. 
2) Excluding treasury shares. 
3) The average number of shares for 2006 diluted with the 2003A, 2003B and 2003C options was 181 758 268. These have a diluting effect of 0.02 euro on earnings per share in 2006.
 

Share-related key figures
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Definitions of key financial figures

Capital employed = Total equity + net interest-bearing debt

Operating capital = Capital employed + net tax liability

Research and development costs
 

=
 Research and development expenses in the income statement

   (including expenses covered by grants received)

Return on equity
 

=
 Net profi t for the fi nancial year          

× 100
   Total equity (average for the period)

Return on capital employed (ROCE)
 

=
 Operating profi t                                           

× 100
   Capital employed (average for the period)

Return on operating capital (ROOC)
 

=
 Operating profi t                                          

× 100
   Operating capital (average for the period)

Net interest-bearing debt = Total interest-bearing debt – total interest-bearing assets

Interest cover
 

=
 Profi t before taxes + net interest expenses

   Net interest expenses

Equity-to-assets ratio
 

=
 Total equity                                     

× 100
   Total assets – advances received

Debt-to-equity ratio
 

=
 Net interest-bearing debt 

× 100
   Total equity 

Earnings per share
 

=
 Net profi t for the fi nancial year attributable to the equity holders

   Adjusted average number of shares during the period

Cash fl ow per share
 

=
 Net cash generated from operating activities              

   Adjusted average number of shares during the period

Equity per share
 

=
 Equity attributable to the equity holders                   

   Adjusted number of shares at the end of the period

Dividend per share 
 

=
 Dividend for the fi nancial year                                   

   Adjusted number of shares at the end of the period

Dividend payout ratio 
 

=
 Dividend for the fi nancial year                                                         

× 100
   Net profi t for the fi nancial year attributable to the equity holders

Dividend yield 
 

=
 Dividend per share                                             

× 100
   Adjusted trading price at the end of the period

Price/earnings ratio (P/E)
  

=
 Adjusted trading price at the end of the period

   Earnings per share 

Average trading price
  

=
 EUR amount traded during the period                        

   Adjusted number of shares traded during the period

Market capitalization at end of the period  = Number of shares at the end of the period  ×  trading price at the end of the period

Trading volume 
 

=
 Number of shares traded during the period, and in relation to the weighted average 

   number of shares during the period
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PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

€ million    2006 2005

Sales    197 187

Cost of sales    (140) (146)

Gross margin    57 42

Administrative expenses    (56) (57)
Selling and marketing expenses    (33) (28)
Research and development expenses    (3) (6)
Other operating income    420 20
Other operating expenses    (120) (144)

Operating profi t    266 (173)

Financial income and expenses    (5) (30)

Profi t/(loss) before extraordinary items    261 (203)

Extraordinary items    284 41

Profi t/(loss) before appropriations and taxes    545 (162)

Appropriations     
 Change in depreciation difference    1 1

Income taxes    (51) 0

Profi t/(loss) for the fi nancial year    494 (161)

The parent company’s fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with Finnish accounting standards (FAS).

Income statement of the parent company
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€ million    2006 2005

ASSETS     

Non-current assets     

Intangible assets    31 44

Property, plant and equipment    19 19

Long-term fi nancial assets     
 Shares in Group companies    2 198 2 427
 Shares in associated companies    18 26
 Other shares and holdings    25 13
 Other long-term fi nancial assets    561 639
     2 802 3 104

Total non-current assets    2 853 3 167

Current assets     

Current receivables     
 Interest-bearing     1 846 1 688
 Non interest-bearing    386 91
     2 232 1 780

Cash and cash equivalents    15 53

Total current assets    2 247 1 833

TOTAL ASSETS    5 100 5 000

€ million    2006 2005

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     

Shareholders’ equity     
 Share capital    308 308
 Unregistered share capital    0 -
 Premium fund    708 708
 Retained earnings    237 480
 Profi t/(loss) for the fi nancial year    494 (161)
     1 747 1 334

Untaxed reserves     
Accumulated depreciation difference    1 2

Liabilities     

Non-current liabilities     
 Interest-bearing    1 444 1 725
 Non interest-bearing    2 1
     1 447 1 726

Current liabilities     
 Interest-bearing    1 757 1 789
 Non interest-bearing    148 148
     1 905 1 938

Total liabilities    3 352 3 664

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    5 100 5 000

Balance sheet of the parent company
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€ million    2006 2005

Cash fl ow from operating activities     

Profi t/(loss) for the fi nancial year    494 (161)
Adjustments for     
 Taxes    51 (0)
 Depreciation    9 10
 Impairments    104 -
 Profi t/(loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment    (0) 5
 Interest income    (102) (98)
 Dividend income    (5) (5)
 Interest expenses    122 114
 Change in provisions    (0) (1)
 Group contributions    (284) (41)
 Exchange gains and losses    10 13
 Gain of the sale of Outokumpu Technology shares    (410) -
 Loss on the sale of the fabricated copper products business    - 137
 Other adjustments    3 8
     (503) 142
Change in working capital      
 Change in trade and other receivables    (18) 23
 Change in trade and other payables    32 (20)
     15 3

 Dividend received    5 5
 Interest received    84 99
 Interest paid    (121) (108)
 Income tax paid    (14) (3)
     (46) (7)

Net cash from operating activities    (40) (23)

Cash fl ow from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries and other shares and holdings    (7) (182)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment    (2) (4)
Purchases of intangible assets    (7) (8)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries    534 502
Proceeds from sale of shares in associated companies    9 -
Proceeds from sale of other shares and holdings    0 3
Disposals of intangible assets    7 0
Disposals of property, plant and equipment    2 0
Change in loan receivables    80 (105)

Net cash from investing activities    616 207

Cash fl ow before fi nancing activities    576 183

Cash fl ow from fi nancing activities     
Borrowings of long-term debt    181 406
Repayments of long-term debt    (361) (418)
Change in current debt    (131) (137)
Dividends paid    (81) (91)
Cash fl ow from group contributions    (67) 205
Other fi nancing cash fl ow    (155) (191)

Net cash from fi nancing activities    (614) (226)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents    (38) (42)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet    (38) (42)

Cash flow statement of the parent company
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€ million    2006 2005
     
Share capital on Jan. 1     308 308
Share capital on Dec. 31    308 308
     
Unregistered share capital on Jan. 1    - -
Shares subscribed with options    0 -
Unregistered share capital on Dec. 31    0 -
     
Premium fund on Jan. 1     708 707
Gain on the sale of treasury shares    - 1
Shares subscribed with options    0 -
Premium fund on Dec. 31    708 708
     
Retained earnings on Jan. 1    480 581
Previous year’s loss    (161) (14)
Dividends paid    (81) (91)
Transfer of treasury shares    - 3
Retained earnings on Dec. 31    237 480
     
Profi t/(loss) for the fi nancial year    494 (161)
     
Total shareholders’ equity on Dec. 31    1 747 1 334

Distributable funds on Dec. 31

€ million    2006 2005
Retained earnings     237 480
Profi t/(loss) for the fi nancial year    494 (161)
Distributable funds on Dec. 31    731 318

Statement of changes in equity of the parent company
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ADDITIONAL INVESTOR INFORMATION

INVESTOR INFORMATION

Th e Annual General Meeting of Outokumpu 

Oyj will be held on Wednedsay, March 28, 

2007 at 13.00 am (Finnish time) at the Fin-

landia Hall, in Helsinki, Finland. In order to 

attend the Annual General Meeting a share-

holder must be registered in the Compa-

ny’s shareholders’ register maintained by the 

Finnish Central Securities Depository Ltd 

(Suomen Arvopaperikeskus Oy) on March 

16, 2007. Nominee-registered sharehold-

ers who wish to attend the Annual General 

Meeting should temporarily re-register the 

shares under their own name. Such re-reg-

istration must be made no later than March 

16, 2007. In order to arrange a temporary re-

registration, nominee registered shareholders 

should contact their bank or other custodian. 

Shareholders who wish to attend the Annual 

General Meeting must notify the Company 

by no later than March 21, 2007 at 4.00 pm 

(Finnish time). Notifi cation can be made by 

telephone +358 9 421 5519, by fax +358 9 

421 2223 or by e-mail agm@outokumpu.

com. Notifi cation can also be made by a 

letter addressed to Outokumpu Oyj, Share 

Register, P.O. Box 140, 02201 Espoo, Fin-

land. Th e letter must reach the Company 

on March 21, 2007 at the latest. 

A shareholder may attend and vote at the 

meeting in person or by proxy. However, 

in accordance with Finnish practice, Ou-

tokumpu does not send proxy forms to its 

shareholders. Shareholders wishing to vote 

by proxy should submit their own proxy 

forms to the Company during the registra-

tion period. 

Additional information on the Annual 

General Meeting is available at www.outo-

kumpu.com. 

Annual General Meeting and payment 

of dividends in 2007

Th e Board of Directors proposes to the An-

nual General Meeting that a dividend of 

EUR 1.10 per share be paid for the fi nan-

cial year 2006.

Financial reports in 2007

Investor information is available at the Group’s 

English language website www.outokumpu.

com. Th e website also covers annual reports, 

interim reports, as well as stock exchange and 

press releases, which are published in both 

Finnish and English. Alternatively fi nancial 

reports can be obtained from Outokumpu 

Oyj/Corporate Communications, Riihiton-

tuntie 7 B, P.O. Box 140, 02201 Espoo, 

Finland, tel. +358 9 421 2416, fax +358 9 

421 2429 and email corporate.comms@ou-

tokumpu.com. Subscriptions to the emailing 

list for press releases and the mailing list for 

printed annual reports can be made via the 

same e-mail address. 

Shareholder mailings are made on the 

basis of the contact information in the share-

holders’ register maintained by the Finn-

ish Central Securities Depository Ltd. A 

shareholder should inform his/her account 

operator, or in case of a nominee-registered 

shareholder the relevant bank or other custo-

dian, about changes in contact details.

Outokumpu share basics

Listing  Helsinki Stock Exchange

Trading symbol  OUT1V

Number of shares  181 283 878

Investor Relations

Th e main task of Outokumpu’s Investor Rela-

tions function is to support the correct valu-

ation of the Outokumpu share by providing 

information about the company’s activities, 

fi nancial position, goals and strategy, thus 

enabling the markets to form a true and fair 

view of Outokumpu as an investment pros-

pect. Our aim is to communicate in open, 

timely and clear manner and to treat all par-

ties equally.

Outokumpu observes a two-week closed 

period prior to the publication of fi nancial 

statements and interim reports. During these 

periods, we do not arrange meetings with 

investors or comment on result forecasts. 

Should you require further information about 

Outokumpu, please contact one of the fol-

lowing persons:

Päivi Laajaranta

IR Assistant

Tel. +358 9 421 4070, 

fax +358 9 421 2125

E-mail: paivi.laajaranta@outokumpu.com

Päivi Laajaranta coordinates meeting

requests. 

Ingela Ulfves

Vice President – Investor Relations

Tel. +358 9 421 2438, 

fax +358 9 421 2125

E-mail: ingela.ulfves@outokumpu.com

Kari Lassila

Senior Vice President – IR and Commu-

nications

Tel. +358 9 421 2555, 

fax +358 9 421 2125

E-mail: kari.lassila@outokumpu.com

Annual General Meeting March 28

Ex-dividend date  March 29

Record date for dividend 

payment  April 2

Dividend payout  April 11

Financial Statements Bulletin  
   February 1
Annual Report 
  Week starting March 12
First-quarter interim report
   April 24
Second-quarter interim report 
   July 24
Third-quarter interim report  
   October 23

http://www.outo-kumpu.com
http://www.outokumpu.com
http://www.outo-kumpu.com
http://www.outokumpu.com
mailto:comms@ou-tokumpu.com
mailto:corporate.comms@outokumpu.com
mailto:comms@ou-tokumpu.com
mailto:paivi.laajaranta@outokumpu.com
mailto:ingela.ulfves@outokumpu.com
mailto:kari.lassila@outokumpu.com
mailto:agm@outokumpu.com
mailto:agm@outokumpu.com
http://www.outokumpu.com


111OUTOKUMPU ANNUAL REPORT 2006

Bank/Broker Analyst Tel. E-mail

ABG Sundal Collier

Christer Fredriksson  +46 8 566 286 25 christer.fredriksson@abgsc.se

ABN Amro

Juha Iso-Herttua  +358 9 2283 2712 juha.iso-herttua@fi .abnamro.com 

Carnegie Investment Bank AB 

Johannes Grunselius  +46 8 676 8671 johannes.grunselius@carnegie.se 

Credit Suisse First Boston

Ephrem Ravi  +44 20 788 38517 ephrem.ravi@csfb.com

Deutsche Bank AG, Helsinki Branch

Timo Pirskanen  +358 9 2525 2553 timo.pirskanen@db.com 

eQ Bank

Erkki Vesola  +358 9 6817 8402 erkki.vesola@eQonline.fi 

Evli Bank Plc

Mika Karppinen  +358 9 4766 9643 mika.karppinen@evli.com

Exane BNP Paribas

Raoudha Bouzekri  +33 142 995 142 raoudha.bouzekri@exane.com 

FIM Securities Ltd.

Jarkko Soikkeli  +358 9 6134 6447 jarkko.soikkeli@fi m.com

Goldman Sachs International

Mikko Heiskanen  +44 20 7552 2998 mikko.heiskanen@gs.com 

Handelsbanken Capital Markets 

Olof Grenmark  +46 8 701 3424  olof.grenmark@handelsbanken.se

J.P. Morgan

Anindya Mohinta  +44 20 7325 6362 anindya.mohinta@jpmorgan.com 

Kaupthing Bank, Helsinki Branch

Johan Lindh  +358 9 4784 0268 johan.lindh@kaupthing.fi 

Mandatum Securities Ltd.

Mikael Doepel  +358 10 236 4760 mikael.doepel@mandatum.fi 

Merrill Lynch

Daniel Fairclough  +44 20 7996 2636 daniel_fairclough@ml.com 

Morgan Stanley

Johan Swahn  +44 20 7425 6602 johan.swahn@morganstanley.com

OKO Bank Plc

Sampo Brisk  +358 10 252 4504 sampo.brisk@okobank.com 

SEB Enskilda

Markus Steinby  +358 9 6162 8723 markus.steinby@enskilda.fi 

UBS Nordic Research 

Olof Cederholm  +46 8 453 7306 olof.cederholm@ubs.com 

ANALYSTS COVERING OUTOKUMPU

Th e following banks and brokers prepare investment analysis on Outokumpu. 

Th e persons mentioned below cover Outokumpu on their own initiative.

mailto:christer.fredriksson@abgsc.se
mailto:johannes.grunselius@carnegie.se
mailto:ephrem.ravi@csfb.com
mailto:timo.pirskanen@db.com
mailto:erkki.vesola@eQonline.fi
mailto:mika.karppinen@evli.com
mailto:raoudha.bouzekri@exane.com
mailto:mikko.heiskanen@gs.com
mailto:olof.grenmark@handelsbanken.se
mailto:anindya.mohinta@jpmorgan.com
mailto:johan.lindh@kaupthing.fi
mailto:mikael.doepel@mandatum.fi
mailto:daniel_fairclough@ml.com
mailto:johan.swahn@morganstanley.com
mailto:sampo.brisk@okobank.com
mailto:markus.steinby@enskilda.fi
mailto:olof.cederholm@ubs.com
mailto:juha.iso-herttua@fi.abnamro.com
mailto:jarkko.soikkeli@fim.com
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Photos: Outokumpu, Jaakko Vuorenmaa
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Image on page 23: Cimolai, Italy.



OUTOKUMPU IS an international stain-

less steel company. Our vision is to be 

the undisputed number one in stainless, 

with success based on operational ex-

cellence. Customers in a wide range 

of industries – from the process indus-

try and industrial machinery to building, 

construction and transportation, elec-

tronics and information technology, as 

well as catering and households – use 

our stainless steel and services world-

wide. We are dedicated to helping our 

customers gain competitive advantage. 

OUTOKUMPU OPERATES in some 30 

countries and employs more than 8 000 

people. In 2006, the Group´s sales were 

6.2 billion euro, of which some 95 per-

cent was generated outside Finland. The 

Group’s headquarters is located in Es-

poo, Finland. Outokumpu Oyj has been 

listed on the Helsinki Stock Exchange 

since 1988. 

www.outokumpu.com.

OUTOKUMPU IN BRIEF

GROUP KEY FIGURES

 

      2006 2005

Sales    € million 6 154  5 016

Operating profi t    € million  824   57

Non-recurring items in operating profi t   € million  1  (129)

Profi t before taxes    € million  784  (8)

Net profi t/(loss) for the period from
continuing operations    € million  606  (24)

Net profi t/(loss) for the period from
discontinued operations    € million  357  (339)

Net profi t/(loss) for the period    € million  963  (363)

Capital employed on Dec. 31    € million  4 371  3 599

Return on capital employed    % 20.7  1.3

 

Net cash generated from operating activities   € million  (35)  459

Capital expenditure    € million 187  164

Net interest-bearing debt on Dec. 31   € million  1 300  1 537

Equity-to-assets ratio    %  47.9  38.2

Debt-to-equity ratio    %  42.3  74.5

Earnings per share    €  5.31  (2.01)

Earnings per share from continuing operations  €  3.34  (0.14)

Earnings per share from discontinued operations  € 1.97  (1.87)

Equity per share    €  16.87  11.31

Dividend per share    €  1.101) 0.45

Share price on Dec. 31    €  29.66  12.55

Market capitalization on Dec. 31    € million  5 369  2 272

 

Stainless steel deliveries     1 000 tons  1 815  1 647

Stainless steel base price 2)     €/ton  1 470  1 174

Personnel on Dec. 31, continuing operations    8 159  8 963

1)  The Board of Directors’ proposal to the Annual General Meeting
2)  Stainless steel: CRU – German base price (2 mm cold rolled 304 sheet) 

SOLID EXPERIENCE IN METALS

Cover page: Engineers for a natural gas project in China are introduced to welded duplex 
stainless steel pipes at Outokumpu’s tube mill in Storfors, Sweden. Photo: Helena Dahlgren.

• Build-up of fabricated copper products

 operations through acquisitions

• Build-up of the Technology business 

• Exit from metals chemicals and nickel

• Start of exiting mining

• Establishing base for a focused 

 European stainless player 

Outokumpu’s decision to focus on stainless steel 

is based on two fundamental reasons. Firstly, the 

global consumption of stainless steel is growing 

faster than that of other metals, offering the best 

earnings potential for the company. Secondly, the 

state-of-the-art integrated stainless production 

 facility for volume products in Tornio, together with 

special grades producing facilities, form a solid 

base to take advantage of the market potential.

• Formation of AvestaPolarit

• Start of Tornio expansion

• Acquisition of full ownership in 

 AvestaPolarit 

• Acquisitions to strengthen Technology

• Formation of new Boliden

• New strategy based on leadership

 in stainless steel

•  Divestiture of the fabricated copper 

 products business

•  Expansion of Tornio Works completed

•  Performance improvement initiatives started

•  Sale of shares and listing of Outokumpu 

 Technology

Outokumpu’s path to stainless

INTERNATIONAL

    METALS & MINING

        HOUSE

TRANSITION FROM

      MULTI-METALS TO

         STAINLESS COMPANY

TOWARDS GLOBAL

      LEADERSHIP IN

                 STAINLESS

~1990–2000 2001–2004 2005–

2001–2004
~1990–2000

2005–

2006 IN BRIEF

Outokumpu Oyj

Corporate Management

Riihitontuntie 7 B, P.O. Box 140, 02201 ESPOO, Finland

Tel. +358 9 4211, Fax +358 9 421 3888

e-mail: corporate.comms@outokumpu.com

www.outokumpu.com

Domicile: Espoo, Finland

Business ID: 0215254-2

CONTACT DETAILS

mailto:corporate.comms@outokumpu.com
http://www.outokumpu.com
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Outokumpu is an international stainless steel company. Our vision is to be the 

undisputed number one in stainless, with success based on operational excellence.

Customers in a wide range of industries use our stainless steel and services world-

wide. We are dedicated to helping our customers gain competitive advantage.

www.outokumpu.com
Annual Report 2006
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